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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FIRERS

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the annual results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2019 on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors.

Technology innovation has caused tremendous changes in
many industries, especially, exerted a profound influence on the
financial sector, which not only effectively improved the efficiency
of financial services and optimized the service experience, but
also caused consumers to change their behaviour on financial
services. The Financial Stability Board, an international financial
supervisory authority, is of the opinion that FinTech represents
technology-driven financial innovation, and its aim is to use
modern technological achievements to transform or innovate
financial products, operation models and business processes so
as to promote financial development accompanied by improved
quality and efficiency.

In 2019, the People’s Bank of China officially released the FinTech
Development Plan (2019-2021). As the plan envisions, by 2021, a
sound fundamental framework supported with “multiple pillars”
will be built in China for FinTech development, so as to further
enhance technological application in the financial sector, achieve
in-depth integration and coordinated development of finance and
technology, elevate public satisfaction with digital, Internet-based
and intelligent financial products and services. Through above-
mentioned efforts, China aims to promote its FinTech development
at a world-leading level, secure progressive and controlled
application of FinTech, achieve steady enhancement of financial
service capacities, realize marked improvement of financial risk
control, ensure continuous enhancement of financial regulatory
efficiency, realize constant improvement of FinTech supporting,
and secure prosperous development of the FinTech industry.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FIRERS

Guided by the above-mentioned policies, Fintech will enter into a
new journey in PRC. In the process of reformation, the Group will
stick to its original aspiration and conduct business in a compliant
and orderly manner. In the meantime, it is expected that the
outbreak of the novel coronavirus epidemic at the beginning of
the year will adversely affect the entire market in the short term,
and also weaken consumption sentiment and significantly affect
the personal consumption credit market. However, we believe
that rebound of personal consumption demand and further
development of the consumption financial market will be seen
after the end of the epidemic. The Group will closely monitor
market volatility and adjust its business operation appropriately.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt
appreciation to you as our shareholders for your continuous
support, and to thank all our employees for their dedicated efforts
and invaluable contribution to the Group. The Group will devote
itself to identifying more sustainable growth space which is in line
with the industry development trend, and creating greater value
for the shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and stakeholders of
the Company.

Sun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

23 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B 5vam bz i
FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt 7% [B] B8
FINANCIAL RESULTS B EE

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to approximately HK$71,096,000
as compared with approximately HK$49,966,000 last year. The
revenue of the Group was derived from continuing operations,
being (i) financial technology services business, (ii) apartment
leasing business; (iii) lottery business; and (iv) sports training
business.

The Group’s discontinued operation, being its smart wearable
device business, had incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$1,769,000 for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: loss of approximately HK$2,969,000).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$5,680,000 as compared with a profit attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$16,197,000 last
year. The change from profit to loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the year was mainly attributable to the declined
performance of the Group’s financial technology services
business.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded total assets
of approximately HK$131,844,000 (2018: approximately
HK$107,654,000), total liabilities of approximately HK$81,509,000
(2018: approximately HK$45,987,000) and cash and bank balances
(excluding pledged bank deposit) of approximately HK$75,791,000
(2018: approximately HK$18,369,000).

As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 30% (2018: approximately 22%), based on the total
borrowings of approximately HK$15,286,000 (2018: approximately
HK$13,768,000) and the total equity of approximately
HK$50,335,000 (2018: approximately HK$61,667,000). The total
borrowings solely represent the Group’s convertible bonds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B2 59 5 52 73 i

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s total number of
issued ordinary shares (the "Shares") of HK$0.005 each was
4,671,035,048 (2018: 4,671,035,048). Details of the movement in
the Company's share capital during the year were set out in note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company currently has no share option scheme. Details of the
movement in the Company's convertible bonds during the year
were set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP'’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no asset that was pledged
(2018: Nil).

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET
PURCHASE

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$27,000 (2018:
approximately HK$10,390,000) for the purchase of property,
plant and equipment. Since the adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 16 on 1 January 2019, the Group has also
added HK$3,780,000 for the right of use of office buildings.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
22 November 2019 and note 37 to the financial statements,
the Company is committed to make a capital contribution of
RMB510,000 to a new joint venture company incorporated on 27
February 2020 for operating its smart retail business, which will
provide services including the omni-channel payment business
processing system, the member-precise marketing system as
well as the development of enterprise resource planning system
to online and offline chain enterprises and micro and small
merchants. The domestic smart retail market is a “Blue Ocean”
business emerged with the gradual improvement of mobile
internet and mobile payment, and the traditional retail brand
merchants will benefit from the comprehensive service system
which the Group provides in terms of the enhancement of the
back-end operational efficiency and front-end customer brand
loyalty.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at
31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E )2 59 i 52 53 i

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group's sales and purchases for the year were mostly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") and Renminbi (‘RMB”").

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by
the government of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The
exchange rates may also be affected by economic developments
and political changes domestically and internationally, and the
demand and supply of RMB. The appreciation or devaluation of
RMB against HK$ may have impact on the operation results of the
Group.

The Group monitors its foreign currency risks and will consider
hedging significant currency exposures should the need arises.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Financial Technology Services Business

In 2019, the cumulative loan facilitation volume under the
financial technology services business of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB922 million (2018: approximately RMB646
million), and generated a revenue of approximately HK$58,482,000
(2018: approximately HK$42,108,000).

Since late October 2019, after, among other factors, the
investigation conducted on the debt-collection agencies assigned
by 51 Credit Card Inc. ("51 Credit Card") (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2051), the Company's ultimate parent
company (please refer to the announcements of 51 Credit Card
dated 21 and 22 October 2019, respectively, for details), and a
series of regulatory documents and guidances issued by the PRC
government (including the Guidances on the Transformation of
Online Lending Information Intermediary Institutions into Pilot
Micro Credit Companies ( (BERBBEEREEPNEBBEHR 5/
BEZARHANIEEEZR) ) issued on 27 November 2019, etc.),
fluctuations occurred in the personal consumption credit market
due to rising risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B2 59 5 52 73 i

Affected by the factors above, the bad debt level of the Group's
financial technology services business had increased significantly
and meanwhile, the Group had significantly reduced the credit
facilitation volume since the fourth quarter of 2019 to avoid
potential risks. The Group's financial technology services business
recorded an operating profit of approximately HK$14,815,000
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: operating profit of
approximately HK$38,864,000)

Apartment Leasing Business

In 2019, the apartment leasing business of the Group maintained
a stable operation, and has cumulatively secured the agency
rights of 226 apartments (with 768 rooms in total) and
successfully procured the leasing of 595 rooms thereof, which
generated a revenue of approximately HK$9,596,000 for the
year (2018: approximately HK$4,446,000). The Group’'s apartment
leasing business recorded an operating loss of approximately
HK$4,942,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: loss of
approximately HK$6,693,000).

Smart Wearable Device Business

In September 2019, the Board resolved to cease the smart
wearable device business in order to focus the Group's resources
on the financial technology services business after considering
that the smart wearable device business had been continuously
loss-making, faced fierce competition and could not cope with
the direction of the Group's future development. Following the
deregistration of the Group’s subsidiary, Shenzhen Maikang
Wearable Devices Technology Limited GRIIKEFZ &R ER B
fR/A@]), on 29 November 2019, the Group had formally closed
its smart wearable device business on the same date. The smart
wearable device business has been classified as a discontinued
operation of the Group and a loss from discontinued operation of
approximately HK$1,769,000 has been recognised by the Group
for year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: loss of approximately
2,969,000). Please refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements for details of the discontinued operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E )2 59 i 52 53 i

Lottery Business

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had submitted applications
for the establishment of 1,629 sales points in various cities in
Shandong, the PRC and 1,011 of which had been approved.
For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s lottery
business generated revenue of approximately HK$664,000
(2018: approximately HK$996,000). The Group’s lottery business
recorded an operating loss of approximately HK$2,178,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: loss of approximately
HK$3,585,000).

The strengthened control over the lottery industry by the PRC
government and the fierce competition in the lottery business
led to a decrease in the Group's lottery sales as compared to the
corresponding period of 2018. In the future, the Group will closely
monitor the results of the lottery business and may consider the
discontinuance or downsizing of this business.

Sports Training Business

The Group operates Hui So Hung Table Tennis Training Centre in
Hong Kong to provide table tennis training services to students
with different ages and levels. The Group’s sports training business
maintained a stable operation. Revenue from sport training
business for 2019 has reached approximately HK$2,354,000 (2018:
approximately HK$2,416,000). The Group’s sports training business
recorded an operating loss of approximately HK$206,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: loss of approximately
HK$71,000) which was more than last year due to normal business
fluctuation.

PROSPECTS

As affected by the novel coronavirus epidemic since the
beginning of 2020 with Wuhan of the PRC as a severely-affected
city, the Command for Epidemic Prevention and Control of
Wuhan announced to suspend the operations of city buses,
metros, ferries and long-distance passenger transportation and
temporarily close the passages to leave Wuhan at airports and
railway stations on 23 January 2020. The temporarily suspension
of public transportation and operations of numerous enterprises
affected the demands for apartment leasing and the income
of tenants in Wuhan. As a result, the leasing business volume
decreased with an increase in rental default rates. All these have
caused phrased damages to the apartment leasing business of the
Group. The development of the novel coronavirus epidemic will
adversely affect the PRC economy in the short term, weakening
consumption sentiment and also significantly affecting personal
consumption credit market. Meanwhile, the supervision of the PRC
government on the online lending industry will continue to have an
impact on-the personal consumption credit market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B2 59 5 52 73 i

The Group will closely monitor the market fluctuations and
continue to implement its strategies by conducting appraisal to
each of its businesses, and downsizing or ceasing certain loss-
making businesses with a view to focus the Group’s resources on
its profit-making businesses and thereby improving the financial
performance of the Group. At the same time, the Group had
launched smart retail business in late February 2020 (please refer
to the section headed “CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET PURCHASE" of
this report for details) to contribute more revenues and profits
to the Group so as to achieve its long term target of sustainable
development.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 38 (2018: 54) employees
in total. The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are
kept at a competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group's salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited was appointed as auditor of the
Company on 29 November 2018 after the resignation of HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited with effect from 8 November 2018.
Save as the above change, there is no further change in auditor of
the Company in any of the preceding three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREMNIBIEREFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao, aged 39, was appointed as the chairman and
an executive Director of the Company and a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company in August 2017. Currently, Mr. Sun
also serves as the chairman, chief executive officer and an
executive director of 51 Credit Card and a director of various
subsidiaries of its group including, among others, Hangzhou
Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“"Hangzhou Enniu”), Beijing
Dingli Chuangshi Technology Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Yiniu Network
Technology Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Yeniu Asset Management Co., Ltd.
and Fuzhou Enniu Network Micro Credit Co., Ltd.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur. He obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic
Industry (now known as the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the PRC
in June 2002. He has been engaging in Internet businesses since
2004, and founded several Internet companies before founding
Hangzhou Enniu in 2012. From May 2004 to August 2007, Mr.
Sun served as the founder of Hangzhou Aladdin Information &
Technology Co., Ltd. and E City, a 3D mapping website in the PRC;
and from August 2007 to February 2012, Mr. Sun served as the
general manager and founder of Hangzhou Fangtoo Information
& Technology Co., Ltd., a large online second-hand property
platform.

In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card
management mobile application named “51 Credit Card Manager”
and 51 Credit Card group has grown to be one of the leading
financial technology companies in China during the past few years.
Mr. Sun has been honored the Entrepreneur of 2016 by Dark Horse,
2017 Chinese Economic Figures by SINA and New Business 100
Annual Actors by 36Kr, etc.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREMNIBIEREFR

Mr. Zhao Ke, aged 36, was appointed as an executive Director
and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company in August
2017. Currently, Mr. Zhao also serves as an executive director
and the chief financial officer of 51 Credit Card, and a director
of various subsidiaries of its group including, among others,
Hangzhou Enniu. From July 2006 to October 2015, Mr. Zhao
served in a number of positions, including as a senior manager
of the capital markets services group at Hong Kong Firm of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Zhao graduated from the Xi‘an Jiaotong University in the PRC
in July 2005 with a bachelor's degree in finance and obtained
a master’s degree in economics from the University of Ottawa
in Canada in October 2006. He was accredited as a certified
public accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in May 2011 and by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in May 2015.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in August 2017. Mr. Song has over twenty years'
experience in the entertainment and media industry. Mr. Song
was appointed as the chairman in the China region of Live Nation
Entertainment, Inc. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange, ticker:
LYV) in April 2019. Mr. Song founded “Maitian Music” in 1996 and
served as its general manager for four years since 1996, and then
served as the executive vice-president and production director for
Warner Music (China) from 2000 to 2004. Mr. Song founded Beijing
Taihe Rye Music Co., Ltd. in 2004 and served as the chief executive
officer and also the president of Taihe Media Investment Co., Ltd.
for eight years. He joined Evergrande Music as the chairman of
the board from 2012 to 2015; and then worked for Beijing Alibaba
Music Technology Co., Ltd. as the chief executive officer and the
chairman of the board from 2015 to 2018. Mr. Song graduated from
the Tsinghua University in the PRC in July 1988 with a bachelor’'s
degree in environmental engineering.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFREREMNIBIEREFR

Mr. Wu Bo, aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in August 2017. Mr. Wu is the founder and
chief executive officer of meiaoju.com, a serial entrepreneur in
Internet sharing economy, artificial intelligence and deep learning.
Mr. Wu obtained his bachelor’s degree in automation engineering
from the Tsinghua University in the PRC and his master's degree
in computer science from the Western Michigan University in
the United States of America (the “United States”). Mr. Wu has
founded focus.cn (a leading Chinese real estate portal), lashou.
com (a Chinese top group-buying site) and meiaoju.com (an
Internet service company which brings Chinese investments into
the real estate development market of the United States).

Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi, aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in August 2017. Mr. Yu
obtained a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of
New South Wales in Australia. He is a fellow member of the CPA
Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Yu is also a founding member of The Hong
Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association. Mr. Yu has
years of experience in accounting, corporate finance and asset
management. He had held senior management positions in several
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu is currently an independent
non-executive director of each of Golden Resources Development
International Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code:
677), EVOC Intelligent Technology Company Limited (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2308), Applied Development Holdings
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519) and Lerado
Financial Group Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1225), respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FEBRS

The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group's performance for the year ended 31 December 2019
by business segments is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 102
to 239.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of the
Company, a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) is adopted by
the Board which aims to allow the Shareholders to participate in
the Company's profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to
capture future growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s ability
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not
limited to, the financial performance and position of the Company,
Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and strategies, and
any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews
the Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required to ensure the benefit of the Shareholders as a whole is
taken into consideration from time to time during recommendation
and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend to pay dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FBRS

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in
the sections headed “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT", "MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” and “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT" of this report. These discussions form part
of this “REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS".

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lighting and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FEBRS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate its employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of its employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its business partners to achieve its long-term
goals. Accordingly, the Directors have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them
when appropriate. During the year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.

SHARE CAPITAL AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital and
convertible bonds during the year are set out in notes 30 and 28 to
the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the Shares issued in the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the Shareholders provided
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31
December 2019, the Company did not have any reserves available
for distribution (2018: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FBRS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company's articles of association (the “Articles”) or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no provision for pre-
emptive rights which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares to its existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out
on page 240 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$4,300 (2018: approximately HK$15,000).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. During
the year, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of
the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FEBRS

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group's employees in the PRC participate in defined
contribution schemes provided by the relevant provincial and
municipal governments under which the Group (as the employer)
and the employees in the PRC are required to make monthly
contributions to these schemes in accordance with the relevant
requirements. The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds
to the pension in accordance with the requirements of the relevant
provincial and municipal governments.

The Group has also arranged its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee whereby each of the Group
(as the employer) and the Hong Kong employees make monthly
contributions to the scheme in accordance with the relevant
legislation.

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement benefit
schemes are shown in notes 10, 11, 12 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

In August 2010, the Company issued approximately 664,580,000
(after adjusted for the share consolidation as effected on 27
February 2012) zero-coupon HK dollar denominated convertible
bonds to Mr. Leung Ngai Man (“Mr. Leung”), a former substantial
Shareholder, and former chairman and executive director of the
Company. The convertible bonds have a maturity period of 5 years
from the issue date and can be convertible into one ordinary
Share at HK$0.005 each for every HK$1.20 convertible bonds at
the holder’s option (after adjusted for the share consolidation as
effected on 27 February 2012). Conversion may occur at any time
between 27 August 2010 and 26 August 2015.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FBRS

The Company entered into a supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) dated 24 August 2015 with Mr. Leung,
pursuant to which the Company and Mr. Leung agreed to extend
the maturity date of the convertible bonds for 5 years from the
date falling on the fifth year to the date falling on the tenth year
from the date of issue of the convertible bonds (the “Extension”).
The Supplemental Deed was approved by independent
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM")
of the Company held on 3 November 2015. The Extension allows
the Company to finance the debts under the convertible bonds
without any interest cost and enhance the sufficiency of working
capital of the Group.

On 24 January 2018, the Company received a conversion notice
from Mr. Leung to exercise the conversion rights attached to
the outstanding convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$50,000,000. 41,666,666 Shares, representing approximately
0.9% of the issued Shares as at 24 January 2018 and approximately
0.89% of the enlarged issued Shares immediately after the
conversion, were allotted and issued to Mr. Leung on 26 January
2018 at the conversion price of HK$1.2 per Share.

As at 31 December 2019, the remaining convertible bonds with
principal amount of HK$18,016,000 had not yet been converted.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FEBRS

UNLISTED WARRANTS

On 22 November 2019, zhong Tuo Limited (“Zhong Tuo") (a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into the joint
venture agreement (the “JV Agreement”) with B EEEE
BAEELE (BRAEE) (transliterated as Ningbo Yunni Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)), =& &
ETHEABLE (ERAE) (transliterated as Ningbo Yun Ma
Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)) and
Mr. Ye Cunshi, pursuant to which the parties agreed to jointly
establish a new joint venture to explore the business development,
cooperation and investment opportunities in the area of smart
retail business, and Zhong Tuo conditionally agreed to procure the
Company to issue 700,655,257 unlisted warrants (the “Warrants”)
to Yun Ma Limited at the issue price of HK$0.001 per Warrant as
performance incentive. Each Warrant carries the right to subscribe
at any time during the subscription period for one warrant Share
(“Warrant Share”) at the subscription price of HK$0.054 (subject
to adjustment) per Warrant Share. The closing price per Share as
quoted in the Stock Exchange on the date of the JV Agreement
was HK$0.034. The approval of the issue of unlisted Warrants and
the grant of specific mandate to issue Warrant Shares upon the
exercise of the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants was
obtained at the EGM held on 13 December 2019.

On 23 January 2020, Zzhong Tuo and Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK)
Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Zhong Tuo) further entered
into the supplemental joint venture agreement with Ningbo Yunni
Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) and
Ningbo Yun Ma Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership), pursuant to which all rights and obligations of Zhong
Tuo under the JV Agreement would be transferred to Zhong Tuo
Holdings (HK) Limited. The said joint venture was incorporated and
the Warrants were issued on February 2020. After the exercise
of the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants, the Warrant
Shares will be allotted and issued under the specific mandate.
For details, please refer to the announcements and circular of
the Company dated 22, 27 November and 13 December 2019,
respectively.

Assuming the full exercise of the subscription rights attaching
to the Warrants, it is expected that the gross and net proceeds
of approximately HK$38,536,000 and HK$38,177,000 will be
raised, respectively. The net proceeds will be used for the general
working capital of the Group, i.e. the net proceeds from (i) issue
of the Warrants of approximately HK$560,000 will be applied for
remuneration of Directors and employees of the Group; and (ii) the
full exercise of the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants
of approximately HK$37,617,000 will be applied as to 50% for
remuneration of Directors and employees of the Group, 20% for
rental expenses, 20% for legal and professional fees and 10%
for other administrative and operating expenses. The net issue
price, after deduction of the relevant expenses, is approximately
HK$0.0008.

As at the date of this report, none of the said subscription rights
attached to the Warrants have been exercised, and the Group has
no intention to deviate from the proposed use of proceeds as
previously disclosed by the Company.
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Save for disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group, or existed during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or
existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the
major customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set
out below:

(1) Sales
HE
- the largest customer
-RARP
— the five largest customers (combined)
-ARER (&6

(2)  Purchases
RAE
— the largest supplier
- RAEER
— the five largest suppliers (combined)
- AR ER (&0F)

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any
Shareholders (that, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the year.
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BRAREPTIREE SN AR BN FABER LT
ERRE BT -

EEAEHN
ERREERAON EBTIRGERAEEE
BREMEESHEBABZERRITRAD-

FEEFRHEER
FPy AEREEES REEES RIEHEERR
BHEoADLIOT:

Approximate
percentage of
total sales
HEEARE
ZHHABE D

1%

1%

Approximate
percentage of
total purchases
R EE
ZBA B D

10%

18%

BEEMA BEFARFLAEMETHEALCE
EAGEMEMRA) AREBEEMAEB S HITRND
5%A LR ZEMBRR FABRERAKRERK
EERMHEBRERENER ER-
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Ke

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi

In accordance with article 87 of the Articles, Mr. Song Ke and
Mr. Wu Bo will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting
(the "AGM") of the Company.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 12 to 14
of this report.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure
that the levels of their remuneration and compensation are
appropriate. References to the remuneration standards of the
industry as well as the business development of the Company are
made to ensure the level of remuneration should be sufficient to
attract and retain the Directors, and the Company should avoid
paying more than necessary for this purpose.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

The Company entered into an agreement with 51 Credit Card
(China) Limited (a company wholly owned by 51 Credit Card and
ultimately controlled by Mr. Sun Haitao) (“51CCC") regarding
the sharing of the Hong Kong head office and other related
administrative expenses with effect from 1 July 2018.

Save as disclosed above and in this report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s businesses to which any of the Company’s subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO") as recorded in the register required to
be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings in securities by directors of listed issuer as
referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Required Standard of Dealings”), were as follows:

24
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Long position in the Shares KRB zZHR
Approximate
Capacity and percentage of
Name of Director Number of Shares nature of interests issued Shares
HEBITREZ
ESHE RHEE SO RERMEE BABE DL
Mr. Sun Haitao 1,834,963,213 M Interest in controlled corporation 39.28%
(“Mr. Sun”)
rAaREEE ([BREE]) REEGEE 2 #aw
Note: Wit

(1) 5TRENPIN.COM INC. is wholly owned by E@E4MERKAERAFT (1)  5IRENPIN.COM INC.H E/BEF@EREBERAF ([L

(transliterated as Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Company Limited) BEF])ZERE LBEFAEAMMNBG2ERE It
(“Shanghai Wuniu”), which is in turn wholly owned by Hangzhou Enniu. SN MMNIRGE BRI AR AR ([HMIESF]) (H511EH
Further, contractual arrangements are entered into between MM R4 {5 8B R (FE)Z2EHEE MRARBSIERFREEHEARBR
AR AT (transliterated as Hangzhou zZhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.) SEREIES) (AFBER T X REBEBR M 2 i
("Hangzhou zhenniu”) (a company wholly owned by 51CCC, which is in turn 2 1) EMNBFBFTLE N HE - UM R4 845 H1 AT
wholly owned by 51 Credit Card, and ultimately controlled by Mr. Sun) (details B4 o iRIEFF KRG KD FRFA LR BHEASIRENPIN.
of which are set out in “Long position in shares of associated corporation” COM INC.FT B2 S n 2z -

below) and Hangzhou Enniu so that Hangzhou Zhenniu can control Hangzhou
Enniu. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed to be interested in those Shares
held by 51RENPIN.COM INC.
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Long position in shares of associated REBLIERGODZHFR
corporation
Approximate
Name of associated Capacity and nature percentage of
Name of Director corporation of interests Number of shares issued shares
HERTRAZ
EEpE HEEEEE S REREE RHEE EER
Mr. Sun 51 Credit Card Founder of a discretionary trust who 120,076,000 10.08%
can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion @
BEE SIEAR BEETELA THEZTA
TRERERE HAO
Others @ 50,355,000 4.23%
Hig
Others @ 245,140,736 20.57%
Hig
415,571,736 34.87%
Note: HtiF -

M Rising Sun Limited (the sole shareholder of which is Wukong Ltd., which is (1) Rising Sun Limited ( £ & & &% AWukong Ltd. (BER LA

beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, Wukong Trust, founded by Mr. Sun), BISZ BB EEWukong TrustE %A ) ) (VERFB51
(i) beneficially holds 120,076,000 shares in 51 Credit Card; (i) acts as a general {2 2120,076,0008% 8% {5 : (i) EELRE B ALIZEH5T
partner and controls 51 Xinhu L.P, which in turn holds 50,355,000 shares in Xinhu L.P+ 151 Xinhu L.P355&51{5 A & 2 50,355,000% i%
51 Credit Card; and (i) holds 245,140,736 shares in 51 Credit Card through 7 R(iVEBTEZEZ TR AS1E A R 2245,140,736

various voting proxies.

B RAD ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the K XA EEIN F2019F 128318 ifEE =
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had or deemed RAR B HZETH A 8 AR 5 8 H (T [ #558%
to have any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying (EERFBHFRBEKROIEXVED) 2 ERRMD
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 1AM REET HEER R AEBRBEBZANL
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as HAE{EHIE3IS2EBE L AMGEE 2 & M2 E M
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of AR HIRBER SN TIZEBHME AR AR
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock — B3 ffr 2 (B EZRF XA -

Exchange pursuant to the Required Standard of Dealings.
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SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors,
the persons or entities, other than a Director or chief executive of
the Company, who had or deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 & :
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO are as follows:

A

Number of
Shares directly

FERRRAQDANKRS - HERD

RESFTHEENESREAR

2019 12H318 BRESA U TALTHES
(BEFHUARAERITHRABRIN) RARERMD -
HEARMDREFTREEI R EAEEREESR
HEKPIEIBIEHEAERARRABEFTEZE
Mtz R SOAR - SAREF H RHEIE EHIEXVED
BORFEINDH A TEAMARTNEE 2 BRI A

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of
Names nature of interests and category® issued Shares
EESBEE

BENKRE GHERORGZ

% B RkEREE HEREAHY BAES

51 Credit Card® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.28%
S1ERKR0 REEHEE %

51CCCm Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.28%
SRR (RE) REEHEE %

Hangzhou Zhenniu™ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
AN RGO REEHEE %

Hangzhou Enniu®™ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
T B0 REEHEE R

Shanghai Wuniu® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%
LgEEn REEHEE %

51RENPIN.COM INC." Beneficial owner 1,834,963,213(L) 39.28%

ExBEEA

Mr. Wang Yonghua (“Mr. Wang")? Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213(L) 47.10%
FRERE([EEE]) REEHEE %

Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.@* Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213(L) 47.10%

RYITREREEERHERAA?

WX EH AR #
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Number of
Shares directly

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of

Names nature of interests and category® issued Shares

EESBE

BENKRGE GEBOTRHGZ
a1 FORERME YERERY BB
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.28%
AE#EABRAA RERHEE R
Tiantu Investments Limited@ Person having a security interest in shares 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.28%
XEREBRAF HROBAEREEZEOA
Tiantu Investments International Limited? Beneficial owner 365,000,000(L) 7.81%
RKEREBRBERAR? ERBEAA
Mr. Ye Cunshi® Interest in controlled corporation 700,655,257 (L) 15.00%
RRHEAEN RERHEE R
Yun Ma Limited® Beneficial owner 700,655,257 (L) 15.00%

EBARDAY EaBAA
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The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective
Chinese name(s) and is/are for identification only.

Duplicate with those disclosed in the section headed “INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" above.

Tiantu Investments Limited is wholly owned by Tiantu Advisory Company
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by J®IIlTT R E& & BB M G R A 7
(transliterated as Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.) which is owned as to approximately
59.80% by Mr. Wang. Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
2,199,963,213 Shares, of which 1,834,963,213 Shares held by 51RENPIN.COM
INC. is charged in favour of Tiantu Investments Limited and 365,000,000 Shares
are held by Tiantu Investments International Limited, a company wholly owned
by Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.

Pursuant to the JV Agreement, 700,655,257 unlisted Warrants were issued to
Yun Ma Limited (a company controlled as to approximately 62.40% by Mr. Ye
Cunshi) at the issue price of HK$0.001 per Warrant as performance incentive.
Upon the exercise of the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants,
700,655,257 Shares will be allotted and issued. For details, please refer to the
announcements and circular of the Company dated 22, 27 November and 13
December 2019, respectively.

(L) — Long Position, (S) — Short Position.

Bt

Q)

HEX[EFRARTAKRSBTHABRAR R SR
EERRD BEROREFTHREENERRAR] —F
WA 2 S AR -

XEREBRARARBZAERARZERE KEF
AERARABAFITREREEERNDER AR (£
S A HAS.80%RIE) R ERE - TAEWRARE
& #£2,199,963,2130 B 15 B9 1 %5+ H Hh1,834,963,2130% ik
7 BH51RENPIN.COM INC. AT A W T REREBR A
&+ 365,000,000/% i 15 Al RYIT R E R EEZRN AR
REIZEBMEZ AR RKBEKREBRBEERAREE

RIEE &S ANARIDIREITEESNDRREF0.001ETT
MEBARAR (—RAEFH L EEF62.40%0 A7)
%47700,655,25717 IE L TR AR A 58 1E R R IR 52 E) - SR AR 2
BETHI RS 2 SRIEHEEIT(E1% » 700,655,257 B B 17 15 F B 3%
K37 -HBFELBMART B SR A2019F11 8228
278 R12A13EB M RE RBEK
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Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2019, there was no person (not being a Director
or a chief executive of the Company) who had or deemed to have
an interest or a short position in the Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “CONNECTED AND
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS” of this report, at no time during
the year and at the end of the year was the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other subsidiaries.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year, the Group did not enter into any contract
of significance with its controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries.

During the year, no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Group by a controlling Shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries was made.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
of the Company which require compliance with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of
material related party transactions undertaken in the usual course
of business of the Group are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements. However, these transactions were either
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules, or did not fall under the definition of connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Br EXPriREE SN LEF A R2019F12831
B BEAL (BEERARAKSITHRABRIN)
RENTHREAREEREEREES LR ED
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year under review, none of the Directors or controlling
Shareholders or any of their respective close associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interest in a business
which causes or may cause any significant competition with the
business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total
issued Shares was at all times held by the public during the year
and up to the date of this report. The Company has maintained a
sufficient public float in compliance with Rule 11.23(7) of the GEM
Listing Rules.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS
Overview

The PRC operating entities of the Group are required to hold
the Value-added Telecommunication Service Operating Permit
(the "ICP License”) to operate the mobile applications and the
provision of online information services.

On 11 December 2001, the State Council of the PRC promulgated
the Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-funded
Telecommunications Enterprises ( (HINRHREBEZE D EEIER
TE) ) (the "FITE Regulations”), which were amended on 10
September 2008 and 6 February 2016, respectively. According to
the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold
more than 50% of the equity interests in a company providing
value-added telecom services (“VATS"), including ICP services. In
addition, a foreign investor who invests in a VATS business in the
PRC must possess the qualification requirements. The Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC issued the
guidance memorandum (the “Guidance Memorandum”) on the
application requirement for establishing foreign-invested value-
added telecommunications enterprises in the PRC on 1 March
2017, and updated the same on 6 March 2019 which took effect
on the same day. According to the Guidance Memorandum, the
foreign investor's proven track record of good performance
of VATS business and satisfactory proof of prior experience in
such business are required to be provided. For the year ended
31 December 2019, no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules
have provided any guidance or interpretation on the proof of the
qualification requirement.
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Structured Contract 1

Hangzhou Hongmai Information Technology Limited (#1534
Iz BE & AR A F) ("Hangzhou Hongmai”) is an indirect
wholly owned PRC subsidiary of the Company.

Hangzhou Weizi Assets Management Limited (A ik & & & & 12
B A7]) ("Hangzhou Weizi") was incorporated in September
2017. It is currently wholly owned by Mr. Wang Yongjun. Hangzhou
Weizi has obtained the ICP License.

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed
to engage in the Internet business in which Hangzhou Weizi is
engaged, the Contractual Arrangement 1 (as defined below) is
adopted by the Group, the details of which are set out below.
The mobile application “Xiaowu Purse” developed and owned
by Hangzhou Weizi (“Xiaowu Purse App”) acts as the major
channel through which Hangzhou Hongmai approaches its users
and conducts business. Hangzhou Weizi presents information to
specific Internet users by connecting Xiaowu Purse App to its
cooperating Internet platforms, thereby providing the potential
users with financing demands to Hangzhou Hongmai. At the same
time, Hangzhou Hongmai gets access to the users application
information through Xiaowu Purse App. Therefore, the Contractual
Arrangement 1 (as defined below) is crucial to the Group.

Hangzhou Hongmai entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 1 with Hangzhou Weizi in late 2017; and
further entered into: (2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 1; (3) the
Equity Pledge Agreement 1; and (4) the Shareholder Voting Rights
Entrustment Agreement 1 and supporting documents (collectively
referred to as the “Structured Contract 1°) with Hangzhou
Weizi and Mr. Wang Yongjun (the “Nominee Shareholder 1”) to
enable the Group to obtain the power and ability to control the
business of Hangzhou Weizi and acquire economic benefits (the
“Contractual Arrangement 1").
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The Structured Contract 1 has an initial term of 10 years
commencing from the date of the relevant agreement which
is renewable by prior written notice of Hangzhou Hongmai. As
security for the payment of service fees under the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement 1 and the performance of the
Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the Equity Pledge Agreement 1
executed in favour of Hangzhou Hongmai as pledgee will only
be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholder 1 contemplated under the Contractual Arrangement
1 are fulfilled. Similarly, for protection of the Group, the power
of attorney executed with Hangzhou Hongmai or the person
designated by it as entrustee will be valid so long as the
Contractual Arrangement 1 is in force. The Company will keep
exploring various opportunities in building up its services
operations so that it can obtain qualification as early as possible
to acquire the entire equity interest of Hangzhou Weizi if and when
the Foreign Investment Restrictions are abolished.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 1 which
involves the payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Weizi to
Hangzhou Hongmai, and the nominal purchase consideration to be
paid by Hangzhou Hongmai to the Nominee Shareholder 1 under
the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the Contractual Arrangement 1
does not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract 1, taken as a whole, permits the results
and financial operations of Hangzhou Weizi to be consolidated
into the Group, as if it were the Company’s subsidiary resulting in
all economic benefits of its business flowing into the Company.
Through the appointment of senior management of Hangzhou
Weizi, the Company believes that Hangzhou Hongmai is able
to effectively supervise, manage and operate the business
operations, expansion plans, financial policies and assets of
Hangzhou Weizi, and at the same time, ensure due implementation
of the Structured Contract 1.
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The Structured Contract 1 enables the Company to exercise
control over and receive economic benefits generated from the
business operation of Hangzhou Weizi. The validity and legality of
the Structured Contract 1 have been confirmed by the PRC legal
advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair and reasonable
for Hangzhou Hongmai to be entitled to all the economic benefits
generated from Hangzhou Weizi. The Structured Contract 1 also
permits Hangzhou Hongmai to exclusively acquire all or part of
the equity interest in Hangzhou Weizi, to the extent permitted
by the PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the Group’'s
lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Weizi, the Group is able to
control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Weizi in
substance through the Structured Contract 1. As a result of the
Contractual Arrangement 1, Hangzhou Weizi is accounted for as
the Company’s subsidiary, and its financial position and operating
results are consolidated into the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangement 1, the revenue and net
profit of Hangzhou Weizi for the year ended 31 December 2019
amounted to approximately HK$6.0 million and approximately
HK$58,000, respectively. The net assets of Hangzhou Weizi as at 31
December 2019 amounted to approximately HK$12.4 million.

Risk Factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangement 1: (1) the PRC government may determine that the
documents under the Contractual Arrangement 1 do not comply
with applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangement 1 may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangement 1 may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

The Group has consulted its PRC legal advisor specified in this
area for provision of professional legal opinion on the Contractual
Arrangement 1.
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Internal Control Measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Hangzhou Weizi, the Contractual Arrangement 1 has provided
that, without having obtained the written consent of Hangzhou
Hongmai, the Nominee Shareholder 1 and Hangzhou Weizi: (1) shall
not in any manner sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose
of any legal assets, legitimate interest or revenue interests of the
equity interests in Hangzhou Weizi, or allow any encumbrance
thereon of any guarantee interest; and (2) shall not enter into any
merger, partnership, joint venture agreement or be in association
with any person, or acquire or invest in any person, or get
separated from Hangzhou Weizi, amend the articles of association
of Hangzhou Weizi and change the registered capital or legal form
of the company.

No Material Change in the Contractual
Arrangement 1

The Company confirmed that there is no material change in the
Contractual Arrangement 1 and/or the circumstances under which
it was adopted, and its impact on the Group, and the terms of the
Contractual Arrangement 1 are on normal commercial terms.

No Rescission of the Contractual Arrangement 1

The Company also confirmed that there is no rescission of the
Structured Contract 1, and that there are no circumstances
resulting from which the Structured Contract 1 could not be
rescinded when restrictions on the adoption of Structured
Contract 1 are removed.

Structured Contract 2

Wuhan Wuhao is an indirect PRC subsidiary owned as to 55%
equity interests by the Company, and the remaining 45% equity
interests is directly held by Mr. Liu Jiping.

Wuhan Yuechang Feichi Network Technology Co., Ltd. (& &1% 45
B 4B 4% T AR 2 7)) (“Yuechang Feichi”) was incorporated
in April 2018. It is currently wholly owned by Mr. Yi Xiongjun.
Yuechang Feichi has obtained the ICP License.
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As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed
to engage in the online apartment leasing business in which
Yuechang Feichi is engaged, the Contractual Arrangement 2 (as
defined below) is adopted by the Group, the details of which
are set out below. The website of “51Gongyu” (“51Gongyu”)
developed and owned by Yuechang Feichi acts as the major
channel through which Wuhan Wuhao approaches its users and
conducts business. Yuechang Feichi presents information to
specific Internet users through Internet platforms that include
51Gongyu for cooperation, thereby providing the potential users
with apartment leasing demands to Wuhan Wuhao. Therefore, the
Contractual Arrangement 2 (as defined below) is crucial to the
Group.

Wuhan Wuhao re-entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2 with Yuechang Feichi in mid-2019; and
further entered into: (2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 2; (3) the
Equity Pledge Agreement 2; and (4) the Shareholder Voting Rights
Entrustment Agreement 2 and supporting documents (collectively
referred to as the “Structured Contract 2°) with Yuechang
Feichi and Mr. Yi Xiongjun (the “Nominee Shareholder 2") to
enable the Group to obtain the power and ability to control the
business of Yuechang Feichi and acquire economic benefits (the
“Contractual Arrangement 2").

The Structured Contract 2 has an initial term of 10 years
commencing from the date of the relevant agreement which is
renewable by prior written notice of Wuhan Wuhao. As security
for the payment of service fees under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2 and the performance of the Exclusive
Option Agreement 2, the Equity Pledge Agreement 2 executed
in favour of Wuhan Wuhao as pledgee will only be terminated
when all the said obligations of the Nominee Shareholder 2
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangement 2 are fulfilled.
Similarly, for protection of the Group, the power of attorney
executed with Wuhan Wuhao or the person designated by it as
entrustee will be valid so long as the Contractual Arrangement 2
is in force. The Company will keep exploring various opportunities
in building up its services operations so that it can obtain
qualification as early as possible to acquire the entire equity
interest of Yuechang Feichi if and when the Foreign Investment
Restrictions are abolished.

HRINERREZRFRN R BAREEREVER
SAAtENEMEASHERY  MMALAEERA
BHRH2(ERZR T  #FHEHEN T RBR
SRR WA (515 A% My ([515% A E 4
W) RREOEERBPYRREBNER R
1€ - G ARG IR A5 15k A BABILIE A& (EY BB
BYeamBEEBEAPRTES RIVEMER
HELBHESTKNERAL Bt AL 2
(ERERTXOHAEELEER

EUERIER2019F R BB RGBT (NBR
EBatrma2 RERGR LR FEELRE ([R
BARR2)E-FTL: QBRBEEGZ2
QB EERIHHR2  RORRTREREIHHE2K
REXH (SH [ EBESR2) AEAEEES
22 151 150 855 7R Bt 3% 75 O BE 0 Ko BE 0 M ERAS B Bl
(I&a8%H2]) -

BRES2VHFHEREBAORREN S
T JHRREOEERLEAEMANTAEDR-
ERREBEBREBAEBHE2NREERETE
ZBERBHE2NER NREMEREEARY
MBI E Wi a2 E e NS R 2B TR
BABRRIBEEERERKRLL - A BREX
SB UREROEREBEALTRIFTARILZIE
REAEGREANTHETHHEBERER A2
A EERR TR EINRRG ZE  HRERR
BER RIERERBIBHREREBHERL
Pt o

hEEEERERAT o 2019FEFH 35



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

E2FBRS

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 which
involves the payment of a service fee by Yuechang Feichi to
Wuhan Wuhao, and the nominal purchase consideration to be
paid by Wuhan Wuhao to the Nominee Shareholder 2 under the
Exclusive Option Agreement 2, the Contractual Arrangement 2
does not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract 2, taken as a whole, permits the results
and financial operations of Yuechang Feichi to be consolidated
into the Group, as if it were the Company’s subsidiary resulting
in the responding economic benefits of its business flowing into
the Company. Through the appointment of senior management
of Yuechang Feichi, the Company believes that Wuhan Wuhao
is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate the
business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and
assets of Yuechang Feichi, and at the same time, ensure due
implementation of the Structured Contract 2.

The Structured Contract 2 enables the Company to exercise
control over and receive, in proportion to its shareholding
percentage, economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Yuechang Feichi. The validity and legality of the
Structured Contract 2 have been confirmed by the PRC legal
advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair and reasonable
for Wuhan Wuhao to be entitled to the economic benefits
generated from Yuechang Feichi in proportion to the shareholding
percentage. The Structured Contract 2 also permits Wuhan Wuhao
to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interest in Yuechang
Feichi, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group’s lack of equity ownership in Yuechang
Feichi, the Group is able to control correspondingly the business
and financial position of Yuechang Feichi in substance through the
Structured Contract 2. As a result of the Contractual Arrangement
2, Yuechang Feichi is accounted for as the Company'’s subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results are included in the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to the Contractual Arrangement 2, Yuechang Feichi had
no revenue and incurred a net loss of approximately HK$341,000
for the year ended 31 December 2019. The net assets of Yuechang
Feichi as at 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately
HK$632,000.
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Risk Factors

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangement 2: (1) the PRC government may determine that the
documents under the Contractual Arrangement 2 do not comply
with applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangement 2 may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangement 2 may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

The Group has consulted its PRC legal advisor specified in this
area for provision of professional legal opinion on the Contractual
Arrangement 2.

Internal Control Measures

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Yuechang Feichi, the Contractual Arrangement 2 has provided that,
without having obtained the written consent of Wuhan Wuhao,
the Nominee Shareholder 2 and Yuechang Feichi: (1) shall not in
any manner sell, transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any
legal assets, legitimate interest or revenue interests of the equity
interests in Yuechang Feichi, or allow any encumbrance thereon
of any guarantee interest; and (2) shall not enter into any merger,
partnership, joint venture agreement or be in association with any
person, or acquire or invest in any person, or get separated from
Yuechang Feichi, amend the articles of association of Yuechang
Feichi and change the registered capital or legal form of the
company.

No Material Change in the Contractual
Arrangement 2

The Company confirmed that there is no material change in the
Contractual Arrangement 2 and/or the circumstances under which
it was adopted, and its impact on the Group, and the terms of the
Contractual Arrangement 2 are on normal commercial terms.
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No Rescission of the Contractual Arrangement 2

The Company also confirmed that there is no rescission of the
Structured Contract 2, and that there are no circumstances
resulting from which the Structured Contract 2 could not be
rescinded when restrictions on the adoption of Structured
Contract 2 are removed.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 39
to 56 of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

For details of the events after the reporting period of the Group,
please refer to note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. A resolution will be proposed to the forthcoming
AGM to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of
the Company of the subsequent year.

By order of the Board
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
Sun Haitao

Chairman and Executive Director

23 March 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company had applied
and complied with all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules except for the following:

CODE PROVISION A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Currently, the role of the chairman of the Board is performed
by Mr. Sun. Mr. Sun has been engaging in Internet business
development and financial technology for years. The Board
believes that by virtue of the practical experience of Mr. Sun in
mobile Internet and financial technology, Mr. Sun is able to provide
the Company with strong and consistent leadership, facilitate
effective and efficient planning, implementation of business
decisions and strategies, and ensure the generation of benefits to
the Shareholders.

Although the appointment of the chief executive officer of the
Company remains outstanding, the overall management of the
Company is performed by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhao Ke, their respective
areas of profession spearheaded the Group’s overall development
and business strategies.

The Company is still looking for a suitable candidate to fill the
vacancy of the chief executive officer of the Company in order to
comply with the CG Code.
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CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG code stipulates that the chairman
of the Board shall attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Sun, the
chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the AGM held in 2019
due to unexpected business engagements.

However, Mr. Zhao Ke, an executive Director, took the chair of that
AGM; and Mr. Song Ke, who is the chairman of the Remuneration
committee and a member of each of the Audit and Nomination
Committees, and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi, the chairman of Audit
Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, together with the representative of the
auditor of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, were also
present to answer questions from the Shareholders.

The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code to its
corporate governance structure and practices in the manner
described in this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors (the “Code”) which is on terms no less
exacting than the Required Standard of Dealings against which
issuers and their directors must measure their conduct regarding
transactions in securities of their issuers. The Company made
specific enquiry with all Directors and has not been notified of any
non-compliance with the Required Standard of Dealings and the
Code by any of the Directors during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS

The Board comprised the following Directors during the year and
up to the date of this report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhao Ke

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke
Mr. Wu Bo
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi
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The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “"BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT” of this report.

The Board meets regularly (at least four times a year at quarterly
intervals) for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and
policies of the Company. Additional meetings are convened as and
when the Board considers necessary. The Directors attended those
meetings in person, by phone or through other electronic means
of communication. The attendance record of the Directors in 2019

is set out below:
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Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
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Executive Directors
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Mr. Sun Haitao 5/5 2/2 11 11 0/2*
REEEE
Mr. Zhao Ke 4/5 3/3 S = 1/2
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Independent Non-executive Directors
BUHNTEE
Mr. Song Ke 4/5 4/4 11 171 1/2
N Db
Mr. Wu Bo 4/5 4/4 11 11 0/2
R EE
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi 4/5 4/4 171 11 2/2
RELELE
s Details of and reason for Mr. Sun’s absence from the AGM are set out under BRAERBRRBERG 2 LREBRARE [T

the section headed "CODE PROVISION E.1.2" of this report.
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RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND
DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the
Group, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term
strategies and appointment and supervision of management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance
with the objective of the Group. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to the management.

Currently, Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi are
the independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”). All of them
are under a term of service of three years commencing from the
date of their respective appointment or the date of entering into
their respective letter of appointment. All Directors, including the
INEDs, are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM
in accordance with the Articles, provided that the appointment
may be terminated by the Company or the Director concerned
with a written notice pursuant to their service contract.

Save as otherwise disclosed under the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships) among members of the Board. All of them are free
to exercise their independent judgement during the year. The
Company has received annual written confirmations from the
INEDS in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in the GEM Listing Rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each member of
the Board received training on corporate governance, regulatory
developments or other relevant topics during the year ended
31 December 2019, and the Directors are continually updated
on developments in the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.
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Details of trainings attended by each Director in continuous ®IEZRFER M BEEXRREEIFE

professional development during the year are set out below:

el Ul

Scope of Training

T s g
Legal and

Directors’ regulatory Business Corporate
Name of Directors duties updates updates governance
EEEH EERE ZEREEEH EBER TEER
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Sun Yes Yes Yes Yes
BREE =] =] e] B
Mr. Zhao Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
5 A =] =] =] =)
INEDS
BUIHNITESE
Mr. Song Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
R HE 2E) A ) E)
Mr. Wu Bo Yes Yes Yes Yes
RREE =] =] =] B
Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi Yes Yes Yes Yes
REESLE =] =] =] =)
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FERITHAR

The role of the chief executive of the Company is currently taken ARQGTHREH ZBE B TR R L E R BEE KA
up by Mr. Sun and Mr. Zhao Ke. The roles of the chairman of the HAE - BEFS I FERAQGTRAR ZBETERE
Board and the chief executive of the Company are not separate, % BORIRAZRELERBREEMBETFLELRE

== 2=

and are respectively exercised by Mr. Sun and by Mr. Sun and 7B ZHIEBFRARE [SFANEXEA2. 1G] —
Mr. Zhao Ke jointly. For further details, please refer to the section £

headed “"CODE PROVISION A.2.1" of this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

EEZET

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the ZBEEEGDKIIRLZEE S FTHEESMNEXES
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively, 2 (S [EEZEE]) UWREAQXFEKFEZ
the “Board Committees”) in order to maintain a high level of B G%ER]-

corporate governance standard of the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDS. The Nomination Committee
is chaired by Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, with Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi as
members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs and make
recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-election of Directors.

Summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity of
the Board, and the board diversity policy;

- reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for
directorship during the year,

- assessed the independence of the INEDs; and

- made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
Individual attendance records of each member of the Nomination
Committee are set out on page 41 of this report.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”).
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Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member
selection process. The Nomination Policy aimed to ensure the
Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying Director candidates, including recommendations from
Board members, management, and professional search firms.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider Director
candidates properly submitted by the Shareholders. All Director
candidates, are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based
upon the Director’s qualifications, as stated in the Nomination
Policy. While the Director candidates will be evaluated on the
same criteria, the Nomination Committee retains the discretion
to establish the relative weighting of such criteria, which may
vary based on the composition, skill sets, and experiences of
the collective Board rather than on the individual candidate. The
Nomination Committee has been delegated to identify individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for
selection and appointment of new Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and measurable objectives which are set for
the purpose of implementing the Board Diversity Policy.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance quality of its performance. The
Board Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board. In designing the Board’'s composition,
board diversity has been considered from a number of measurable
aspects including skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors. All Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity (including gender diversity).
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Measurable Objectives

The measurable objectives for the purpose of implementation of
the Board Diversity Policy include the independence, educational
background, professional qualifications and years of experience in
the industry the candidate is specialised in.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy to ensure its effectiveness and resolved that the diversity in
the Board composition was in the interest of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Song Ke, with Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director, Mr. Wu Bo and Mr. Michael Yu Tat Chi as
members.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration, make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment; consider
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group.

During the year, there was no executive Director’s service

contract or INED's letter of appointment to be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.
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Summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year:

- discussed the remuneration of the Directors;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
year. Individual attendance records of each member of the
Remuneration Committee are set out on page 41 of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Audit Committee comprised three members and all members
are INEDs. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Michael Yu Tat
Chi, with Mr. Song Ke and Mr. Wu Bo as members.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
and assessing their independence and performance; review the
Group's financial information and compliance; and review the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems.
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Summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year:

- reviewed the audited financial statement for the year ended
31 December 2018;

- reviewed the financial statements for the three months, six
months and nine months ended 31 March, 30 June and 30
September 2019, respectively;

- reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management
and internal control systems, and internal audit function;

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the auditor of the Company; and

= discussed with the auditor of the Company the audit matters
before the commencement of the audit work.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year. Individual
attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are
set out on page 41 of this report.

The Board Committees have adopted specific terms of reference
clearly defining their respective powers and responsibilities.
These committees are required by their terms of reference to
report to the Board in relation to their decisions, findings or
recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board's approval before taking any actions. The Board reviews, on
an annual basis, all delegations by the Board to each of the Board
Committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Group as a whole.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS S EERREL

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively EZEEZeMAEFTELAENESTABRE ZBER
responsible for the corporate governance duties. Such duties $EETER

include but are not limited to:

- developing and reviewing the Company's policies -

and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous -

professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

- reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and -

practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct -

and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

- reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and -

the disclosure in the corporate governance report.

HERBIRARANEREREHRERTER
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During the year, the Board has reviewed and performed the FR BE=ECRTERETLAMCEETARE-

abovementioned corporate governance functions.
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AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration payable to
the auditor of the Company in respect of the audit and non-audit
services are as follows:

BB AT =

HZE2019F12A318 L FE - AR RIZEAD IR
BT NIEEBFTRGEN 2SO T

Approximately

Type of services amount
R | A BMHEE
(HK$'000)
(F#&x)
Audit services Bt 1,150
Non-audit services T AR TS 750

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

All Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing
the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2019 which give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The statement
of the auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 are set out under the section headed
“INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT" of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risks arise during the Group's pursuance of its long-term strategy
and it is the Board's responsibility to evaluate and determine
the nature and extent of risks that it is willing to take. The
Board acknowledged it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group including the task of
reviewing such systems and ensuring their effectiveness. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and
is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal audit function.

The Group adopts the “three lines of defence” framework
for effective risk management and follows The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("COS0") Internal Control — Integrated Framework for the design,
implementation and review of internal controls.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are, however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines including
dissemination of information to state purpose and on a need-to-
know basis, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of
the inside information.

The Board has performed an annual review on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The Board was of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, the financial
reporting system and the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group were adequate and effective.

The Board’s annual review for the year ended 31 December
2019 also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
For this aspect, the Board was satisfactory. The Board was also not
aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.

Risk Management

The “three lines of defence” is the Group’s official organizational
structure for carrying out its risk management activities, which
includes the identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation
of risks.

The First Line of Defence - Daily Operation

The first line of defence is represented by all functional
departments responsible for the day-to-day operation and
management of the Group. They are the risk owners that
constantly encounter risks during their operation and mitigate
them by following the Group’s policies and procedures. Risk
owners are also responsible for designing and implementing
internal controls related to their risks.
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The Second Line of Defence - Risk Monitoring

The second line of defence is mainly represented by the internal
control team of the Group which takes up the role of risk
management and monitoring. They holistically assess and identify
the risks of the Group and evaluate the impact, formulate policies
and procedures to mitigate those risks, and are also responsible
for supervising the first line of defence in the improvement of
internal controls.

The Third Line of Defence - Independent Assurance

The third line of defence is represented by the Group's internal
audit team which performs regular internal audit. The internal
audit team is highly independent and reports to both the Board
and the Audit Committee directly. The primary task is to perform
independent evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

Outside the organization’s structure, the external auditor and other
regulatory bodies supplement the three lines of defence to further
strengthen the Group’s governance and controls.

During the year, the Board had re-assessed the risks faced by the
Group for which the Board considered to be significant. Below is
a summary of the key risks of the Group to date along with the
applicable risk mitigation responses.

1. Market Competition Risk

The Group's businesses face fierce market competition,
especially for its financial technology services business
segment. China’s financial technology services market
is a very dynamic market that is highly competitive. To
ensure continual growth, the Group must constantly remain
innovative, assess changing consumers’ needs and provide
in-demand services over its competitors. There is the risk
that the Group is unable to maintain its edge and lose its
market share. The Group has mitigated this risk by carrying
out competitor analysis and benchmarking, and also by
monitoring the market behavior constantly to timely react
to market changes and disruption. Continuous devotion to
product innovation and marketing enables the Group to meet
customers’ needs and scale up its businesses.
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Government Policies and Regulations Risk

The Group's financial technology services business,
apartment leasing business and lottery businesses belong to
industries that are highly regulated by the PRC government.
Participants in these industries have to adhere to strict
regulations. As these industries grow and the regulatory
landscape keeps on evolving, the PRC government often
promulgates new measures and restrictions with which all
participants have to cope. Failure to comply with these rules
and regulations will lead to serious consequences including
possibility of business termination. To mitigate this risk, the
Group has maintained a strong team of lawyers to ensure
the full compliance of laws and regulations. The Group also
fosters close communication with the PRC government and
remains vigilant in the latest regulatory updates.

Information Security Risk

The Group's financial technology services business,
apartment leasing business and lottery business serve the
mass population and hence collect a lot of user’s confidential
information and sensitive data. These data and information
must be well-secured and protected from theft, leakage and
damage. Failure to do so will cause the Group to impair its
reputation, lose businesses and even be prosecuted. The
Group places a strong emphasis on information security
and has a team of information security experts. A series
of measures is implemented to ensure customers’ data is
secured, including regular testing of the Group’s data system
to eliminate any breaching loopholes, implementing content
segregation and access authorization controls for sensitive
data.
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4. Tenancy Risk

With respect to the Group’s apartment leasing business,
when room supply in the market exceeds demand, the Group
might be unable to find tenants for its apartment rooms,
therefore unable to generate revenue. As rental prices in the
market fluctuate, the Group might not be able to negotiate
for a rental price with the customers high enough to maintain
its profit margin. The Group’s mitigation response to these
tenancy risks is two-fold. First, the Group strives to negotiate
for favorable contract terms with landlords that can protect
the Group’s position, such as obtaining a longer rent-free
period so that more time is allowed to source for tenants.
Second, the Group utilizes strong data analysis and forecast
techniques to update its business strategy.

Internal Control

The Group follows the principles and guidelines of COSO Internal
Control — Integrated Framework in implementing its internal
control system. The Group's internal control system includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, and
standardized workflow procedures designed to help the Group
to achieve its business objectives, protect its assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group's internal audit
team has carried out independent internal audit activities on the
Group’s major businesses. The Board and the Audit Committee
have reviewed and monitored the Group's internal audit function
and consider it to be effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Hiu Ling is the company secretary of the Company. She is a
full-time employee of the Group, has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company'’s affairs and has complied with the relevant professional
training requirements under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EGM

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
THEIR ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to the
Shareholders. The Company delivers quarterly, interim and annual
reports and publication of the quarterly, interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosures of information on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the
Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two-way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
Company’s email at 8071IR@u51.com or by mail to the address of
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit
1006, 10th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong
Kong. All the enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.
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The Shareholders are also encouraged to attend the AGM and EGM
and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly
circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder
is informed to attend the AGM and EGM. The Shareholders’
enquiries will be responded in a prompt manner at the aforesaid
meetings. Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, voting by poll is
mandatory at all general meetings.

The detailed procedures for conducting a poll are set out in the
proxy forms and will be explained by the chairman of each of the
AGM and EGM orally at the beginning of the aforesaid meetings.
The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company after the AGM and EGM.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution
are encouraged to convene an EGM in accordance with the
section headed “PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EGM" above.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is
committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to the Shareholders and public investors.

The Company regularly updates the Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, there is no significant
change in the Company’s memorandum and the Articles.
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APPROACH

The Group is committed to promoting transparency of operations
and creating positive impacts on the environment and society in
which it operates, and also maintaining good communication with
the stakeholders.

The results of the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
review shown in this ESG report (the “ESG Report”’) demonstrate
the importance of environmental protection that the Group places
on top of its business development targets, and explain how the
Group seeks to continually improve its ESG strategy. The ESG
Report also illustrates the focus of the Group’s resources utilized
for its core operations, which allows the Company to continuously
create value for the stakeholders.

The Group looks at issues that may have a reputational impact
on, or that may pose a risk to, the Group in short-, medium- or
long-term. Issues that are important to the stakeholders, including
but not limited to, customers and employees, as well as non-
governmental organizations, are also crucial to the Group. The
Group is positive in developing opportunities with a focus on work
ethics to ensure that the success in business development is
sustainable with the benefits to be passed on to the employees,
the customers and the environment.

Integration of sustainability into the business strategies as well as
daily operations of the Company is a must to pursue the business
model. To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding
of, and interaction with, the employees, customers and other
stakeholders are of the highest priority. The Group believes that
effective management of the ESG issues is important to long-
term success in the rapidly changing world. With a thorough
understanding of the ESG risks and opportunities, the Group will
be better positioned in allocating resources to reduce and recycle
different kinds of waste, and responding to the increasing demand
for higher standards of waste treatment by the regulators. Thus,
with all the aforementioned factors, the Group expects to face
greater challenges.
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The Group is confident that as part of the business decision-
making process, by involving all relevant stakeholders in the ESG
management process, the ESG issues will be monitored closely,
and the long-term success of the Group will be assured.

The sustainability strategy of the Group in the following aspects
applies to all the work streams:

o to promote environmental sustainability;

o to attract, retain and support employees;

o to engage with stakeholders;

o to promote sustainability of local communities;
o to strengthen community relations; and

o to enhance suppliers’ commitment.

ABOUT ESG REPORT
Report Profile

This ESG Report focuses on the Group’s main operations in Hong
Kong and the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the
“Reporting Period”). It describes the Group’s progress towards
the goal of creating sustainable value for the Shareholders and
other stakeholders. During the process of preparing this ESG
Report, the Group has conducted thorough review and evaluation
of the existing ESG practices with the aim of achieving better
performance results in the future.
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Report Scope and Boundary

This ESG Report contains information that is material which
allows the readers to understand the Group’s ESG practices and
performance in its daily operations in Hong Kong and the PRC.

In addition to the internal factors such as core values, strategy
and competency that contribute to the sustainable development
of the Group, the Group has communicated with the stakeholders
and considered the ESG challenges as reported by other market
participants, so as to decide and prioritize material topics to be set
out in this ESG Report.

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or
may have a significant impact on:

the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC;

the current and future environment and/or society;

the Group’s financial and/or operational performance; and

the stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the “Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply
or explain” provisions, this ESG Report has outlined the overall
Group’s performance in environmental protection, human
resources, operating practice and community involvement during
the Reporting Period. The Guide from pages 80 to 91 is provided
for cross-referencing purpose.
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STAKEHOLDERS OF THE GROUP

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage the stakeholders to ensure that improvement of the
products and services can be implemented. The Group strongly
believes that the stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the
success of business.

Stakeholders
S60E

Areas of concern
BT EE

rEBzZHENE
AEBEESHEERE UTRREFHEE
B RRTNEERRRY  AEEREREEY
EBHEDBRYMEALEEAE.

Communication and responses
EEREE

Stock Exchange
B 22 P
Government
B

Suppliers
HER

Investors

60

Compliance with GEM Listing Rules, and timely and
accurate announcements.
BFGEM E TR A A @ s B AE o

Compliance with laws and regulations, prevention
of tax evasion, and social welfare.
BTERRER BEABREEEN -

Payment schedule and stable demand.
NREERREBERRK

Corporate governance, business strategies and
performance, and investment returns.

TEER EHRBRRAANLKEDR-

R

Meetings, training, website updates and
announcements.
g Bl -WBHEHFRAE

Interaction and visits, government inspections,
tax returns and other information.
B REH BNEE BHEREMER-

Site visits.
RBLE -

Interviews, Shareholders’ meetings, financial
reports and operational reports for investors,
media and analysts.

H#X BRRAEG MEEE H#Hig
Mg mEREERE -
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Stakeholders
50E

RE-HHBKREIRY

Areas of concern
BT EE

R

Communication and responses
B KB E

Media & Public

Customers

Employees

7l
i

community

it lE

Corporate governance, environmental protection
and human rights.
TEER RRMAE-

Product and service quality, delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value and personal data
protection.

EmkiGEE INKHEEK GRBER REEEB
FABNERHRE -

Rights and benefits, employees’ compensation,
training and development, working hours, working
environment, labour protection and work safety.
RN REN EEME B RER - IR TER
B -BIRBRIELZ-

community environment, employment and
community development, and social welfare.

HERR BEMEBEERAMEE AL -

Company’s announcements, quarterly, interim
and annual reports.
RARAZRE FH-PRMRFR-

After-sales services.

Training, interviews with employees, internal
memoranda, and employees’ suggestion boxes.

-

HESm% APBTELEEERME-

Community activities, employee voluntary
activities and community welfare subsidies and
donations.

HEESH - EEELRIUEMERAZENRE

-
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL
overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group consisted of five
principal business segments:

e Financial Technology Services Business
Engages in the provision of financial technology
services, such as credit facilitation and post-origination
services

o Apartment Leasing Business
Engages in the management of apartment leasing for
property owners and lessees

o Lottery Business
Engages in the development of computer systems and
provision of technical consultancy services in the PRC

e Sports Training Business
Engages in the provision of sports training services

. Smart Wearable Device Business’
Engaged in the research, development and sale of
smart wearable devices

& Closed in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Sustainable environment is the foundation for long-term
economic and social prosperity. Therefore, the Group
prioritizes environmental protection and strives to mitigate
any undesirable impact on the environment.

In order to achieve this, the Group closely monitors the rates
of emissions, waste generation and resources consumption
to achieve the environmental goals of the Group.
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The Group strives to adhere to its policies of engaging
responsible outsourcers that minimize the total emission
of greenhouse gases, waste generated and resources
consumed. No production activity is currently engaged by
the Group, hence, direct total emission of greenhouse gases,
waste generated and resources consumed by the Group are
limited.

compliance and Grievance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all
relevant environmental laws and regulations that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to, the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC ( (/P #E AR £
MERER#EL) ) and Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the PRC ( {2 A R HEFMBIKIFEFIAE) ).
During the Reporting Period, no confirmed non-compliance
incidents or grievances were noted by the Group in relation
to environmental issues.

A1. Emissions

Since there is no stationary or mobile source that
combust fuels owned or controlled by the Group, no
air emission is generated during the course of its
daily operations. However, the Group has generated
greenhouse gases through indirect emissions from the
consumption of electricity and disposal of waste paper
at landfills.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group produced 49.64
tonnes of Carbon Dioxide (2018: 70.32 tonnes). As a
result of the Group's effort and the downsizing of the
Shenzhen office, the Group has reduced approximately

BEREHM

REEE - NEBEELET49.648B —F
{EH (20184 : 70.32M ) - A AN &£ F
AR WHRBIRIIFAE ZRE
WO R EE A #929.01%8) — &AL 1% - BE

29.41% of Carbon Dioxide produced. Details of the BEBEHRT X
emissions are shown in the following table:
KPI A1.2
BRENEEA
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BEREEHNE
Emission
Emission Indicators Source 2019 2018 Type 2019 2018
HHER KR 2019% 20185 HHER 2019% 20185
Scope 2: Energy Indirect Emissions
HE BREF#N
Unit of electricity consumed 55,866.38 KWh ~ 83,599.41 kWh Carbon ~ 47.53 tonnes 68.75 tonnes
Dioxide
HRENEN 55,866.38 TRk 8359941 TR —&ibh 47.53% 68.75
Scope 3: Other Indirect Emissions
HE RUtE##N
Scope 3A - Paper waste disposed at -~ Weight of paper disposed 440.00 kg 326.60 kg Carbon 2.11 tonnes 1.57 tonnes
landfills Dioxide
HEBA-HEE/BHEE EEMVER 440.002 fr 326,607 —&ibh 2,118 1.578
Total amount of Carbon Dioxide produced during the Reporting Period: 49.64 tonnes 70.32 tonnes
REEHEMEE 2 —aLBREE: 49.641 70.321%
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
The Group does not produce any hazardous waste
during the course of its daily operations.

Non-hazardous wastes are mainly office-use paper. To
minimize the adverse environmental impact caused
by the disposal of paper, the Group has adopted the
use of eco-friendly paper and promoted the use of
double-sided printing. For any single-sided printing,
the relevant paper should be reused under the
circumstances that no confidential information is
printed on one side of the paper. The Group aspires
to move towards paperless operations through the
implementation of electronic administrative platforms
and communication channels.

The wastes produced during the Reporting Period are
detailed in the following table:

KPI A1.4
BREMEEAL

EERBEZERY
AEEREAFEEBRRETURELL
MEEERD-

BEBEEVIZERRAAK -REE
EREMELEZTNREZERER
1K - AN B fE RIRRAR N B ]
Ji o e {7 B8 T ED /Rl AR OR XY SR BB M T
B ARER - AEEEBERET
THRFeBMERE REERERE
78 o

RBEMREEZBEYR TRFI

Waste Indicators Source 2019 2018
BENEE IR 20195 20184

0.013 tonnes 0.0060 tonnes
Non-hazardous waste produced per capita Paper per capita per capita
ANOFEAEEREEY R A190.0130F A190.0060M8
Total Non-hazardous waste produced Paper 0.44 tonnes 0.3266 tonnes
FTEABREZEEYAS R 0.441 0.3266MA

During the Reporting Period, the increase in the non-
hazardous waste produced per capita is mainly due
to the decrease in staff number and the launch of the
physical office. The Group is not aware of any material
cases of non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes during the Reporting Period.

RSB AGFELEEEREYIE
MEBHRETABMTREEBAERR
NERR - AEBIL TABR RS HMHE
BENARELREREFTERM L
RMERZERTARER-
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A2. Use of Resources A2. ERERA
Energy and Water Consumption BER R AEFE

Environmental sustainability is the key to the long-
term development of the Group. Thus, the Group
always aspires to promote sustainability and strives to
minimize resources wastage. The Group has established
the “Smart Usage of Electricity, Water and Paper Rules”
to promote efficient resources consumption. The
aforementioned rules have set out clear guidelines on
adopting green practices, including but not limited to
energy saving, water saving and paper saving.

During the Reporting Period, 55,866.38 kWh of
electricity (2018: 83,599.41 kWh) and 496.72 cubic
metres of water (2018: 642.35 cubic metres) (notes)
were consumed by the Group. The decrease in the total
electricity and water consumption is a result of the
downsizing of Shenzhen office. The electricity and water
consumption intensities are detailed in the following
table:

KPI A2.1 & 2.2
BREMEEA2.1%2.2

REAFKELERAEERAER ZH
oA AEEBREHES A FHER
B -UBNBERIERRE-AKE
ERZCAEREAEN KEERR
B1) - LAe S MERIBERE - L 55 RI
HAEETRREBZEMES BFEE
TRREE IR - K R AR

RSB NEE B JE#£55,866.38F
FLBF & 7 (20184 : 83,599.41F B &)
}496.7251 75 KK & (20184 : 642.35
SAK) (i) -BAEERAKETHR
TR ERURYI AR 2 RIBFTE - 7
BERHEKERERTERF:

Use of Resources Indicators source 2019 2018
BERFEREE IR 20194 20184
1,692.92 kWh 1,778.71 kWh

Consumption per capita Electricity per capita per capita
AEHEE EW)| A51,692.92F B A1,778 71T R
15.05 cubic 13.67 cubic

Water metres per capita metres per capita

Vs A$915.053 A K A913.6731 15 2K
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Notes:

(1 For the period after the office in Shenzhen closed and up
to the end of the Reporting Period, no electricity and water
consumption records was taken into account.

(2) As our business operation in Hangzhou shares the office with 51
Credit Card and there is no separate meter for individual office
unit, the relevant electricity and water usage data are taken
account in the ESG Report of 51 Credit Card.

) For the Hong Kong office located in Admiralty, relevant water
consumption fees are included in the rental fees, therefore the
figures disclosed have excluded water consumption at the Hong
Kong office.

(4) Reasonable assumption was made for incomplete records (i.e.
using consumption average of other months).

(5) Affected by the outbreak of novel coronavirus epidemic, only
partial data relating to Wuhan office could be collected.

The Group has implemented the following measures to
reduce the usage of electricity and raw materials:

o turn off air-conditioners and lights during non-
office hours and/or in idle rooms;

o turn off unused lighting and appliances to reduce
energy consumption;,

o regularly maintain office equipment such as air-
conditioners, computers and lights, etc,

o educate employees on energy saving; and

o reuse office supplies, such as paper and paper
clips.

The Group does not have any issue in sourcing water, and the
existing supply of water meets the daily operational needs.
Water consumption by the Group is minimal, which mainly
serves the purpose of basic cleaning and sanitation. In order
to reduce water wastage, the Group actively promotes water
conservation awareness among the employees. For instance,
staff members are reminded to tightly turn off the faucets
after use.
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SOCIAL
overview

The key to the Group's success depends on a strong team
of committed and innovative talents. The Group focuses
on building a harmonious working environment for all
employees and providing various training opportunities in
order to attract, motivate and retain talents.

Compliance and Grievance

As a responsible employer, the Group complies with all
relevant employment laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on it, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the PRC ( {Fr#E A R H M E &
%) ) and Labor Contract Law of the PRC ( {2 A R HE ME
284 RA) ) and Production Safety Law of the PRC ( (FF &
ARKFMBZ2EEE) ).

B1. Employment

The Group has established internal policies in
accordance with the relevant labour laws and
regulations related to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare, employment development
and training, child and forced labour.

To ensure that the Group's key policies are clearly
and consistently communicated to the employees, the
Group has established an “Employees’ Handbook”,
which details the rights of the employees, such as
working hours, leave entitlements and other benefits
and welfare. Each employee is provided with a copy
of the “Employees’ Handbook” when he/she joins the
Group.
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The Team

The Group believes that a diversified and cohesive team
is indispensable to the success of business. The Group
strives to ensure that the recruitment process is fair
and without any discrimination.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had a total of 33
employees (2018: 54 employees).

The breakdowns of the Group's workforce by gender,
age group, employment type and region are as follows:
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During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover
rates are as follows:

KPI B1.2
BRENIEEB.2

RBEMEAZBERREMNT :

Employee Turnover Rates ESmAE
By Gender ZMHE
Male St
Female Z
By Age BEEB
<25 <25
25-29 25—29
30 -39 30—39
40 - 49 40—49
> 50 > 50
By Region B E
PRC H
HK o

Welfare and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable
remuneration policy, adhering to the principles of
fairness, incentive and legality. For effective human
resources management, the Group offers rewards (e.g.
promotion) and inflicts punishments (e.g. warning and
dismissal) according to the employees’ performance
and conduct.

Employees are entitled to all statutory holidays, leave
and welfare as stipulated in the national and local
laws and regulations, including but not limited to paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave
and annual leave.

In addition, the Group believes that maintaining a good
work-life balance is vital to the employees’ physical
and mental health. Thus, employees are never forced to
work overtime.
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working
environment where employees are treated equally
and respectfully. All employees are assessed and
remunerated based on their skills and competencies
irrespective of their race, religion, gender, age and
disability. Through the enforcement of the policy of
prohibiting discrimination and harassment, the Group
strives to create a workplace free of bullying, belittling
and sexual harassment.

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to providing a safe working
environment for all employees. Occupational health and
safety of employees are always the Group's top priority.
The Group makes every effort to minimize potential
occupational hazards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
the relevant laws and regulations in regard to health
and safety, including but not limited to the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases ( {F E A R H A
B EmBIaE) ).

During the Reporting Period, no work-related fatality
and lost days due to work injury were recorded by the
Group.

The Group has implemented the following practices to
create and maintain a comfortable, safe and healthy
working environment for the employees:

o provide sufficient lights at workplace;

o ensure the proper use of personal protective
equipment at work;

o prohibit smoking in the workplace; and

o conduct regular safety inspections.
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In case any employee encounters any work-related
injuries, the Group will take all necessary measures to
make sure that proper medical care is offered to the
respective employees.

Development and Training

The Group regards employees as the most valuable
asset. Thus, the Group places emphasis on personal
development of the employees. The Group believes
that investing in employees through training will help
promote job satisfaction and staff loyalty. Different
types of training were provided to the employees to
enhance their knowledge and capabilities.

Orientation training sessions are provided to newly
recruited staff members by their respective department
supervisors. The training covers the introduction of the
Group, their own department structure, responsibilities,
required skills and working instructions. Moreover, on-
the-job-training is provided to make sure that all staff
members possess sufficient knowledge and skills to
provide quality services to the customers.

In addition, employees are encouraged to attend
external training courses and seminars in order to
strengthen their knowledge and expertise in relation
to their work. The training seminars and courses
include, but not limited to, updates on GEM Listing
Rules, corporate governance, as well as changes and
development of relevant laws and regulations. Fees
incurred for the courses or seminars are reimbursed by
the Group upon management's approval.

W
JD ¥

R

B3.

TERBERERAF o 2019FFH

fifi 8 B L EEM T AEE B HEIT
ELEEE BRABHEEBRERE
BEEEE-

R KR
rEBEREEAKDEEE Bt K
SEIEREZEAARR AEEM
5 M2 T ARERE - KAEBIE
HAIEREEREIRAHRE -ZETR
BhizEII Rt TRE - AEIMEM
BRIREEEN -

FBHBFIEE TR R AR S TIRHABSE
I-ERREAKSEGN BAEFR
B BE FIRAER TR - thsh -
BREDBIEHARSI UEREEE
TRBRMMBERE REPRHE
B R e

s - B PI B B B 2 i/ BRI JI SRR
KGBEE - B ERTBE TERREAM
BREES - BIREMBEBREETR
RGEMETRA - EERERZEHINUK
HEERIER 2B RERIFN - &
EHEEHER ARRENBEELL
ERBAEERE-

73



74

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
REHHBKREIRY

B4. Labour Standards

B5.

The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the
PRC ((F#E AR HEAMEIZE))L) ), Labor Contract Law
of the PRC ( (h#E AR L FIBI & &4 RJE) ) and other
related labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong and
the PRC to prohibit employment of any child and forced
labour.

Recruitment process of the Group is subject to a
stringent internal review process that includes verifying
personal information of applicants. For instance, the
recruitment department collects the identity proof
from candidates to ensure that their age fulfil the
requirements as stipulated by the law.

The employment of forced and child labour is strictly
prohibited. During the Reporting Period, all employees
were over the age of 18, and had been properly
employed in accordance with the requirements of all
applicable laws and regulations. No confirmed non-
compliance incidents or grievances were noted by the
Group.

Supply Chain Management

The Group places emphasis on its supply chain
management. In addition to improving cost
competitiveness, the Group also values the
sustainability of its supply chain. The Group supports
the purchase of environmentally-friendly products
to minimize the environmental impact caused by its
business operations. The Group also closely cooperates
with the suppliers to maintain the quality of products
and services provided to the customers.
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The Group’s “Purchases Control Process and
Management Rules” and “Administration Procurement
Management Policy” clearly set out guidelines on
the performance of competitive bidding and vendor
appraisals. Under the policy, quotations from more than
one supplier are required to be sought for comparisons
to ensure the fairness of supplier vetting. Moreover, the
Group closely monitors the performance of the existing
suppliers and selects new vendors based on defined
criteria, such as quality, delivery time and cost, etc.
Approved suppliers are evaluated on a regular basis
by the respective purchasing departments to ensure
that the quality of products and services that the Group
purchases is up to standard. Suppliers who are not
up to standard for a prolonged period of time will be
disqualified.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not carry
out any manufacturing activities, and thus, no major
purchases were made from suppliers.

Product Responsibility

The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations relating to product responsibility that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap. 26
of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Product Quality Law of
the PRC ((PEARLMBEEREE%X) ), Law of the
PRC on the Protection of Customer Rights and Interests
((REARAEMEEEE#RREE) ) and Tort Law of
the PRC ((HFEARLMEREEEFZE) ).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and services provided.
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Quality Assurance

The Group aspires to improve its brand reputation
by ensuring the quality of products and services. In
order to minimize product liability risk, the Group has
established the “Product Quality Assurance Process” to
ensure that the products strictly adhere to the internal
quality standards. In the event of product failure not
caused by improper use, the Group would recall the
products and provide refund to customers. Moreover,
customers are offered with other value-added services,
including product warranty and after-sales services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety or health
reasons.

Complaints Handling Procedures

Customers’ opinions and feedback help to drive
continuous improvement of the Group and are vital
to its pursuit of excellence. Various communication
channels (e.g. via website and customer service hotline)
have been established, aiming to better address
customers’ concerns.

The Group makes every effort to promptly investigate
and resolve all disputes and complaints lodged by the
customers. A “Complaint Handling Policy” has been
established to ensure that all customer complaints
can be properly handled. All complaints received are
handled by the customer service team. Upon the
receipt of a complaint, the responsible personnel will
investigate into the matter and appropriate action will
be taken in a timely manner.
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Personal Data Privacy

In order to build customer trust and loyalty, the
Group has established measures to reduce the risk
of employees leaking confidential information to
outsiders.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of customers’
personal data for any purposes other than what have
been stated in the customer contracts. If any employee
who has been discovered of misappropriating
customers’ private data, the Group will take disciplinary
action against the employee concerned and reserve its
right to legal action.

Moreover, non-disclosure agreements are signed by
all employees of the Group to ensure that they are
aware of their legally binding obligations of protecting
confidential information of the Group.

Furthermore, the Group maintains information
technology systems with high level of security
to prevent unauthorized access to confidential
information. Operating systems, security programs
and hardware are updated on a regular basis so as to
protect customer information from hackers.
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Intellectual Property Rights

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all laws and regulations related to intellectual property
rights in Hong Kong and the PRC that have a significant
impact on it, including but not limited to the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
Trademark Law of the PRC ( (P ZEAREFIEEIZE) )
and Copyright Law of the PRC ( {fF 2 A R A0 B3 1E4E
ED ).

The Group acts proactively to enforce intellectual
property rights third-party infringers. The Group has
established the “Intellectual Property Management
Policy” to ensure that its intellectual property is
closely monitored and adequately protected. The
legal department is responsible for identifying any
unauthorized use of its trademarks by third-parties.
Legal actions will be taken in due course upon
identification of any trademark infringements.

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all relevant laws and regulations relating to prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap.
405 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Organized and
Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and Criminal Law of the PRC ( {#Z#E AR
FMBEFE)Y ) and Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
((REAREMBIRESEE) ).

The Group does not support, nor does it tolerate any
corrupt practice and payment or receipt of bribes
for any purpose. All employees are strictly prohibited
to abuse their power and/or take advantage of their
position for personal gain.
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The “Employees’ Handbook” of the Group clearly sets
out guidelines for the acceptance of gifts. As stipulated
by the “Employees’ Handbook”, all employees are
required to exercise caution and judgment when
accepting gifts. Gifts should not be accepted if they are
of a value higher than RMB300 (or equivalent).

Moreover, “Anti-corruption Management Policies”
clearly sets out the procedures and channels for
reporting corruption and fraud cases. As stipulated in
the policies, all employees should immediately report
any suspected fraud cases. After a potential fraud case
is being reported, investigation is to be conducted with
due care. An investigation report is to be prepared and
submitted to the Board. For any proven fraud case,
punishment will be inflicted pursuant to the policies.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption and money
laundering cases were noted or reported.

. Community Investment

The Group understands the importance of giving
back to the society. In order to contribute to a more
sustainable and harmonious society, the Group
encourages the employees to take part in community
services.

Children are the pillars of society in the future. The
Group believes that investing in children is one of the
most effective means of propagating and sustaining
community developments. During the Reporting Period,
apart from the donation to Oxfam Hong Kong, the
Group has organized a balloon modelling workshop and
Chinese New Year celebration party for the children
staying at Po Leung Kuk Home. Gifts were delivered on
the occasion, with an aim of sharing happiness and
festive joy with the children.
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT

INDEX B#5
Part A: Environmental FER: IRIE
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
BE -HEREREE HEES B
A1. Emissions
Al. HHKY
Information on the policies and compliance with Overview, Compliance
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant and Grievance, Emissions,
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse Hazardous and Non-
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and hazardous Wastes
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
FAERRRERBHN RKRTHEEES BER B SHRBRF BN
BEEREVNEESTNRERETHETABERY W BEREBEEEEYD
Z2NRBEEELBOINER -
KPI'A1.1
The types of emissions and respective emission data. N/A No air emission is
generated during the
course of the Group’s
operations.
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where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX (Continued)

ESG Aspects
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Related Section(s)
HEE

A1. Emissions (Continued)

Al #HHY (&)
KPI'A1.5
Description of measures to mitigate emissions and
results achieved.
BB BUBIEALS
U B ENEE RS R-
KPI'A1.6
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results
achieved.
BB AEIRAL
HEEEERBEEEEMNTE HEEEEMNER
REGR R

A2. Use of Resources

A2. BREH
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.
BERERER (BER KEEMRMR) BBEER -
KPI'A2.1
Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BB TUEEA2.1
REMNESHEER LEEER (NS - [slh) 2
HE(UTETESAE) REE (HASESE M
BIERBE) °
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Emissions, Use of
Resources

B ERER

Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes

Use of Resources

BIRER

Use of Resources

BIRER
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ESG Aspects
BE HERERER

BMXRE e REAREESA
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Related Section(s) Remarks
EBEE BT

A2. Use of Resources (Continued)

A2. BREA (&
KPI A2.2
Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

BB B IR 1R A2.2
BEKEREE (MAGESSEMN - -§18

+H) .

ok

il

5

KPI'A2.3
Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and
results achieved.

B8 4 A8 I 1R A2.3
i BE R A AR ER A B AT AR

KPI'A2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
initiatives and results achieved.

BB S IR IRA2.4
F 2 SREGE KR £ A1 0 R - DA RAR T ARk e
EIMFT AR

KPI'A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

BB 4B I 1R A2.5
HRmAABRMHNEE (AE) X (ER) &
EEBMNGE-

Use of Resources

BIREMA

Use of Resources

BRER

Use of Resources

&R

N/A No packaging material is
used during the course of
the Group's operations.

i A REFEEEREPBESE

R BRI -
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Remarks
B

Related Section(s)
HEE

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources

A3 BERXAEIR

84

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.

BEBTAHRERRABEREREAZENER -

KPI' A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

B B 4B IR 1R A3
WAEKEBHHRREERAREBRNEATE N KRR
EEBMTENTD-

Overview, Emissions, Use
of Resources

BB -y BRER

Overview, Emissions, Use
of Resources

BB B BRER
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Part B. Social

ESG Aspects
RIE - HEREREE

BMXRE e REAREESA

BRI (&)

2H g
Related Section(s) Remarks
HEEER B

B1. Employment

B1. E1E
Information on the policies and compliance
with laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BERH N E BERE  TERE - RE FEK
g 2t R A R E A 8 K A8 F e B N8 7
HBETABERZENHBERZNIROINEFR -

KPI'B1.1
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region.

BB B 1R B
R EERL FiRAN KBS S NESEH-

KPI'B1.2
Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

B 4R MR 1B .2
IR AR R RS e B AL -

Overview, Compliance
and Grievance,
Employment

ME - EHNBF B

Employment — The Team

BIE—HRMZEK

Employment — The Team

BIE—HRMZEK
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ESG ASpeCtS Related Section(s) Remarks

BE HEREAET HEED B

B2. Health and Safety
B2. #FEHL S
Information on the policies and compliance with Health and Safety
laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FRRELZETIERERRBEEMEBELEEN EEEZ S
WERETHRETABERZENEREEZRRMNL

Akt

KPI B2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety

7R B2 45 NI 1R B 2.1

EATEEAEMBTHASB R - fEmeL 2
KPI B2.2
Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety

RA R 4B B 1EB2.2

ATEBEXTERH- fERET %

KPI B2.3

Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented and

monitored.

BB AERUETEB2.3

TR AR B R R R 2 A MBI IT R B fEmmL 2
RFE
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ESG ASpeCtS Related Section(s) Remarks

BE HEREAET HEED B

B3. Development and Training

B3. %@ R %3
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Development and Training
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.

BRARITEE BT TEBE OB R BB BUR - TR NI

HIES -

KPI B3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and N/A Recommended disclosure
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle only

management).

B B2 48 AR 12 B3
B REERERN (NERERE TREEES)E iE A EEERE
DHEIEEBED L -

KPI B3.2

The average training hours completed per employee N/A Recommended disclosure
by gender and employee category. only

4 48 UIE 12 B3.2

rURREEBRRE D §REETKIINFHE A BRBEWE

g o

B4. Labour Standards

B4. % T2A
Information on the policies and compliance with laws Labour Standards
and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

EEM L EIRAANSIHRERETHRTAGE  STEA
FE AR RAPIER -
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ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
BE - HEREREE HEIEE B
B4. Labour Standards (Continued)
B4. #TER (&)
KPI B4.1
Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
8§ 4B U 15 B4.1
MR BB RNEEARSET REH|& T B TR
KPI B4.2
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices N/A Recommended disclosure
when discovered. only
BB B 1EB4.2
MR ER BN HRE BB RETHIRA PR - 3 EEZEEE
B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. (REHEEFE
Policies on managing environmental and social risks Supply Chain
of the supply chain. Management
EIRMESE A IRE RS R BRBUR HEEEE
KPI B5.1
Number of suppliers by geographical region. N/A Recommended disclosure
only
8 2 48 U 1EB5.1
R RE S EREE - 3 EEZEEE
KPI B5.2
Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply Chain
number of suppliers where the practices are being Management
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.
B 48 WUIE 12 B5.2
B EEAEEROIED  mENTTE BB A HE e g B IR
e UREBEMNNNITRER -
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ESG Aspects
RE -HERERER

BMXRE e REAREESA

BRI (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
EEBEE B

Bé6. Product Responsibility

B6. EmEF
Information on the policies and compliance with laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and method of redress.

FRMRTEERNRENEEE LS BS REKRL
BEEULRERITDENBRRLETHRETATEAY

ENHABEARRRPIHEH

KPI B6.1
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

B 5 45 AR 12 B6.1
CEXRCEXERERTEL 2 EEFIERAMADK
MBEDL -

KPI B6.2
Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BB B 1R B6.2
EEBANERMREORFEBEAREBHIT A

KPI B6.3
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

BB A 15863
Tt B R A B E A R HE D -

Product Responsibility

e
o
\U]]I'H
[mm

Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance

EmBET-EBEERE

Product Responsibility
— Complaints Handling
Procedures

EREET-RFRERRF

Product Responsibility
— Intellectual Property
Rights

ERBEET-MBER
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RE - HEREREER

BXARE 8 RERKREEIR
BREL| (&)
Related Section(s) Remarks

HEEH e

Bé.
Bé.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
EmEF (&)

KPI B6.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

BB BB 1EB6.4
HilEERTRERERBKERF-

KPI B6.5
Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.

BB B IR 1RB6.5
R B EERRERALERE  UEBERTRER
bz

B7. Anti-corruption

B7.

90

RES

Information on the policies and compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

BRAR LR B MEF ROAE MR 8
ABERTFENME Eﬁ&i@&%ﬁfﬁﬂﬁ’ﬂéﬁﬂ

STHETT

KPI B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

BA 82 48 MR 1R B7.1
RESHEHALBTASEEEREIERENE)S
RARMWBE RFDRER-

Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance

EmEE—

EERE

Product Responsibility —
Personal Data Privacy

EmBEE-—BAERLE

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption
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ESG Aspects
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BMXRE e REAREESA
BR5| (&)

Remarks
Bk

Related Section(s)
HEEH

B7. Anti-corruption (Continued)
B7. RE)S (&)

BS.
BS.

KPI B7.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.

B8 42 4B B 1EB7.2
AP e e R BRE T AR BB ITRER A

community investment

HERE

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates
and to ensure that its activities take into consideration
the communities’ interests.

BHNHE2ERTRETACENELRFTEMME
REXBEHEE BHRNENHEE -

KPI B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).

38 452 48 IR 15B8.1
HIEREE (NHE REFE SIFR BE X

t-858)-

KPI B8.2
Resources contributed (e.g2. money or time) to the
focus area.

B B2 45 N 1515 B8.2
EEIBREMBAER (NEeRAKH) -

Anti-corruption

community Investment

HRIEE

community Investment

5

Al

>

X

L

N/A Recommended disclosure
only

EZHEE

MERBERERAT o 2019FFH 91



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
15 U it B $h S

@ pakertilly
R B [ B

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 102 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a-basis for-our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRAREXER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RIEZRMAOBEHE  BREZSEABRMATERN
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the AHEMNGEVERETRESNEE -HMESE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These #ZiFABMEHRER MM ER S R RIE L ZEIE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the MAEMILEEHEEFHERER -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Revenue recognition on provision of financial technology services

1R E B SR B W 5 757

The Key audit matter
BEREZSBE

The Group maintains sophisticated information
technology (“IT") systems in financial technology
services business in order to track the service provision
for each transaction. The calculation of the service
charge is performed by the IT systems based on pre-
defined key parameters, including service charge rates.
Revenue from financial technology services highly relies
on the information generated from such IT systems.
ESERERMMEREEBTRABENEARKR([E
AR RRNEMEER FHRBREMR - IREE R
BB EAREREEREZTEL2 B (RIERBEX)
FE-RESRBMERBHRESEFBZEEMRKR
MEEZER-

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMEERTEEBEEERSBENL Z

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition on
provision of financial technology services included:
BRI ES BB ERBO RS ERETNRF B

o Utilising IT specialists to assess the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
management’s general IT controls and key application
controls over the Group’s IT systems which govern
revenue recognition, including access controls,
controls over program changes, interfaces between
different systems and key manual internal controls
OVer revenue recognition;

o FRAEARBRERAHEEELY BEEEHER=ERE
ROEARE RGN —REAB R IE 6 R AR ERE
fl (BfEEEG - B EEEG AR Rz EaE
B RS H =R ER A TRIIESIE) /9&ET
B R E R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continueq)
AEBEREE (&)

Revenue recognition on provision of financial technology services (Continued)

BREBAFIRFE B W ot B (F)

The Key audit matter
BEREZSHE

We have identified revenue recognition on provision
of financial technology services as a key audit matter
because a significant portion of the Group’s revenue was
derived from provision of financial technology services.

BPBRESRBEERBO KR EEREIFEAREZSIE
RET ESERRIHWREEESRESEBBHE R -

In addition, due to the significant volume of transactions
and heavy reliance on the IT systems, minor errors
could, in aggregate, have a material impact to the
consolidated financial statements.

N BRRSGEERUARHEARB RSN S EFRE -
BRI R A RR A R B RRENERTE -

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EMESRTEEFARERSEENT E

Understanding the business process of the financial
technology services business;
BRemi RS EBNEKEF

Inspecting the key terms and conditions of contracts
with customers and major business partners to
assess if there were any terms and conditions that
may have affected the accounting treatment of the
related revenue,
REEEPREREBEHSANETEZRR RGNS
LARHE R DR fe s BN A G5 R IE A 1
TR A&

Performing analytical procedures on credit referral
and service fee revenue by developing an expectation
using independent inputs and information generated
from the Group's IT systems and comparing such
expectations with recorded revenue; and
BABABYHEER EXEEANEEREENE
RHETT TR B0 A5 1t 78 AR B T 8315 e EFT LU B - DAI(E
ENBERBERSEETONER: &

Performing substantive testing on accounting and
financial records.
Hert kM BaEETEE AR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continueq)
BREREE (&)

Assessing impairment of contract assets and quality assurance fund receivables and recognition of

financial guarantee liabilities

TEENEERBEREBRETHBEUAREZYBEREE

The Key audit matter
BREZSE

Assessing impairment of contract assets and quality
assurance fund receivables (together “receivables”)
and recognition of financial guarantee liabilities are
the subjective areas due to the level of judgement
exercised by management in determining the amount of
impairment allowances and financial guarantee liabilities
required.
HRERERETCHTREREBERMBERABENSER
FIEL HIETRK T SIEENEEREREERER (54
BIEWREBDNRERERYBEREBEBER XHAE
35 o

From the Group’s perspective, the receivables portfolios
and guarantees which give rise to the greatest
uncertainty are typically those where impairment
losses or financial guarantee liabilities are derived
from individual cash flow assessments and collective
assessment models.

B OESEmMES BURFBEAERERBERZSRERS
B BEREEREMEMNRERETH L ERBTME
REMTEE &K -

Individual impairment losses and financial guarantee
liabilities are estimated by management considering
objective evidence of impairment. Management
exercises judgement in determining the quantum of
loss based on a range of factors. These include available
remedies for recovery, the financial situation of the
borrower, and the collection measures applied by the
Group.
ERREBEEIRMBEREBEHEEERBEERER
BETHF -EEERE—RIEARELHEREENHE-
ZEAZBFEAIFMAOKFERT R - BERADT RS
NE BEEEHFEANKFTIEES-

How the matter was addressed in our audit
AP EBERTEEEEERSTENT X

Our procedures to assess the impairment of receivables
and recognition of financial guarantee liabilities included:
B EENRIBRELR RN GEREAENEFEE:

° Assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key controls over the approval,
recording and monitoring of loans and receivables
and guarantees, the credit grading process, the
collection process and the measurement of
individual impairment losses and financial guarantee
liabilities. For the key underlying systems used for
the processing of transactions in above process,
we utilised IT specialists to assess the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of
general controls and application controls, including
controls over access to these systems and controls
over data and change management;

o FHEHEER BURRIBEREROEL D REE-
EAFTAGRIE « WFBIE DA R (B R R E B 18 &k B IS 5 R
BEFENHEREHNRGT BEBIEBBE - HNE
LHERETFAREERZNBEEBRRS RMFAE
FARHE R PR T — AR R fE RS RRET - BE &
BEWE  RREHZERSEESAREEH® RS
B)E B AT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continueq)
AEBEREE (&)

Assessing impairment of contract assets and quality assurance fund receivables and recognition of

financial guarantee liabilities (Continued)

FEENEEREREEBREZHHEUREZYBEREE (E)

The Key audit matter
BRERSZE

The determination of the collective impairment losses
on receivables and recognition of financial guarantee
liabilities is heavily dependent on the external macro
environment and the Group’s internal credit risk
management strategy. The Group's collective impairment
losses and financial guarantee liabilities are derived from
estimates including the Group's historical losses for
loans and receivables and other adjustment factors.
JERFIBENEERESELET LM BERAGZER
RARIBE LEUARINBREIRE R ESENANIEER
RERKREE - BESBEMNEABEBEMTBEREEHR
REEMEF - B1EF ESEERRERFIBNELEIRE
TUA R E At B E % o

We identified impairment losses on receivables and the
recognition of financial guarantee liabilities as a key
audit matter because of the inherent uncertainty and
management judgement involved and because of their
significance to the financial results of the Group.
MRPREETEEHEREEEN B REY S£EH
BEENEZMW  BMHEBFIBERESERVBERE
BEERBN RERETEIE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
RMEERTEEEEERSENG L

Comparing the total balances of the loans list, which
contain information used by management to assess
impairment losses and financial guarantee liabilities,
with the general ledger and comparing individual
loans and related service fee information, on a sample
basis, with the underlying loan agreements and other
related documentation to assess the presentation of
the information in the loan and related service fee list;
HeS R BREREENRHE ETPEEEEER
REHERERE MM BEREENER  AREEEE
Stpad K E Ath AR B SO LA R 5 L BB B E 3R 48
BARGEERUTFHEERNBEARGEEEPHER
A

Ho

Performing credit review procedures for the sample
of loans and receivables and guarantees selected
as mentioned above, which included reviewing
the customers’ historical records and evaluating
management’ s assessment of the amount of
impairment, considering the viability of the Group's
recovery plans, and considering other sources of
repayment asserted by management;
HEMEFHNERREBRIBAREROERNETE
BEREEF EEEERPNBTCERTHEREY
BESHENAE &8 E5EBBKEEOATTHE I
ZREEREIR L8 EMERRR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continueq)
BREREE (&)

Assessing impairment of contract assets and quality assurance fund receivables and recognition of
financial guarantee liabilities (Continued)
FRHEEHNEERENEERFLHREUAREBEZYBERERS (&Z)

The Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BREZSE EHEERTRERREERSTENS E

. Evaluating the validity of the models used and
assumptions adopted in management’s calculation
of the collective impairment losses and financial
guarantee liabilities for guarantee losses by critically
assessing input parameters involving subjective
judgement, seeking collaborative evidence from
external sources and comparing historical losses
against the Group’s other internal records. As part
of these procedures, we considered the Group's
revisions to estimates and input parameters, the
consistency of judgement applied in the use of
economic factors and the historical default rates
and loss rates. We compared the economic factors
used in the models to market information to assess
whether they were aligned with market and economic
development. Having considered the above, we
performed re-calculations to assess the amount of
collective impairment losses and financial guarantee
liabilities; and

o RBERETEPREBABORARE - SRREINE
RERBIEBBEUARKBRTEERE BE£BEMNEMA
TR U BB EAS REBERM
BERBENEREBEMRANEL REBROHE R -
ERZERFHN—MH BMEER EEEYZER
T REA SRS - 1T F A B =R FTFE A A BT R
—HMARBTENRRBER - BMEEN R EHAL
EER =AM IS E BETHE U MEESTHEMISE R
REERRF P -KERLMEZRE RMOEHET
FEUFEAEESREBEERVBEREBENEE &

. Assessing the completeness and accuracy of
outstanding financial guarantees by inspecting
contracts, on a sample basis.

o BBUAMESTRRESD  THERBITYBERYTE
MR BT o

MERBERERAT o 2019FFH 97



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
15 U it B $h S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon
("Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
15 U it B b $h

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

] Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 1 % B ¥k 5

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

100

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Gao Yajun.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020

Gao Yajun
Practising certificate number P06391
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
miﬁ D B;()} \‘“_])EEMA%

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=g FH&ERT FHT
(Restated)
(K& )
Revenue W &= 5 71,096 49,966
Cost of sales and services 858 K& AR 7B A AR (19,673) (15,921)
Gross profit EF 51,423 34,045
Other income and (losses)/gains, net HigA K& (E18)
W 588 7 (33,795) 4,398
Administrative expenses THER (15,007) (15,759)
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 8 (2,891) (1,846)
(Loss)/profit before tax BMRBLAT (B51E) R F (270) 20,838
Income tax charge Fris®if X 9 (7,110) (4,932)
(Loss)/profit for the year from REFEREELZ
continuing operations TEE (FB) EF 10 (7,380) 15,906
Loss for the year from discontinued operation  RKEDRIFEEERK 2
REEERE 11 (1,769) (2,969)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (FR),/BEF (9,149) 12,937
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Htt2mE (X)) WA
Items that may be reclassified BEABEEF 7 BZ
subsequently to profit or loss: BamzHEHE:
Exchange differences on translating BMEGIEB  ELERE
foreign operations (1,710) (3,276)
Changes in the fair value of financial asset BEAREBEFAEM
at fair value through other comprehensive 2HRANEREEZ
income BREEEE 10 30
Other comprehensive expense for the year AFEEEMEAAL (1,700) (3,246)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income AEEELH(BX)
for the year LNt (10,849) 9,691
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mﬂi D

B R Hh R D IRAZ

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 F&T FET
(Restated)
($&E5)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THALEN(FER)
i S|
Owners of the Company ZiN/NSIEZF =N
— Continuing operations —HEREEK (3,911) 19,166
— Discontinued operation —ERIEEEER (1,769) (2,969)
(5,680) 16,197
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A 2
- Continuing operations —HEREEK (3,469) (3,260)
(9,149) 12,937
Total comprehensive (expense)/income THATELEZ2E (BX)
attributable to: YA PNt B
Owners of the Company KRABIER A
- Continuing operations —HEREEK (5,576) 16,228
- Discontinued operation —ERIEEEER (1,769) (3,028)
(7,345) 13,200
Non-controlling interests FEE A A 2
- continuing operations —RBEREES (3,504) (3,509)
(10,849) 9,691
(Loss)/earnings per share REFEREERR
from continuing and ERIEREER
discontinued operations SR (E8) &2F 14
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EARREE (FIREMN) (0.12) 0.35
(Loss)/earnings per share REFEREELZ
from continuing operations B8 (FE) BR 14
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) EARREE (FIREM) (0.08) 0.41
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated BE bt 2 Bt miR e B ik 2 K ER 15 o
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
an o B IR it &

As at 31 December 2019  #2019412H31H

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FE T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WERZE 16 6,395 9,964
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 21,476 -
Financial asset at fair value through other BAREEFTAHEM
comprehensive income FHEHRANEREE 18 360 350
Cconcession rights e I A A g 19 = =
28,231 10,314
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 58 20 - 522
Quality assurance fund receivables EE ERES 21 4,710 10,623
Contract assets BREE 22 11,751 23,737
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E b e IE 23 2,501 6,826
Amount due from a non-controlling shareholder fEW—MMB Az —%
of a subsidiary FEPERR IR 2 5RIB 24 6,858 6,978
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary U —ERAENBARZ
RIB 24 445 1,394
Financial assets at fair value through EARBAETFTABREDN
profit or loss TREE 25 - 22,058
Tax recoverable AT 4 [ 77 18 12 =
Restricted cash ZRHR S 26 1,545 6,833
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHER 26 75,791 18,369
103,613 97,340
Current liabilities REAE
Quality assurance fund payables ENEERES 21 20,825 13,688
Trade and other payables 8 5 N H b e 5RIE 27 9,400 10,070
Contract liabilities AHEE 22 126 143
Receipt in advance TEWRIR 1,285 1,094
Lease liabilities MEAE 17 7.923 -
Amount due to an intermediate EA—REPEERAEZ
holding company FIA 24 1,514 598
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder — BN —REKHBRAR Z—%
of a subsidiary FEFERR IR R 2 SRR 24 241 247
Convertible bonds AR ES 28 15,286 -
Current tax liabilities BNEAf IR B & 5,726 3,631
62,326 29,471
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
an o B IR it &

As at 31 December 2019  #2019412H31H

2019 2018
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 3E FET FAT
Net current assets REBEEFE 41,287 67,869
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBAS 69,518 78,183
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEHE 17 16,694 -
Convertible bonds Al ] E FH 28 - 13,768
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIBAE 29 2,489 2,748
19,183 16,516
Net assets BEEFE 50,335 61,667
Capital and reserves EAXREE
Share capital &N 30 23,355 23,355
Reserves i 27,861 35,451
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANR&HEA AEERES 51,216 58,806
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R (881) 2,861
Total equity ERHAE 50,335 61,667
Approved by the Board of Directors and are signed on its behalf KEZet &R TIESRARE:
by:
Sun Haitao Zhao Ke
Director Director
£ EZE
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — B&Mf 2 Bif st B4R A B SR KR 2 AR ER1D ©
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AN AN uBn
ROMARENX
For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A31H L FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARFARR
Financial
asset
at fair value
through
Convertible other Foreign
Share Capital Capital bonds  comprehensive currency Non-
Share premium contribution redemption equity income translation Other  Accumulated controlling
capital acoount reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
ROREE
HALR
ARRES 2ERAH
s RipEER TERE  BABERER EfE CREERR WMERER EibEE 2R it FiERES @it
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FER FEn FEn FEn FEn i i FEn i FER FER FER
Balance at 1 January 2018 ROBF1A1B 2 8
(Original stated) (R251) 2347 3,393,805 9,628 1 16,341 = 18414 (49) (3553,629) 7,658 (282) 7316
Effect on adoption of RAEENBRS RSN VE
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 - - - - - 205 - - = 205 = 205
Balance at 1 January 2018 (Restated) ROI8E1A1A 2 44 (B EF)) 347 3,393,805 9,628 1 16,341 205 18414 (49) (3553,629) 7,863 (282) 7581
Profit for the year RERET o - - - - - - - 16,197 16,197 (3.260) 12,937
Other comprenensive expense for the year REEEMRERR o o - - - kil (3020) - - 290 (249 (3,246)
Total comprehensive income for the year TEE2EHAEE - - - - - kil (3020) - 16,197 13200 (3,509) 9,691
Bxercise of convertible bonds fiETARES 208 9,792 - - (12,408) - - - - 37,59% - 37,59%
Capital contribution over-provision of taxation TA-BEERRAZBRER
of prior year - - 149 - - - - - - 149 - 149
Capital contribution by a non-controling -EHBARNZ-EHBRRRL
shareholder of a subsidiary iy o o o o o o o o o S 6,652 6,652
Balance at 31 December 2018 HOBE12A318 2 &8 23355 3443597 9,171 1 3935 25 15,387 49) (3,537,432 58,806 281 61,667
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GORSEHE
For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRRBEARR
Financial
asset
at fair value
through
Convertible other Foreign
Share Capital Capital bonds comprehensive currency Non-
Share premium  contribution  redemption equity income translation Other  Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
BAMEE
HARR
TRRE 2ERAR
Bx ROEER EERE RABEEE BERE CHEERE MBEXER AR 25 EE At FERER it
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
TR TR TR T TR TR TR TR TR TR a1 FER
Balance at 1 January 2019 RO19E1R1R 2 68
{0rigna sated) (B2 BB 3443597 9,711 1 3935 25 115,387 (9 (3537.432) 58,806 2,861 61,667
Effect on adoption of RREEHBRELUZ 0T HE
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 16 - - - - - - 13 - (258) (245) (238) (483)

Balance at 1 January 2019 Restated) HOSEIA1R 2% (E3) B3 3443597 9777 1 3935 25 115,400 (49) (3,537,690 58,561 2623 61,184

Loss for the year FERBR - - - - - - - - (5,680) (5,680) (3,469) 9,149)

Other comprenensive income/(expense) for the year ZEE R 2EHA/ (Bx) - - - - - 10 (1,675) - - (1,665) (35) (1,700)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year REE2EUA/ (FX) 4% - - - - - 10 (1,675) - (5,680) (7,345) (3,504) (10,849)

Balance at 31 December 2019 HO9ERANA 2 B3I 343597 9711 1 3935 25 113,725 o) (3543370 51,216 (881) 50,335

Notes: B 5

(i) The capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution from an (i) FEREBERERE —HMPRBERABNTEE -
intermediate holding company.

(i) The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the share (i) BAEEEEEARARBRFHENBRAZEE-
capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

(i) The Group has certain debt instrument measured at fair value through (i) AEEHEEETEHRAABEFAEMEZERANEGEST
other comprehensive income. For this instrument, changes in fair value are A-pZIAMS AABEEZHRTREEZANEINR
accumulated within financial asset measured at fair value through other BEFAEMZABRANSREEREN NRERIERE
comprehensive income reserve within equity. The accumulated changes in fair RARHER AABENRFTEHEEZEE -
value are transferred to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

(iv)  Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the  (iv)  HEAbREEERKEIFZERELS BN GEATBRAER K

additional interest in the subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s share of
the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of the acquisition of the non-controlling interests.

BREVBEF B A R REIME R T 2 R B EIE AR s G
ZEERAGBEMEZEE:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

fay e
GRoRENEX
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
cash flows from operating activities REFTEHFABEESRE
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE (BB) 5 F
From continuing operations HECEER (7,380) 15,906
From discontinued operation BRI E TS (1,769) (2,969)
(9,149) 12,937
Adjustments for: ER T SEEL AR :
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss M IEZFHER Z Fr58H 5 52 7,110 4,932
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss RIB & R Z B K 2R 2,891 1,846
Interest income from bank deposits RITHFREF B A (1,047) (178)
Interest income on financial assets through FFABRZEREBEEMNERA
profit or loss (162) (111)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWME WERZE2EBR
equipment 383 420
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1%¥ - MERRHEZITE 2,828 2,357
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 8,302 =
Impairment of property, plant and equipment Y BEREREZBE 231 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE 731 -
Quality assurance fund loss/(gain), net BEERELEE (M=)  FHE 26,519 (3,671)
Written off of other receivables E b 1 R 3k TE 8 67 -
Written down value of inventories FERIE - 609
Impairment of contract assets BHEERE 8,655 2,142
Written off of inventories FEMH 484 145
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables ‘& 5 & H #h jE Y k18 2 B E & 18 - 54
Gain on lease termination ME&KIE W= (144) -
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary I —EB AR s (80) -
Movements in working capital EEESEH 47,619 21,482
Decrease in inventories FERD 35 123
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BAHAEERD (M) 2,738 (27,544)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other B 5 MhEMERFIERL
receivables (&) 3,581 (2,162)
Decrease in amount due fE U — [ & A J] 2 IR
from a related company - 568

JEUW— MR RMEB AR Z
FIER A, () 934 (1,447)
A —RPEERAFZ

Decrease/(increase) in amount due from a
fellow subsidiary
Increase in amount due to an intermediate

holding company FRIFIE AN 916 -
Increase in restricted cash PR I35 & 318 hn (7,946) =
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables & 5 K H b feft3x1E Opid) 58 hn (1) 1,371
Decrease in contract liabilities aHEaERD (17) (54)
Increase in receipt in advance TEUR FRIBLE N 206 1,136
Increase in amount due to a non-controlling Bt —REWEB AR Z —%
shareholder of a subsidiary JE 428 A% A% 3R 2 FRIE 3 N - 256
cash generated from/(used in) operations &E& B, (FFA)EE 48,065 (6,271)
Income tax paid B ATER (5,169) (2,226)

Net cash generated from/(used in) RETERE (FA)RELFE
operating activities 42,896 (8,497)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

molRENE%

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities RETHMEBRLSRE
Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair BRANEBEFTAERD
value through profit or loss SREERD (3G M) 21,950 (22,892)
Interest received 2 F B 1,209 289
Payment for property, plant and equipment ER Y S AN (27) (10,390)
Proceed from disposal of property, HEYE HMERREBREHIE
plant and equipment 2 4
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEHRE (B BR$3E
investing activities 23,134 (32,989)
Cash flows from financing activities RETHMEBRSRE
Capital contribution from a non-controlling — BB AR Y — &I E
shareholder of a subsidiary SEE _ 967
Capital element of lease rentals paid EREERS 2 EARIMD (6,055) =
Interest element of lease rentals paid EREERES MBI HD (1,373) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from BmEEE (FFH) FiendsE
financing activities (7,428) 967
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BHeRBSZ/EMEM
cash equivalents (HD) B 58,602 (40,519)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHNzHERESZE
the beginning of year 18,369 59,173
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ERBEFEE (1,180) (285)
Cash and cash equivalents at FERzHRERBESEE
the end of year 75,791 18,369
Analysis of the balances of cash and BEeRBESZEER N
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER 75,791 18,369
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — B&EMf 2 M3 AR A B HRER 2 RSB ©
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, the
parent company is 51RENPIN.COM INC. (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and the ultimate parent company is
51 Credit Card Inc. (incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
2051). The Company’s ultimate controlling party is Mr. Sun
Haitao, who is also the chairman and an executive director
of the Company. The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company are
disclosed in the corporate information section of the annual
report.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
engaged in financial technology services business, apartment
leasing business, lottery business and sports training
business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

—REHR

PEBBIERERAR ([ARE])IRERS
HERaLE (BB RFASESEMK A
—EXBRBRAT c AR Z RNV E A
ERGABMR AT ([BRZFT]) GEMET - &
£R A EE 2T AS5IRENPIN.COM INC. (7
RERZHSEMKL)  MASKERRA
SMEARERAFR (RAEHEIMK IR
REERZPTER £ RS 2051) « KA
ARNEEERABARBERRATEER
BREE - ARAZAMPREERESEE
EEMB I RARFR [ ATER] —&H

o

HE2019F12A31B L FE - A2 A R EH
BAA (GBAIAEEKRESHBEMR
BER NBHEEL FEXEBREFIR
E R

REMBHRRUAARB 2EEEET ([E
L) IR

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2019:

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Annual Improvement to HKFRS Standards 2015 -
2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

HK(IFRIC) -
Treatments

Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

The Group had to change its accounting policies as
a result of adopting HKFRS 16. The Group elected to
adopt the new rules retrospectively but recognised the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard
on 1 January 2019. Most of the other amendments
listed above did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

112

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(a) New and amended standards adopted

by the Group (Continueq)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 Leases
retrospectively from 1 January 2019, but has not
restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period,
as permitted under the specific transition provisions in
the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments
arising from the new leasing rules are therefore
recognised in the opening consolidated statement
of financial position on 1 January 2019. The new
accounting policies are disclosed in note 3(e).

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the
principles of HKAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were
measured at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1 January 2019 ranged from 2.74% to
4.90%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STAN

DARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continueqd)

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(i)

Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time, the Group
has used the following practical expedients
permitted by the standard:

. Applying a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics;

o Relying on previous assessments on whether
leases are onerous as an alternative to
performing an impairment review;

o Excluding initial direct costs for the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the
date of initial application; and

. Using hindsight in determining the lease
term where the contract contains options to
extend or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess
whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the
date of initial application. Instead, for contracts
entered into before the transition date the Group
relied on its assessment made applying HKAS
17 and Interpretation 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2 FEAFERKLETEBIBER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HZ A (FE%M’%%&%EEM)
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued) (&)

(a) New and amended standards adopted (a) NEEMBAHEIZ R KIEETER
by the Group (Continued) (&)
(ii) Measurement of lease liabilities (i) HEEEHTE
2019
HK$'000
FET
Operating lease commitments disclosed M2018F 12 A3 B RIEE B G
under HKAS 17 as at 31 December 2018 R FE17HRBENLE SRR 31,888
Less: short-term leases not recognised as a liability 78 : AR AEEHNEHAE (375)
Less: low-value leases not recognised as a liability &l kERABENEKEEHEE (31
31,482
Less: total future interest expenses W AR RFE R X B (2,112)
Lease liabilities recognised R2019F1B1HEAEN
as at 1 January 2019 HEAE 29,370
Of which are: B
- Current lease liabilities - RBEEEE 8,054
— Non-current lease liabilities —FRBEEAE 21,316
29,370
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continued)

2 ERAMEREEIETBMBR
iif’jﬁ}ﬁu (BRMBHREER])

(@) SR EERAN YR IE K S RT 2Rl
(&

(a) New and amended standards adopted
by the Group (Continueq)

(i) H2019%E 1518 R4 & B Bk %
FK AR B E

(iii) Adjustments recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position on 1 January
2019

The change in accounting policy affected the MR2019F1 AR FET KW &

following items in the consolidated statement of R BReMBRRAROTYIE
financial position at 1 January 2019: B :

consolidated statement of financial position RAEVBARER (k)

(extracted)

As at 1 January 2019
#2019F1818

Effect of

Originally adoption of
stated HKFRS 16  As reported

R@AE®

B 75 3 25 ZE B
BE2% H165ENEE EREHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT T THERT
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 29,007 29,007
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H b fE R E 6,826 (618) 6,208
Trade and other payables B 5 M H b IR (10,070) 498 (9,572)
Current lease liabilities mEBHEAR = (8,054) (8,054)
Non-current lease liabilities  JERBFAEAE — (21,316) (21,316)

Foreign currency HNEEDE 3 1

translation reserve 115,387 13 115,400
Accumulated losses REtEE (3,537,432) (258) (3,537,690)
Non-controlling interests SRR AR R = 2,861 (238) 2,623
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS") (Continueq)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’
and HKAS 8

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform?

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

Revised Conceptual
Framework for Financial

Reporting'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEETHX

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange ("GEM Listing
Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technigue. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
(since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of
HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

TERBERERAF o 2019FFH

RAMBBERIDIBREEZLEFAMAE (&
BEAE ) RGEZBERBYBRES LR
Blo o R A B S IR A B X P GEMAE 75
ERR (TGEMEMRAI) R EE R A&
(TRRMEPI) PR E 2 BRHE -

MEMBRRDIIEELAAELERR S
TERMTADREREMREAANEBEGE
(T XAAEEFTERATERE) -

BELEAAR—RIZEMERBRB KB 2R
REEFE-

ARBERRTERNHE2EERBRF
RpFHEEEARDRBRRBEAIND
B MIAmxERETERAIBRLAE
RAEMGEERMGT -EHHE2RERGTE
FHHEENRAGBEERSEREERRE
WA AIAKRERGFEEXABHRR
BESSEEREZSFHH UFEFAMBHHRER
PR ER /RREAERNRIABEIRIL
HEEETE HEBNEEMBRELENE25RIN
B EEE AR BER RS
BREBBMBHRELERIFE165 (B2019F1A
1RB)REBGENF7R (BAEEY
BamEEANE 16528 BEANHEER S
AEEARBEEMNDBELTEYIERR
BEMNTE ENEESTERFRFER
B A IR F R BB G AT R E 365 E ER
EmEREERN-

117



118

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee,

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power over the investee
to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to
give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

J any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at
the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

120

(Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fr O Wl 5 ¥R 2 B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 I EE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FESIHBE(EZ)

(Continued)

(b) Investments in subsidiaries (b) RMEB AR ZRE

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the
power to control the financial and operating policies
SO as to obtain benefits from their activities. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
excluded from consolidation from the date that control
ceases.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
any impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

122

(c)

(d)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when goods or services is
provided to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
goods or services may be provided over time or at
a point in time. Goods or services is provided over
time if the Group’s performance meets any one of the
following criteria:

o provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

3 FESFEE (&)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued) (d) WzmmER (&)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depicts the Group's
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

o the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple goods or services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
Where these are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

124

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting policies
for the principal revenue streams of the Group:

(M)

credit referral and service fee

The Group engages primarily in operating
an online consumer finance marketplace by
providing an online platform which matches
borrowers with investors. The Group determined
that it is not the legal lender and legal borrower
in the loan origination and repayment process.
Therefore, the Group does not record loans
receivable and payable arising from the loans
between investors and borrowers on its
marketplace.

The total consideration received from borrowers
generally includes the services fee for
facilitating loan origination and for providing
ongoing monthly services (mainly covering cash
processing services and collection services), and
also includes contribution to the quality assurance
fund, which provides a protection mechanism to
investors who subscribe to these loans.

The total consideration from borrowers is first
allocated to the quality assurance fund payables
at fair value which meets the definition of a
financial guarantee under HKFRS 9, and the
remaining amount is then allocated to credit
referral services and ongoing monthly services.
The Group generally collects the entire amount
relating to credit referral and ongoing monthly
services as one combined fee.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting
policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group:
(Continued)

(i) credit referral and service fee (Continued)

The Group considers the credit referral services
and ongoing monthly services as distinct
performance obligations. Although the Group
does not sell these services separately, the
Group determined that both deliverables have
standalone value. However, the Group does not
provide these services separately, and the third-
party evidence of selling price does not exist
neither, as public information is not available
regarding the amount of fees that competitors
charge for these services. As a result, the Group
uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach
to determine its best estimate standalone selling
prices of the different performance obligations
as the basis for allocation. The total service
fee allocated to credit referral is recognised as
revenue upon execution of loan agreements
between investors and borrowers. The service fee
allocated to post-origination services are deferred
and recognised over the period of the loan on
a straight-line method, which approximates the
pattern of when the underlying services are
performed. When the cash received is different
from the revenue recognised, a “Contract Asset”
or “Contract Liability” shall be recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

126

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting
policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group:
(Continued)

(ii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. If such
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract
covering other goods and/or services, then the
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under
the contract, allocated between all the goods and
services promised under the contract on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

(iii) Apartment leasing

(iv)

Apartment leasing income from subleased
properties is recognised on straight-line basis
over the term of lease.

Service income

Revenue from provision of management,
marketing and operating services for lottery
system and lottery halls is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Revenue from provision of sports training services
is recognised when the services are rendered.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(d)

(e)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The following is a description of the accounting
policies for the principal revenue streams of the Group:
(Continued)

(v) Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is
recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial assets to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date
at which the leased asset is available for use by the
Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on the their relative standalone prices.

3 FESFEE (&)

(d) W= (&)

TR AR B B U 2 R A & 5T IR
| (&)

(v) FIEKA

TREEZNBWAREEN S
BrgemRAAEE B Wm AL
W] SEH AT E R FER - K B AIR
RREEE 2EHAEERSEL
ERBRMEAE - BRERF
RERGEHRRABRESRER
BEMGAERFHEDNTEE
BERTRERREREFEZN

(e) HE

B2019F 1 A1B R HEWRAF AE
BE WEHEEEAHASEFRAZ
AEREEaE-

Bl EREHERFHEEEXND
AEBERBEHEE MIFHEAEK DA
HEBERKSORESEES AN

{/\ o

MERBERERAT o 2019FFH 127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

128

(e)

Leasing (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

- variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 XESIBE (&)
(Continueq)
(e) Leasing (Continued) (e) & (&)
The lease payments are discounted using the interest HENFBIEBEEANSFEITIR - 40
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily %ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ ZAE(LWBRE BT
determined, which is generally the case for leases in ERAEEHEF)  BIERAEHEA
the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is RS RFIE - AERIAR A BESE
used, being the rate that individual lessee would have P ERIB T ESEBERINERAEES
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset E-EUESR BERAMEGEAER

of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar i W4 78 A B FI) 2 o

economic environment with similar terms, security and

conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the RETESERFE  KEBKRRAT

Group: DR

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing —  TERIEEMVIB T - ESRAERIAME A
received by the individual lessee as a starting T E =R EEAE
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing TETAE Uk EWERE =
conditions since third party financing was BELRBER R ES)
received,;

—  uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk- — WEABEZFRER  AERR
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases MELBIIRE  LNEINEHREE
held by the Group, which does not have recent BEHENNEERRETHAE
third party financing; and 54

- makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, — YHESELEFTHAEZ 0FH-H
country, currency and security. R -EWRER-
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

130

(Continued)

(e) Leasing (Continued)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

- any initial direct costs; and
- restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

3 FESFEE (&)

(e) Leasing (Continued) (e) HE (&)

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or l0ss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise
IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income. The respective leased assets are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position based
on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor
as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

Leases were classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases
were classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Lease income from operating leases where the Group
was a lessor was recognised as income on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. The respective leased
assets were included in the consolidated statement of
financial position based on their nature.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

132

(e) Leasing (Continued)

()

Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
(Continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments were recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives were received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives were
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives was recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(f)

(8)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of foreign currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

3 FESFEE (&)

(f)

(8)

TERBERERAF o 2019FFH

s ()

GHEEHA RANEYAAEE 2B
HEERE L B PR B R -

MEIEGRAMBHRERME - NEEBEI
X EERABNENEREMER
CEXGBELAEE 2 2HEE (B
TC) e WSTIR B Th IR B 2 SF T IE R
THE  BRIFEXRRZHEA LR KR
KBRS ERER REER T BIERA
RHEAZABEXR-FELZELE
B (mAE) DTREMEERARER ¥R
Rz T UASNEE S REE R (RNEER
BRI AR o

BE A

Wi BEXNEEREREEMBERE
EZBERARTIBRZEEE KA
EEFBEERR EERERERE
ERL MEEREEATREKMRE
BARRKERARKIHEZEE-

FERENBIEEEREEZ AN
EREREMBRBMZILERA - GiEw
BABARNZEERANTHE-

PIBREMEERARELRHEAERRP

e

133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

134

(Continued)

(h) Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the government
of the PRC, subsidiaries of the Company operating in
the PRC participate in a local municipal government
retirement benefits scheme (the “PRC Scheme”),
whereby the subsidiaries are required to make
contributions, as calculated under the rules specified
by the relevant PRC local government authorities, to
the PRC Scheme to fund their retirement benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of the subsidiaries. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the PRC Scheme
is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the
PRC Scheme mentioned above. Contributions under the
PRC Scheme are charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as incurred. There are no provisions under the PRC
Scheme whereby forfeited contributions may be used
to reduce future contributions.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(i)

()

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that
have been delivered in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. All the trade payables of the Group
are expected in one year or less, therefore, they are
presented as current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before
tax” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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136

(Continued)

(J) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

()

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or
deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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(Continued)

(k) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3-5 years

Computer and office equipment  3-5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of term
of lease or 5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or l0ss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(1

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite
useful lives are reported at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

(m) Impairment on tangible and intangible

assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 I EE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FESHBEK (£&)

(Continued)

(m) Impairment on tangible and intangible (m) BEEREFEEZRE (&)

assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or 10ss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

142

(n)

(0)

(p)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required
to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it
is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(p)

(aq)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(r) Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held
for sale and that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, is part
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
The results of discontinued operation are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

(s) Financial instruments

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's
business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or 10ss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest (“SPPI").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent SPPI are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

3 FESFEE (&)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued) (s) emI A (&)

(iij) Measurement (Continued) (iii) FrE (&)
Debt instruments (Continued) B¥ITAR(E&)
o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection . BARBEGFAEMEZE

of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent SPPI, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or l0ss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in other gains/(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other gains/(losses)
and impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(s) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit loss (“ECL") associated with
its debt instruments carried at amortised cost
and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 XESIBE (&)

(Continuedq)

(t) Convertible bonds (t) IRRES
The component parts of the convertible bonds are AR ES 2 B BNIRBENLTH 2
classified separately as financial liability and equity RENLReRBEAMERTAZEERR
in accordance with the substance of the contractual DEEtHEBELAER UNETEERSE
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability I —eRMEERBRETEHE 2 XA A
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that AT AFE 7 ERBEBRNER
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of TH-

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’'s own equity instruments is an equity

instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability RETH AEHO (BEEABRAIE
component (including any embedded non-equity BRACTETRFEE) 2 AR BESBEBE
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the EVEEREROCBUBEZAR
fair value of similar liability that does not have an BEME-

associated equity component.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

150

(Continued)

(t) Convertible bonds (Continued)

The conversion option classified as equity is
determined by deducting the amount of the liability
component from the fair value of the compound
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and
included in equity, net of income tax effects, and
is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity
will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or 0SS upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation
of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to
the equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion
and amortised over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

3 FESFEE (&)

(u) Financial guarantee contracts (u) BEEREYN

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Quality assurance fund payables

The quality assurance fund payables is measured at
their fair value at inception. Once the investors are
paid for a borrower's default, any future principal
and interests recovered are contributed into the
quality assurance fund account. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the quality assurance fund payables is
measured at the greater of 1) the amount of loss
allowance and 2) the amount initially recognised (fair
value) less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
of the initial amount recognised in accordance with
HKFRS 15. The Group's financial guarantee is reflected
as the quality assurance fund payables recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position (note 21).

Quality assurance fund receivables

The quality assurance fund receivables is recognised at
loan inception for amounts allocated to the guarantee.
At each reporting date, the Group estimates the future
cash flows and assesses whether there is any indicator
of impairment to any individual underlying loan of
the quality assurance fund receivables. If the carrying
amounts of the quality assurance fund receivables
exceeds the expected collections, an impairment l0ss is
recorded for the quality assurance fund receivables not
recoverable.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3 FEEHBE (£)
(Continuedq)
(v) Related parties (v) BBER
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETHERT  — A BERAEAER
B
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that (@ mAHBERBAIHZATREER
person’s family and that person: BRZAL:
() has control or joint control of the Group; () EHIHEEZESIRER:
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (il HAKBBEERFE R
(iiy is a member of the key management (iiy AAEBEXAEEHARZ
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the FTEEEREKE:
Group;
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following by ZAHBERBUTEEBER:

conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the ()
same group;
(i) one entity is an associate or a joint venture (i)

of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures (iii)
of the same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity (iv)

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continueq)

(v) Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management is required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed by
the management of the Group on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

4

BARESrHERATIRERER
ZEERIR

RERM I 2 AR E G T BURE - B2
EAHREINEMKRERZEERAE
AREE(EH A - AET MR - % B hFTRE
AREIIBBEBELERMEASBRAZEM
AREL -BERERITEARINME R

AEEEEE S TEENE G MERE R
ReMEFHEF BT RFEZNE P8
BerEEHEsT 2 HRER WIS EE Al
EARBRAAEZE  NEFELERT ZHE
R R K HARE RERR o

AT RERZE 2 EEZHRR

AT R SR AR R R 2 £ BRE K fAET
THERRZEMEEIR  RAIEEHT
—BMBRFEcEERABRAEEAFLE
R

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(@) Revenue related to credit facilitation services and
ongoing monthly services

The Group considers the credit facilitation services
and ongoing monthly services as distinct performance
obligations. However, the Group does not provide these
services separately, and the third-party evidence of
selling price does not exist either, as public information
is not available regarding the amount of fees
competitors charge for these services. As a result, the
Group uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach
to determine its best estimate of selling prices of the
different deliverables as the basis for allocation. When
estimating the selling prices, the Group considers the
cost related to such services, profit margin, customer
demand, effect of competition, and other market
factors, if applicable.

(b) Quality assurance fund payables and receivables

The quality assurance fund is a protection mechanism
offered to investors who subscribe to the loans
facilitated on the Group’s platform. The quality
assurance fund contribution rates are determined at
loan inception on a loan by loan basis and does not
subsequently change over the life of the loan.

The determination of the contribution rates is also
based on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking
into account the underlying risk profile and historical
loss record and other market factors when necessary.

4 BRSGTHERMAEFIERERE
ZEBRR (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continueqd)

4 BRSGTHERMAGFIERERER
ZEBRR (&)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty A TRERZRZETERE (&)

(Continued)

(c) Measurement of the ECL allowance (c) FAHIEEEEREZTE

The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial
assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is
an area that requires the use of complex models

AAERBERAHERRAABERA
Ht2HMRANEREENTERERES
B FEEAEMRE N REREK

REMRARGEETR (WEFPEDH RS
BUBIEM AR ) WERRR -

and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of
customers defaulting and the resulting losses).
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁéﬂ%
REH ZIRE R HE a0

BERE
A number of significant judgements are also required
in applying the accounting requirements for measuring

ECL, such as:

(i)  Determining criteria for significant increase in (i WEEERRAEEMAER:
credit risk;
e The financial instrument considered to e EEFABMESANTESE

B eRTARRAHARE
e PR DT

have experienced a significant increase in
credit risk if the borrower is past due on its
contractual payments.

. Using other warning lists as supplemental o

FREMZEEEEERMR
criteria such as fraudulent list. BE

R gNEREF
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4 BRSGTHERMAEFIERERE
ZEBRR (&)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty A TRERZZETERE (&)

(Continued)

(c) Measurement of the ECL allowance (Continued) (c) FAHEEEEEEZTE (F)

(i) Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for iy BEFEBEHEEBENSGERE
the measurement of ECL; B RERE:

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month
or lifetime basis depending on whether
a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred since initial recognition or whether
an asset is considered to be credit-impaired.
ECL are the discounted product of the
probability of default (“PD"), exposure at
default (“EAD"), and loss given default
("LGD"), or ECL=PD x LGD X EAD x discount
rate ("DF").

The calculation of PD and LGD started with
the Group’s historical information. They are
further adjusted for the impacts from micro-
economy conditions as well as observed
industry experience. PD and LGD are
calculated by types of product, internal risk
grades and loan durations as appropriate.

EAD is calculated based on the amounts the
Group expected to be owed at the time of
default, over the next 12 months (12M EAD)
or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD).

The DF used in the ECL calculation is either
the original effective interest rate or an
approximation thereof.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

158

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(Continued)

(c) Measurement of the ECL allowance (Continued)

(i) Establishing a number and relative weighting
of forward-looking scenarios for each type of
product/market and the associated ECL; and

The Group uses the Morten Model to
estimate the relationship between ECL and
forward-looking scenarios.

Based on economic statistics, three different
prospective scenarios, namely the “base”,
the “upside” and the “downside” are
used with 80%, 10% and 10% weighting
respectively.

Other forward-looking considerations, such
as the impact of any regulatory, legislative
or political changes, have also been
considered.

The Group has performed historical analysis
and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and ECL of each
portfolio. The most significant assumptions
used are consumer price index and producer
price index, given their impact they have on
the loans provided by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and
related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment. These estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to severe industry
cycles. Management will increase the depreciation
charges where useful lives are less than previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under
the PRC, Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands and the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). Significant judgement
is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred income tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination
is made.
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A TRERZZTERER (&)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

160

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(f)

&)

Fair value of financial instruments

If the market for a financial instrument is not active,
the Group estimates fair value by using a valuation
technique. Valuation techniques include using recent
prices in arm’s length market transactions between
knowledgeable and wiling parties, if available, reference
to the current fair value of another instrument that
is substantially the same, or discounted cash flow
analyses and option pricing models. To the extent
practicable, valuation technique makes the maximum
use of market inputs. However, where market inputs are
not available, management needs to make estimates on
such unobservable market inputs.

Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management considers
all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not
exercise a termination option. Extension options (or
periods after termination options) are only included in
the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 BAREFTHERETTIERERE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION ZEERIR (&)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty A TRERZZETERE (&)
(Continued)
(g) Determination of the lease term (Continued) (g) HHWEZT (&)

For leases of apartments, the following factors are RABHEMS UTEXRBERAHE

normally the most relevant: 7

- If there are significant penalties to terminate (or — MREAE(KTER)BERNE
not extend), the Group is typically reasonably S RAAERBERAEEEAM
certain to extend (or not terminate). (TR IERE) -

- If any leasehold improvements are expected to — WEMNEEMEREEREASR
have a significant remaining value, the Group BAFKEE MFAEEBESIE
is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not BEAM (I TMRIEHEE) -
terminate).

- Otherwise, the Group considers other factors - R AEEeEREMEER 2
including historical lease durations and the costs EECHEFERREREES
and business disruption required to replace the EMHEMNAAR R EBE-

leased asset.

The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually EIEETR W7 (HREITE)
exercised (or not exercised) or the Group becomes IAREBEBEMETHE (KPITE) ZE
obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment EZR AHBeRENTE - E5%E
of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant BEARFHIENERLE (L MBEZTHE
event or a significant change in circumstances occurs, BB REBAFRESR  AEEH
which affects this assessment, and that is within the BB A BT -

control of the lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

REVENUE 5 W=
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: AEEAREEZWEZSTOT :
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
(Restated)
($E5)
Credit referral and service fee BENEEREE 58,482 42,108
Apartment leasing NEEE 9,596 4,446
Provision of management, marketingand BEEZERXHREEREREEIE -
operating services for lottery system and ~ TISHEE N L ERS
lottery halls 664 996
Provision of sports training services RS IIRREE 2,354 2,416
71,096 49,966
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments are determined based
on information reported to the board of directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group ceased
its business in smart wearable device business which is
classified as discontinued operation.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows:

Continuing operations

- Financial technology services business — provision of
credit referral and services (including credit facilitation
services, post-origination services and financial
guarantee services),

= Apartment leasing business — management of
apartment leasing for property owners and lessees;

- Lottery business - development of computer
software, hardware and application system, sale of
self-developed technology or results, provision of
relevant technical consultancy services in the PRC and
development and provision of operation system sector
of the PRC lottery market; and

- Sports training business — provision of sports training
services.

Discontinued operation

- Smart wearable device business - research,
development and sale of smart wearable devices
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6
(a) Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results for the continuing operations by reportable

BEHR (&)
DEBERER

AT TRA 2R RE D 2 AEEFE
REXBH WS RREDH

segments:
Continuing operations Discontinued operation
HREEEY BRIESERE
Financial technology Apartment leasing Lottery Smart wearable device
services business business business Sports training business Subtotal business Total
SRNERBER DEERER YREH BENRER it BRERRARE #it
2019 018 2019 018 2019 2019 018 2019 018 2019 018 2019 018
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000
T Fitn FET Fitn TR TR Tt FEL Tt TR Tt TR TR
Segment revenue: AERE:
Revenue from external customers RENEFR-RERREDZ
recognised over time e 58,482 12,108 9,59 4448 664 2,354 2018 71,09 19,966 Q2 3101 71138 53,067
Segment profit/(0ss) AEaH/ (58) 14,815 38,864 (5,904) (6693 (2,178) (206) n 6,521 28515 (1,880) 3020) 4,647 25495
Interest on bank deposits, other
income and (losses)/ gains, net £l
(BR) /W= 38 141 87 m 5 1,582 909
Central agministration costs PROTBARE (8,268) 8,534 - [0} (8,268) (853%)
(Loss)/Profit before tax Wil (58)/
-2l (270) 20838 (1,769) (2969) (2,039) 17869

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the current year (2018: Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit/
(loss) incurred by each segment without allocation of
interest on bank deposits, other income and (losses)/
gains and central administration costs. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

2R PBRBEREIBEFZ
moRAFELED BRI E (2018
43{) o

W

5= B

REDBZ GFTHBR B E3M A%
Bt BB - 288N,/ (BE)
BEOBESZEMN (BB (LES
FRTTIF A B B AR (B18)
Yas B RITHAA) - bt i B IR D
FERFEDBEREMATRLLREE
PE ¥R 2 UK -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

6

HEH (&)

(b) 7HEERERE

Continuing operations Discontinued operation
RRELEY BRIESERH
Financial technology Apartment leasing Smart wearable device
services business busingss Lottery business Sports training business Subtotal business Total
SRNEEBER LEEREH YERE BENARE it BEERRRER #it
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
FER FER FER FER FER FER FET Fin FET Fin FET Fin AT T
Segment assets SREE 83,303 66,466 30,853 16,653 2,861 1,607 4,154 2782 1M 87,508 = 3914 17 91422
Corporate and unallocated assets PERAAREE 10,673 16,232 - - 10,673 16,232
Consolidated assets GREE 131,844 103740 = 3914 131,844 07,654
Segment liabilities bt -1 29,659 20,283 23,531 3,506 21,044 19.827 1724 3 75,958 43804 = 103 75,958 3907
Corporate and unallocated ligbiities PERKARERE 5,551 2,080 - - 5,551 2,080
Consolidated liabiities 5REME 81,509 45,884 = 103 81,509 45,981
i i = BE 4o 4\ aN
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance REESBERERESEEIREIR

and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and

corporate assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and

corporate liabilities.

s MAEREY/IEEEENE HH
RN AT REREERI K
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c) Other segment information

fon O W} S ¥R % B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A31H L FE

6 TEEHR (&

(c) Ettn EEH

Continuing operations Discontinued operation
RRESEY BRIESERE
Financial technology Apartment leasing Smart wearable device
services business business Lottery business Sports training business Subtotal business Total
SRNERBER LEEREH YERH | EEES it BEERRREN #it
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS 000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR FER TR FER TR FER TR FER FERL FER FERL FER TR FER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1 12 2,160 936 50 1% 5 4 2216 1,108 106 760 2322 1868
Unallocated depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 506 189 = S 506 489
Total depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% BERBE 2 FELE 2122 1597 106 760 2,828 2357
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREERINE - - 7,104 - - - 549 - 7,653 - - - 7,653 -
Unallocated depreciation of right-of-use assets FOREREEELNE 649 - - - 649 -
Total depreciation of right-of-use assets REREEZ
bif 141 8,302 s = S 8,302 S
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment L ENE BERZEIER - - 333 2% - 97 - - 333 33 50 67 383 0
Effective interest on convertible bonds i1 = S = = 1518 1806 o S 1518 1806 ° S 1,518 1806
Interest on lease liabilties - S 1,266 S - S 37 S 1,303 = = = 1,303 S
Quality assurance fund loss/(gain), net 26,519 3671) - = - = - = 26,519 3671) - = 26,519 3671)
Quality assurance fund recovered (202) (2,050) = & = = = - (202) (2,050) = = (202) (2,050)
Write-down of inventories - - - - - - - - - - - 609 - 609
Write-off of inventories = o = o = o = o = o 484 95 484 9
Impairment of contract assets 8,655 2182 = c = o ° S 8,655 2182 ° S 8,655 2182
Impairment of trade and other receivables - - - - - kJ - - - kij - 16 - 54
Write-offof other receivables - = - = - = - = - = 67 = 67 =
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - - 231 - - - - - 231 - - - 231 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets - - 731 - - - - - 731 - - - 31 -
(Gain on lease termination BRI HE - - (144) - - - - - (144) - - - (144) -
Additions to non-current assets TAEREEE - o 27 10232 - - - - 27 1032 - - 7 1032
Unallocated AR - 138 - - - 138
Total additons to non-current assets ENFRDEELAE 7 1030 - - 7 1039
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6

(d) Geographical information

(e)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas

- the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by
location of operations and information about its non-
current assets by location of assets are detailed below:

aNy

DEER (&)

(d) #E&EH

AREEZ ZHETE2UNRER—
REE-

AEBREBWRE D 2 KEINFES
ZWaEPIREEMRE N ZIERBDEE
ERFHBOT:

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

REIIEBEF 2 W= FRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT T T FTHET FH T
Continuing operations BERKEEK
The PRC B 68,742 47,550 24,588 8,922
Hong Kong BB 2,354 2,416 3,283 886
71,096 49,966 27,871 9,808
Discontinued operation BRIEEEEKE
The PRC B 42 3,101 - 156
71,138 53,067 27,871 9,964

Information about major customers

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, none
of the customers with revenue accounted for more
than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

TERBERERAF o 2019FFH

(e) EEFXFZEH

HZE2019F F20185FE12 A31H IEFE
BERE 2 WS AEEBUWEZ10%
LA F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

7 OTHER INCOME AND (LOSSES)/GAINS, 7 HMBWAR(ER) WH B8
NET
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FET
(Restated)
($E5)
Other income: HABA -
Bank interest income RITH B HA 1,044 172
Interest income on financial assets at FVPL 12 AR EBET AEBZEH
SREENFEHBA 134 51
sundry income HIEWA 524 -
1,702 223
Other (losses)/gains, net: Hip (B518), e F8
Net foreign exchange gains PE 5 e 2 5 BE 293 642
Quality assurance fund (loss)/gain, net HERES (BEB) K F8 (26,519) 3,671
Quality assurance fund recovered BREEERESR 202 2,050
Impairment of contract assets EHEERE (8,655) (2,142)
Impairment of trade and other receivables ‘& 5 K H b J& U % 8 B (B - (38)
Impairment of property, plant and W WERZE2RE
equipment (231) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets TREEEZRE (731) S
Gain on lease termination HMERIEZ WS 144 -
Other losses H b E5 18 = (8)
(35,497) 4,175
(33,795) 4,398
8 FINANCE COSTS 8 HBRAE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Effective interest on convertible bonds AMRES 2 ERHE 1,518 1,846
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZFE 1,373 -
2,891 1,846
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon © W} ¥R %= B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

9 INCOME TAX CHARGE 9 FiIS®HMAxX
(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss (a) RERBERZFEN
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
& FHE T
PRC Corporate Income tax P ZERTISA
- Current tax —RNEAR 18 5,869 3,934
- Under-provision in prior years - BAEFEREETR 1,500 1,302
Deferred tax (Note 29) EEFIE (M7E29) (259) (304)
Total income tax charge recognised in R IBZ RN TSR X 2%
profit or loss 7,110 4,932
Income tax charge is attributable to: LA T S BB W FTERMAS
— Profit from continuing operations —REFELEEBHH R 7,110 4,932
- Loss from discontinued operation - REBRIEEEEBHEE = 5
7,110 4,932
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made BN ERRFREENERNBEBEEDL
as the Group had no assessable profits arising in or BREVERDUEF U BEBEFEH
derived from Hong Kong for both years. TEH B -
Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Corporate REBERBEIRITHE - B E QRN
Income Tax (“CIT") rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% BEE s rEMEH ([REMEH])
for both years. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions T ER25% - Eth RAE R E 4 2 H1E
is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant TR AR 2RI EGE -
jurisdictions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

INCOME TAX CHARGE (Continued) 9 FBHRAX(£Z)
(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss () REZBRZAEHR (£)
(Continued)

(b)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated statement

AERZRAERYBAGABREREME
HBAKRFPBRBA (BR), BN Y

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as BRAN T -
follows:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FE T
(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing 3 B £ 48 & & ¥ 751
operations BRELAT (B18), 5 (270) 20,838
Loss before tax from discontinued KEERIELEEBEDN
operation B 50 AT B 48 (1,769) (2,969)
(Loss)/profit before tax for the year REZBRTA (BE),/ 5T (2,039) 17,869
Tax at applicable tax rate of 25% RIEE A ER25%:T 8 2 /1A
(2018: 25%) (20184 : 25% ) (509) 4,467
Tax effect on different tax rate of REMBEEREEZ
group entities operating in other SEHERBITRANE 2HIBLE
jurisdictions (337) 888
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR 2 BT E
for tax purpose 9,384 1,427
Tax effect of income not taxable for TRBRA 2 RIB 2
tax purpose (4,005) (6,157)
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETR 1,500 1,302
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ARHER 2 FIAEIE 2 HEFE 1,077 3,005
Income tax charge for the year KEEMEHAX 7,110 4,932
Income tax recognised directly in equity (b) EERAERBERZEBH
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
CIT: EMEN:
Over-provision in prior year BEFEHERE = 149
- 149

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon © W} ¥R %= B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

10 (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM 10 REBEKEEKNAREE (5
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 8) EF
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FET
(Restated)
(reE5)
(Loss)/profit for the year has been FE (&), &M hEnk,/
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Bt A) TR B IEEGH -
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERRAEAIZHFEERA
expense (included in cost of (Gt ASHE RARTEBCA)
sales and services) 11 25
Auditor’s remuneration Z B BN & 1,150 976
Employee benefits expenses EERNER (TEEEEME)
(excluding directors” emoluments)
- Salaries, bonus and other benefits in —Fe EARAEMEYREF
kind 8,705 11,160
- Contributions to retirement benefits —RIKE R ET I
schemes 1,021 1,500
Directors’ emoluments EEZMe 1,344 1,206
Total staff costs B TR 11,070 13,866
Minimum lease payments paid under BRI REFEERE
operating leases in respect of land and EfN&EEE
buildings - 7,708
Short-term leases expenses REHEERX 142 -
Depreciation of property, plant and WE -BERZHITE
equipment 2,722 1,597
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEECZITE 8,302 -
Impairment of property, plant and W WERZE2BE
equipment 231 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets FTREEEZRE 731 -
Quality assurance fund loss/(gain), net BEE2RFLEE (k&) FE8 26,519 (3,671)
Quality assurance fund recovered EREEERES (202) (2,050)
Impairment of trade and other receivables & 5 K E b & U 5% 18 36 & - 38
Loss on disposal of property, LEVE BERREBZER
plant and equipment 333 353
Impairment of contract assets AREERE 8,655 2,142
Gain on lease termination MERIE 2 W= (144) =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

DISCONTINUED OPERATION 11

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group ceased
the smart wearable device business in the PRC. The results of
the discontinued operation for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018 are presented below. The comparative figures
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been restated to re-present the
smart wearable device business as a discontinued operation.

CRIEREXTK

REE2019F12A3MB L FE AEBERIE
TRTBEMNSEFERBHEE BRIELEE
EBNEHE2019F &2018F12A318 IEF &
MEENRTXEY RiFcBakEMEE
WAROEBHBEDECEYN UK ESETFH
REEREY AERIEKEEER-

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Revenue L& 42 3,101
Cost of sales 55 AR (36) (1,613)
Gross profit EH 6 1,488
Other income and (losses), net Hi AR (E1E) F58 (295) (185)
Administrative expenses THRER (1,480) (4,272)
Loss before tax bR B A ES 18 (1,769) (2,969)
Income tax charge s R = =
Loss for the year from discontinued REEREREEBNRNFEEE
operation (1,769) (2,969)
Other comprehensive expense HEth2HEALZ
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently E#sie@EZ#H B =8 2EA ¢
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BECKRIEBIINER 2 EH Z5E
discontinued foreign operation = (59)
Other comprehensive expense for AEEHMEERAYS
the year = (59)
Total comprehensive expense arises from 2R E B & & & 2B H
discontinued operation for the year AEE2HEHRAZREE (1,769) (3,028)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon © W} ¥R %= B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 11 BRIEREER (&)
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T TATT
Other income: N N
Bank interest income RITH B WA 3 6
Interest income on financial assets at FVPL R A A EBEET ABmd
TREENFEWA 28 60
Government grant X 7 B 145 533
Sundry income I A - 2
176 601
Other gains/(losses), net Hihlrzs/ (E18)  JF58
Gain on deregistration BUH R A W = 80 -
Net foreign exchange losses P 5 B 18 558 = (16)
Write-down of inventories T &MU - (609)
Write-off of inventories T E M (484) (145)
Write-off of other receivables H b JIE U2 TE 5 (67) =
Impairment of trade and other receivables & 5 & H th f& I E R (B = (16)
(471) (786)
(295) (185)
FERBEERERQE o 2019FFR 173
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 11 BRIEEEXEK (&)

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FRET
Loss for the year has been FEBEDENBR TISIEESD
arrived at after charging:
Cost of inventories recognised as an ERRARAI CFEMSR
expense (included in cost of sales) (FTASHERA) 36 1,613
Auditor's remuneration* Z SR & * - 24
Employee benefits expenses EEEBNER (TREESEH:)
(excluding directors’ emoluments)
— Salaries and other benefits in kind —HeREMEYET 816 1,567
— Contributions to retirement benefits —RREFETEIHE R
schemes 67 127
Total staff costs #wE TR 883 1,694
Minimum lease payments paid under BRI REFLEERE
operating leases in respect of land and B xERA:
buildings - 607
Short-term leases expenses CHIHER Y 250 =
Low-value leases expenses EKEEHERX 13 =
Depreciation of property, plant and WME BELRREZTE
equipment 106 760
Impairment of trade and other receivables & 5 & £ th & U ZUB R (B - 16
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BERKEZEE
equipment 50 67
e The auditor’s remuneration was borne by the Company for the period g 20191 A1B E &M B H B A i 2R Bl &
from 1 January 2019 to the date of deregistration. AARRREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

11 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 1M1 CREREER (&)

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operation ERIECREEBEEANRESREFHN
are as follows: T
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Net cash used in operating activities LEEB TR F5E (3,130) (2,022)
Net cash generated from/(used in) wEESE, (FTA)
investing activities IR&F5 2,491 (2,457)
Net decrease in cash generated from ERIEKEEBRERS
discontinued operation A FERR (639) (4,479)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

12 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 12 EEM £
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the five (2018: MAH (2018F : A% ) EE T FEN 2 B
five) directors were as follows: LW
Contributions
Salaries and  to retirement
other henefits benefits
Fees in kind schemes Total
FeRHM BIREA
e ENEF BE L3 #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER TR
2019 20195
Executive directors HTEE
Sun Haitao b iy - 360 18 378
Zhao Ke e - 498 18 516
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
song Ke PN 150 - - 150
Wu Bo RK 150 - - 150
Michael Yu Tat Chi RES 150 - - 150
450 858 36 1,344
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

12 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

fon © W} ¥R %= B 5

12 EEME (&)

Contributions
Salaries and to retirement
other benefits benefits
Fees in kind schemes Total
HeRkEM RIREF
e ENEF STEIfR @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET AT
2018 20184
Executive directors HITES
Sun Haitao %HBE - 360 18 378
Zhao Ke e - 360 18 378
Independent non-executive BUEHTES
directors
song Ke R 150 - - 150
Wu Bo RK 150 - - 150
Michael Yu Tat Chi REL 150 - - 150
450 720 36 1,206

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, since
the appointment of chief executive officer of the Company
remains outstanding, no emoluments were paid to the chief
executive officer of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2018: Nil).

TERBERERAF o 2019FFH

RE =2019% K2018F12A31B I FE - &
RARBWAREEITEHAR R8T FR
NATTHAEH M -

REALEELLRHAREETHRKFAZEH
REMME (2018F : &) o
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13 EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
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(a)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

13 EEME

Employee benefits expense (excluding
directors’ emoluments)

(a) BERANER (ESM BRI

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHEx FHET

(Restated)

(re&E5)

Salaries and other benefits in kind FehEMEYRER 7,972 10,851
Contributions to retirement benefits ~ EREH 5T 24 3%

schemes 1,021 1,500

Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 733 309

9,726 12,660

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2018: one) was a director of the
Company whose emoluments are included in note 12.
The emoluments of the remaining four (2018: four)
individuals were as follows:

(b) EEBEHEER

RAEERISAREEHFREREY — A
(2018F : —R)BRARNBIZESE K
e HEHRWEIR2ZHERN - TR
(2018F B ) m=mFHRERE 2HE 15
PURNNE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Salaries and other benefits in kind FTehEMEMER 1,911 2,767
Contributions to retirement benefits iR {RIE F 5 &I 5%

schemes 72 58

Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 227 236

2,210 3,061
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

13 EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 13 EEME (&)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEESHEER (&)

Number of individuals

EE A

2019 2018
Emoluments bands B < &3 [
Nil — HK$1,000,000 4 —1,000,0007% 7T 4 4
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, RE E20194 K£20185E12A318 IFF
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors B AEBEfEnESS SR HE
nor the five highest paid individuals, as an inducement BXNMESEREBMAREEIMA
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation NEEF 2 RS EABBEE -

for loss of office.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14 R (B8) &ZR
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per AR MEAEBEEREARES (BEB),/
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the AR TR TS EEE

following data:

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FH T
(Loss)/earnings (BE’) B
(Loss)/earnings for the year attributable to BEtESREARLEE (EE),
owners of the Company for the purposes ZEFIME 2 AFE AR QR aHEE A
of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per e (B1B),/&F
share
— From continuing operations —REFELCEEL (3,911) 19,166
— From discontinued operation —REERIEEEER (1,769) (2,969)
(5,680) 16,197
Number of shares (thousands) REOEHE (FR)
Weighted average number of ordinary RAEEREAREE (FR),/
shares for the purposes of basic and BN E 2 EBRZNEFHE
diluted (loss)/earnings per share 4,671,035 4,668,181
The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share did not FESREE (B1B) /BAE BRBREAX
assume the exercise of the Company’s potential ordinary NEABEEFEENARAREBEL B
shares granted under the Company's convertible bonds since EOFE RAAEBEITELALBAERES
their exercise and conversion would have an anti-dilutive A
effect.
DIVIDENDS 15 RE
The Company has not declared any dividends for the years AN B EFLE £ 20194 £ 2018512 A318
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. IEFEEIREMRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 ¥ -HERRE

Furniture, Computer
fixtures and and office Leasehold
fittings equipment improvements Total
B R ERR HE
REE BAERE MERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FHET FAEL FAEL
Cost B
Balance at 1 January 2018 R2018F1R1R 2 &8k 563 3,804 2,875 7,242
Additions NE - 191 10,199 10,390
Disposals HE (131) (984) (256) (1,371)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZHp 2

differences (15) (114) (431) (560)
Balance at 31 December 2018 and #2018 128318 &

1 January 2019 2019F1A1H 2 % 417 2,897 12,387 15,701
Additions HRE - 1 26 27
Disposals/write-off HE /i (132) (535) (2,076) (2,743)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  ERZHEp 2

differences (4) (39) (206) (249)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019F 128318 2 &84 281 2,324 10,131 12,736
Accumulated depreciation and ENTERAEE

impairment
Balance at 1 January 2018 M2018F 1718 2 &% (370) (2,940) (1,219) (4,529)
Written back on disposals HE &R 65 882 - 947
Depreciation expense TERE (78) (433) (1,846) (2,357)
Effect of foreign currency exchange ~ ER ZHy 2

differences 1 91 100 202
Balance at 31 December 2018 and #2018 128318 i

1 January 2019 2019F1 A1H 2 #8 (372) (2,400) (2,965) (5,737)
Written back on disposals/write-off HERE 95 518 1,745 2,358
Impairment loss HEER - (2) (229) (231)
Depreciation expense nERX (1) (236) (2,591) (2,828)
Effect of foreign currency exchange  EXZHp 2

differences 3 34 60 97
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019F 128318 2 &84 (275) (2,086) (3,980) (6,341)
Carrying amounts BHE
Balance at 31 December 2019 R2019F 128318 2 &84 6 238 6,151 6,395
Balance at 31 December 2018 R2018F 128318 2 &84 45 497 9,422 9,964
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

17 LEASES 17 #HE

Amounts recognised in the consolidated REEMBERRERBERNESHE
statement of financial position

I3

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the 4

2

FTEVBRAARBIUNTEEEAENS

following amounts relating to leases: |
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
20194 20194
12H31H 1A1H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FET
Right-of-use assets FEHEEE
Buildings BF 21,476 29,007
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current mE 7,923 8,054
Non-current JEMB 16,694 21,316
24,617 29,370
The movements of right-of-use assets were as follows: TREEEMNZEESHNT
HK$'000
THET
At 1 January 2019 upon adoption of HKFRS 16 20191 518 E RN
ERVBREERNE 16571 29,007
Additions NE 3,780
Termination of leases HmIFAE (1,816)
Depreciation expenses WERX (8,302)
Impairment loss BB EE (731)
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences EREETE (462)
At 31 December 2019 2019512 A31H 21,476
At 31 December 2019, the lessee’s incremental borrowing A2019F 128318 “HEAHEEBEERY
rate applied to the lease liabilities was ranged from 2.74% to HEERFNENT2.74%%E4.90% °
4.90%.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

18 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 18 ZEAREBEFTAHMBZAEKRAN
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE TRIEE
INCOME
HK$'000
FAT
Balance at 1 January 2018 (Original stated) PR2018F1 1B 2 &8 (R25) -
Effect on adoption of HKFRS 9 RKMBE BB RELEAFIR T E
— Reclassification from club debenture —BEMESFENHE 115
— Fair value change - AREBEEE 205
Balance at 1 January 2018 (Restated) R2018F1A18 2 #56k (BEF) 320
Fair value change NABEED 30
Balance at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R2018%F12A318 &2019F1 818 2 & # 350
Fair value change AREBEEED 10
Balance at 31 December 2019 M20195 12318 2 &t 360
The fair value is within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy (note AABEEBERAABEERNE R (M
32(c)). 32(c)) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

19 CONCESSION RIGHTS

184

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2018
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences

Balance at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences

Balance at 31 December 2019

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2018
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences

Balance at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences

Balance at 31 December 2019

Carrying amounts
Balance at 31 December 2019

Balance at 31 December 2018

Note:

19 435
HK$'000
FABT
BN
MR2018%F1 A1H 2 & &4 2,416,528
EREBTE (111,100)
M2018F12 A31H K&2019%1 818 2 &4 2,305,428
fER =g 2 (50,460)
R2019F12 A318 2 64 2,254,968
Rt EBERRAE
M20184F1 A1H 2 &8 (2,416,528)
EREZRETE 111,100
M2018E12 8310 K2019E1 A1R 2 &84 (2,305,428)
EREZByE 50,460
MR2019F12 318 2 564 (2,254,968)

IRMEE

MR2019F12 A318 7 &5 &4

R2018F 128318 2 & &

M T -

The amount of concession rights represents the value in use of contractual
rights stated in the cooperation agreements that Shenzhen Huancai Puda
Technology Company Limited? (“Huancai Puda”) CRIIBRF L iERIBBR A F))
([EFEE]) entered into with several lottery issuing centres for providing
software system and technical services. At the end of each reporting period,
the concession rights are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment.

i English name is for identification purpose only.

B ERZ SEDERIIBREEEMBRBERAR ([RY
EiE ) BERERBTHOMEHE M R R RIM AR AT
AUMAEGERENZ AN ERER REHREDN
KB EERTVRKAR Rt B OB ER & -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

CONCESSION RIGHTS (Continued)

Note:

The carrying amount of concession rights is amortised on a straight-line
method over the period over three to eight years in accordance with the terms
of the cooperation agreements.

Impairment assessment of the concession rights have been performed by the
Group with reference to professional valuation performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer in prior years.

19 RBrRER (=)
GEE
BEHER 2 BEE DR IRA OB 2 BHAE BERS
EaiE R 5 -

BRERORETSCAARE2ZBYERGEME
BEFEETHERGHEMESL -

INVENTORIES 20 78
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Raw materials Rt - 742
Finished goods 2UpK - 368
- 1,110
Write-down of inventories IEXSE - (588)
- 522
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

20 INVENTORIES (Continued) 20 FE (#&)
Movements on the Group's write-down of inventories are as AEBTFERBEE T
follows:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FE T
Balance at 1 January M1A1E Z2 &% 588 -
Write-down of inventories for FRNTFE MR
the year (note 11) (P EET1) - 609
Write-off of inventories FEME (585) =
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREBgE
differences (3) (21)
Balance at 31 December MW12A318 2 & - 588
21 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND 21 EWRENEERES
RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES
(i) Quality assurance fund receivables (i) EREERFESR
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH& T
Gross amount: HEE
Balance at 1 January B1A18 2z &% 11,913 -
Fair value of newly written quality FEEERFECNAAEBE
assurance obligations 86,372 38,468
Contribution received from borrowers &z AHE (87,206) (26,105)
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREHETE
differences (246) (450)
Balance at 31 December M128318 2 &4 10,833 11,913
Impairment allowance WERE (6,123) (1,290)
Carrying amount REE 4,710 10,623
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

21 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND 21 ERRENEERES (£)
RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES (Continued)
(i) Quality assurance fund receivables (i) EWEERIES (£)
(Continued)
Movements on the Group's provision of quality AEBRUVWEERFTSHNBEBEED W
assurance fund receivables are as follows: ™
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$"000
F&T FHTT
Balance at 1 January B1B18 2z &% 1,290 -
Impairment for the year FARIE 4,946 1,339
Effect of foreign currency exchange EHEBETE
differences (113) (49)
Balance at 31 December R12A318 2 & & 6,123 1,290
(ii) Quality assurance fund payables (i) ENEERFES
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$"000
F&T FH T
Balance at 1 January ®1818 2 & 13,688 =
Fair value of newly written quality FEEERFEENAAEE
assurance obligations 86,372 38,468
Release of the margin fERRE® (7,266) (5,010)
Payouts during the year, net FANRTFHE (100,380) (19,252)
Provision for quality assurance HERBLEERE
fund loss 28,839 -
Effect of foreign currency fERERETE
exchange differences (428) (518)
Balance at 31 December M12A31H 2 & & 20,825 13,688
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

22 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

188

LIABILITIES

(a) Contract assets

22 EHNEEREGHNERE

(@) EHNEE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TATT

Contract assets BHEE 22,921 26,467
Impairment allowance BB (11,170) (2,730)
contract assets, net EREETHE 11,751 23,737

The Group receives payments from borrowers over
the term of the loan. Contract asset represents
the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for
services that the Group has provided. A substantial
majority of the Group’s contract assets as at the end
of reporting periods would be realised within the
next twelve months as the weighted average term of
the arrangements where the Group is not the loan
originator were less than twelve months. The Group
determined there is no significant financing component
for its arrangements where the Group is not the loan
originator.

AEBEERHARAWEIERANE
R AKEERDRE B #EREUABRE
AEEEERBOKE - R ANEE
WIFERBEREN TR INEFHH
RAI2ME A - AN B R S HE R
BREMEMNEERNARKI2EARE
B-ANEERA AAKELIFERE
MENZHMS LEBERBEKD
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

22 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(a) Contract assets (Continued)

(b)

Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of

contract assets are as follows:

22 AHNEERGHNER (&)

(@) EHNEE(E)

AEEARNEEREREBESNT:

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FET

Balance at 1 January MMA1B 2 &% 2,730 666

Impairment for the year FRRAE 8,655 2,142

Effect of foreign currency exchange EXREZFEFE

differences (215) (78)

Balance at 31 December R12A31H 2 &8 11,170 2,730
Contract liabilities (b) 6HEE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FET

Contract liabilities AHBE 126 143

The contract liabilities are mainly from sports training
business. The Group receives payments from students
in advance before commencement of sports training

courses.

EHNABIEREBAEIRRE A&
BERBESIMRREARAMNBRELE

e

R EEERERAT o 2019555

189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

22 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 22 GRNEEREGHNEE (&)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(b) contract liabilities (Continued) (b) &¥8E (&)
Revenue recognised in relation to contract HENEEHBYE BR K E
liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRIIREZE2019F12A31BILEFEN
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019 ERERN =P ELE S OB EMRBOK
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. Finld
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Revenue recognised that was REVFAEGHNEBEEHD
included in the contract liabilities B R =
balance at the beginning of the year
Provision of sports training services 24t 82 5 3 8 R 1% 143 197
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 ESRHEHMEWKWRKIE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FE T

Trade receivables B 5 IR 139 145
Deposits and other receivables e & H bW GRIE 1,581 4,957

Less: allowance for doubtful debts for W R RH M R U RIE R BR

deposits and other receivables (29) (29)

1,552 4,928

Prepayments A RIE 817 1,775
Less: impairment loss of prepayments B B IR R E 1R (7) (22)
810 1,753

Total trade and other receivables B 5 M H bW R IE R EE 2,501 6,826
Trade receivables represent income receivables from B RWHIERREYERAEIE - SRS

provision of management, marketing and operating services KR E 6 KB & E AR5 0 FE BGRIB YA o

for lottery system and lottery halls.
The credit terms granted to customers are varied and are BRYREFZEEHTREBEBE HERZ SR

generally the results of negotiation between individual REBZHEER
customer and the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23
(Continueq)

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the respective revenue recognition
dates:

BEZRHMEWRE(E)

AT TR E D E 5 UG IR D17 -

DiRg RS ERERES

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT T T

0 - 30 days 0%30H 44 67
31 - 60 days 31£260H 53 78
61— 90 days 61E90H 42 -
139 145

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHE T FET

Past due but not impaired B 8 R RE 139 145

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see
above for aged analysis) which are past due at the end of
the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised
an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances
nor does it have a legal right to offset against any amounts
owed by the Group to the counterparties.

EXHENBESRURRERBRRBEHRD
BRMARERAARAERRERBEOSE (R
BOM2R LX) RANEEERAEEKR
At B ERBEAD AR AR AT IR [E] o AN SR B 30 R A
ZERBERBEAEFMIEMEREER
Mo MEBEAAERBEERYFHOEMEEE

R B IRRER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

(Continued)

23 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23

Movements of the Group’s provision for impairment of trade

and other receivables are as follows:

(a) Deposits and other receivables

BEZRHMBWRE(E)

AEEE 5 REMEWRIAZ MERBED

LIRS

(a) BERHAMEWVKE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Balance at 1 January B1A1H 2z &8 29 -
Impairment loss recognised FAERIBERSE

during the year - 31

Effect of foreign currency EHEBETE
exchange differences = 2)
Balance at 31 December R12A318 2 & & 29 29
(b) Prepayments (b) ENRIE

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$"000

F&T FET

Balance at 1 January B1B18 2z &% 22 =

Amount written off as uncollectible M REEZRENSEE (15) =
Impairment loss recognised FARRIREESE

during the year = 23

Effect of foreign currency ERERETE
exchange differences - Q)
Balance at 31 December MW12A318 2 & 7 22
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

24 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 24 EW EABEEARDRE

COMPANIES
2019 2018
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Amounts due from related companies F& YR8 E N 75 E
- current — BN &R
- Amount due from a non-controlling —EWR—EHBRAR 2 — &Ik
shareholder of a subsidiary PERRAR R < FRIR 6,858 6,978
— Amount due from a fellow subsidiary —EIR—ERZMB AR ZHKIE 445 1,394
Amounts due to related companies FESBIE QA RKIE
- current — BN A
— Amount due to an intermediate —JER —FREER AR ZHRIE
holding company 1,514 598
— Amount due to a non-controlling —EN—EHB AR — &Ik
shareholder of a subsidiary AR AR R 2 FRIE 241 247

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable ZRIETEER  RENEAREREE-

on demand.

25 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

25 BARBEFABRSENEHEE

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FAT
Financial assets at FVPL EARBEFABZNEREE
- Wealth management products — IR B EE i - 22,058
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T FAT
Balance at 1 January R1A18 2 &% 22,058 -
Additions NE - 22,892
Redemptions fEM (21,950) =
Effect of foreign currency ERERETE
exchange differences (108) (834)
Balance at 31 December MW12A318 2 & - 22,058
The fair value is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy AAREEBRAAEBEELANE =R (W
(note 32(c)). 32(C) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

26 RESTRICTED CASH/CASH AND BANK 26 TRHEBE RERBTER
BALANCES
(a) Restricted cash (a) ZTRFIAL
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
Cash in quality assurance fund EERBEHNRS 1,545 6,833
Cash in quality assurance fund is cash managed by the EERFSNASCATEERENNTRK
Group for the default payouts. There is no other use of MEEMNE BRUZBRRNEE2REFS
these funds except for making payments to investors RENERRAEEEIER RN ZF
for default loans that are subject to quality assurance EolEAEMAR
fund.
(b) cash and bank balances (b) BERBITHER
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T T T
Cash at banks and in hand WRITRFEEAS 75,791 18,369

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates.

Included in cash at banks and in hand of the Group
is approximately HK$67,103,000 (2018: HK$4,996,000)
of bank balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB")
and placed with banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

R EEERERAT o 2019555

RITEHRUSHRTRENERIVEE
FIEF| B o

AEEBNRTEFERSY AL
67,103,000/ 7T (20184F : 4,996,000
T RRITRBENAARE (TARKE])
TEYFRAFEAET  ARERE
QEE)@L#%EW%%WM%: B S
ERREEEBGOIMINEEERTE
ZK%ITL@%/E&%&I\IE%%%MEG
BARBLBAEME-
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A31H L FE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 ESZRHEHMEMNFIE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables =Y ANE e 2,637 1,910
Other payables and accruals HEtEAZEREFER 5,963 6,709
Accrued salaries and other benefits in kind &5+ 5 Bl & B b B W12 7 800 1,451
Total trade and other payables B REMERNKIBRARE 9,400 10,070
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on RmEHER BIRERBEREERDH

invoice date at the end of the reporting period: FIBRER DT T -

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
0 - 30 days 0£30H 27 1,157
31 - 60 days 31E260H 35 315
61— 90 days 61290H 1,615 100
Over 90 days HE0H 960 338
2,637 1,910

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 CONVERTIBLE BONDS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

28 AR ES

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At 1 January R1A1H 13,768 49,516
Interest expense* BRI 1,518 1,846
Conversion during the year REZER - (37,594)
At 31 December 12 A831H 15,286 13,768
Portion classified as non-current DEARIERBHEH - (13,768)
Current portion mEE D 15,286 =
E Interest expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate of e BRI LI BB F R12.73% (20184 : 12.73% ) &t

12.73% (2018: 12.73%) to the liability component.

In August 2010, the Company issued approximately
664,580,000 (adjusted for the share consolidation as effected
on 27 February 2012) zero-coupon HK dollar denominated
convertible bonds to Mr. Leung Ngai Man (“Mr. Leung”), a
former substantial shareholder, former chairman and former
executive director of the Company. The convertible bonds
have a maturity period of 5 years from the issue date and
can be convertible into one ordinary share of the Company
at HK$0.005 each for every HK$1.20 convertible bonds at
the holder’s option (adjusted for the share consolidation as
effected on 27 February 2012). Conversion may occur at any
time between 27 August 2010 and 26 August 2015.

The convertible bonds contain two components: liability and
equity elements. The equity element on initial recognition
was presented in equity as part of the “convertible bonds
equity reserve”. The effective interest rate of the liability
component for the convertible bonds on initial recognition
was 17.35% per annum.

ANBEEMD-

M201068H  ARRIMAAF A EZERE
AMERRAMITESTRRIEE (TREE])
1T #)664,580,00010 (4L 1R201292A27H
EREROEMHMAR)BTTES AR
REH AIRREFBEITHHEHARR
F A HFBEAEERENH1.208 T RRE
HIEFNR0.005F TH BB LB ARNA—K
TR (AEF201262 A27 B £ BRI & 6
FraA%) - 38 AR R201098 278 2015
FEA26H MM M IFREEITH IR

AR E SR E AR - AERERIER -
YIRS s T B X N HIAE [ AT
B ] B — B0 - VSRR A R AR
BEHFABEBONERMESFE17.35%

MERBERERAT o 2019FFH 197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

28 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 28 ABERESR (£&)

The Company entered into a supplemental deed (the
“Supplemental Deed”) dated 24 August 2015 executed
between the Company and Mr. Leung, pursuant to which the
Company and Mr. Leung agreed to extend the maturity date
of the convertible bonds for 5 years from the date falling on
the fifth year to the date falling on the tenth year from the
date of issue of the convertible bonds. The Supplemental
Deed was approved by independent shareholders at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3
November 2015.

The convertible bonds contain two components upon the
extension: liability and equity elements. The equity element
on recognition was presented in equity as part of the
“convertible bonds equity reserve”. The effective interest
rate of the liability component for the convertible bonds on
recognition is 12.73% per annum.

In January 2016, the Company early redeemed 8,400,000
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
as effected on 27 February 2012) at a total consideration
of HK$10,080,000 from Mr. Leung, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds. The difference
between the redemption amount and the total carrying
amounts of liability component and equity component
amounting to approximately HK$389,000 has been credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and amounting to approximately
HK$258,000 has been debited to the accumulated losses,
respectively.

In April 2016, the Company early redeemed 12,500,000
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
as effected on 27 February 2012) at a total consideration
of HK$15,000,000 from Mr. Leung, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds. The difference
between the redemption amount and the total carrying
amounts of liability component and equity component
amounting to approximately HK$257,000 has been credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and amounting to approximately
HK$192,000 has been credited to the accumulated losses,
respectively.

AN A A2015F8 A24 8 B2 2 S £ 5T ST 78
2R (IBAEE]) Bt -ARARREE
REGITBRESNISHBE/RAaTBRRES
BTSRRI EEBERAFERTEE
H -/ RIEEB L IREMN2015F11A3A £
THARABRERFR RS Lt -

ABREEFNEHEAMBOAEAR: BER
IR E - ERREDRER NEEAHEF]
BEESEREE] O — 8B - R AR
BHFAEBONERNESFE12.73% °

72016F1 A - IRIB AT R IR E H B E R R 1E
- R A B[R % £ 7 7 B [018,400,00015 A]
PG E 5 (425201242 27 B A 3 i D
A HETFAE) 424K (8 A10,080,0007% It - fE
EleEABELHRERBHEREEENZ
B49389,0008 LBt AZABEREMEEA
I AR & #9258,0008 L5 BB 5 A RETE 18
q:: °

M201654 A - BB AT IR E FH 7 1§ R R A&
- ZARQ R A 2%k A4 R T8 [6112,500,00015 7]
AR E AR (72012462 A27 B £ IS
S PFRTER ) - 8K (8 &15,000,0007% 7T 1B
EleEEBESDRERBHEEEDENE
RE49257,0008 LE T AGA B REMEE
WA K K #192,0008 7T 5 BIE s+ A REHEE
q:u °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

28 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 28 ABRESR (&)

In June 2016, the Company early redeemed 9,170,000
convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
as effected on 27 February 2012) at a total consideration
of HK$11,004,000 from Mr. Leung, pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the convertible bonds. The difference
between the redemption amount and the total carrying
amounts of liability component and equity component
amounting to approximately HK$10,000 has been credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and amounting to approximately
HK$510,000 has been credited to the accumulated losses,
respectively.

In January 2018, Mr. Leung exercised the option to convert
the convertible bonds (adjusted for the share consolidation
at as effected on 27 February 2012) into 41,666,666 shares at
an exercise price of HK$1.2 per share. The carrying amounts
of liability component and equity component are reduced
by approximately HK$37,594,000 and HK$12,406,000,
respectively as a result of this exercise. No convertible bonds
were converted during the year ended 31 December 2017.

Imputed interest expenses of approximately HK$1,518,000
(2018: HK$1,846,000) has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in respect of the convertible bonds
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

At 31 December 2019, the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds amounted to approximately
HK$18,016,000 (2018: HK$18,016,000), which could be
convertible into 15,013,334 (2018: 15,013,334) ordinary
shares of the Company.

TERBERERAF o 2019FFH

F2016F6 A - IR IB AT R IR B H 8 E K R 1§
- AR B AR % E R T EE9,170,00013 7]
RS E 5 (4 R2012452 27 B £ %D
AOFFTHE) - AR (B A11,004,000/ 7T - fE
EeEAGESHRERBHEAEETENZ
410,000 LEF AGEABEREMEE
WA K K 49510,0008 L E 5T A Rt EEH -

MR2018F 1A - REAITFEERZRITEES
fR1.28 T T RARE S (ER201252H27
HAEMB RN E TR ) B A41,666,666
BRAR 1D - BN EZRIBITHE BEF D RERT
78 BRTE B 9 5l R 2 4937,594,000% 7T K&
12,406,000 T - # £2017F12A318 L F
B BEanRESEER-

B E2019F12A31BIEFE - FE@AATRE
BEHH T B 5 491,518,000/ 7T (20184
1,846,000/ L) ERER & 1Bz Rk Efth 2 I
ARTER -

R2019F 128318 A IR EHF M K EE
N4 48549 218,016,000 T (20184 ¢
18,016,000/ 7T ) * A] #& #2 515,013,334 8%
(20184 : 15,013,334/% ) AN A &) X 3@ A% -
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29 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

29

200

The following are the major deferred tax balances recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

ELEHBREE

NTAREMERBAEFERERNTIEZELTH
HEB R HE

Convertible

bonds

GE:Y. 3¢

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 January 2018 R2018F1A1H 3,052
Credit to profit or loss (note 9(a)) FFAEE (i) (304)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 M2018F 12 A31H K&2019F181H 2,748
Credit to profit or loss (note 9(a)) FFAEZE (M%) (259)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A431H 2,489

Under the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC,
withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect
of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onwards. At 31 December 2019 and 2018, no deferred tax
liabilities for withholding tax have been recognised as the
Group’'s PRC subsidiaries incurred accumulated losses for
the periods since 1 January 2008.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$13,228,000 (2018:
HK$15,950,000) arising from subsidiaries operating outside
Hong Kong which is available for setting off against future
taxable profit of that subsidiary is due to expire within one to
five years and estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$51,344,000 (2018: HK$51,140,000) available for offset
against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

REFBEBEMSHE - B2008F 18188
FEAh R T B A R BREUAY R AP R R RR BB
BN TE L - 120194 K& 2018F12A31H »
AR AEEN BN E QR E2008F1718
REHEAEEREEE QU ERENHHE
REEHIBEEE-

RESHMEAR AEEEREZHAETBIN
St R A E BB R B AT KRB ARIER
18 4913,228,000/% 7T (2018%F : 15,950,0007%
7C) AT B A% B B R B A0 R SRR SR T s
M R-—ZEAFRER MAKEEGEFR
&) [ % 18 5 18 4951,344,0007% 7T (20184 :
51,140,000/ 7T ) - A SH A] R A5 Y
R Mg A o B R BE TR AT R 2R 4 A R R - i
YERGTARDARBABRERELERRE
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 A&
Number of Share
shares capital
[;i&vig - Q=] &N
‘000 HK$'000
F i FHET
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, 2018F 1818 ~2018F 128318 »
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019, 2019118 &20194F12A318 -
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each & B A {E0.0057 7T /) & 33 A% 20,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRAE:
At 1 January 2018, ordinary shares of R2018F1H18 - BRAE
HK$0.005 each 0.0057% JT Ay I 8 A% 4,629,368 23,147
Exercise of convertible bonds TR ES 41,667 208
At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 and  72018%12H318 2019118 &
31 December 2019, ordinary shares of 201912 A318 + & M E0.005
HK$0.005 each BITH E B 4,671,035 23,355
Note: B 5
On 24 January 2018, the Company received a conversion notice from Mr. Leung M2018F 1248 AR BIEBREENERBAE  Hi
to exercise the conversion rights attached to the outstanding convertible TT1E 5 R AT 18 A 4 /50,000,0005% JT B AT # % 15 5 Pt i 49
bonds in the principal amount of HK$50,000,000. 41,666,666 shares, A © 41,666,6660% 1% 10 (FHER2018F1A24B AR
representing approximately 0.9% of the issued shares of the Company as at AIEBITRO0IVR BEEEEREBRAORARD R
24 January 2018 and approximately 0.89% of the enlarged issued shares of the TTRE 1) %70.89% ) B FA2018F 1 826 A LA BB F AL (H1.2
Company immediately after the conversion, were allotted and issued to Mr. BIREERBETTREE

Leung on 26 January 2018 at the conversion price of HK$1.2 per share.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are:

- to ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern;

- to provide an adequate return to shareholders; and

- to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost
of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividend paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders and issue new shares to
reduce its debt level.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
capital. Total borrowings are calculated as current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position and total capital is calculated as “total
equity”, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
follows:

EXREH
AREMERERABEMT

- BRASEEMSELE:

- RERESERZAEEER: &

- HERREBARBAREELRKAE-

RRFAABEEARE  NEE LS H
BRETERROKRS EBEEANTRR M#%
TTE AR B BEEBKF -

AEBERBEAABLLREFHER 2L
RREBEERBRUNEEARTE - MERA T
RRKAT BEAEREEMBERRES
TR RIFRDEENE MABERAIZ
(B tE-

EXEERLR

RBEMER EARBHLENT

2019 2018

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FET

Interest-bearing borrowings EEEE 15,286 13,768
Total equity e B 50,335 61,667
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 30% 22%
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32 £® I A
(a) categories of financial instruments (a) EWMIENESE

Financial assets THEE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T T

Financial asset at FVOCI BARBEFAEMZEABAL

cREE 360 350
Financial assets at FVPL BARBEFABENEREE = 22,058
Financial assets at amortised cost BEEKN AT ENSREE 102,791 73,007

Financial liabilities THEE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T T
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RS AT EN L RAE 51,058 24,683
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

204

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its
use of financial instruments in its ordinary course of
operations and in its investment activities. The financial
risks include market risk (including foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group’s headquarters, in close co-operation with the
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group's short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure to
financial markets. Long term financial investments are
managed to generate lasting returns with acceptable
risk levels.

It is not the Group’s policy to actively engage in
the trading of financial instruments for speculative
purposes. The finance department works under the
policies approved by the board of directors. It identifies
ways to access financial markets and monitors the
Group's financial risk exposures. Regular reports are
provided to the board of directors.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risks.

32 &I A (&)

(b) HBEBREERRERBER

AEEAREREZERRERNER
BEHph AR IAMEYHKE
e MBERBEM SRR (BHEINE
Rk MXEREEMERRR) &
R EkR#E SRR -

AEERMREETSETAE HHE
BYMBEER UHEREEEESER
TRMISNEARRERE ABEARSE
BEMETHRERE  AREE A A
XEORERKFET  BBIEFRAS R
BUEAREDR-

AEBZBETTREB2EIHMEE
MEMTARS MEHMEEESAME
MBR T HBREASRTIHNT
A VERASERHNTHERR B
AHREEHRAETSRR

AEBTBT AMESOREBAL S
SEERNEERRN XL ELS-
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 @I A (£&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BBEEBREEEEREE (&)

and policies (Continuedq)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk management

Transactional currency exposures arise from revenue
or cost of sales and services by operating units in
currencies other than the unit's functional currency.
Substantially all the Group’s revenue and cost of
sales and services are denominated in the functional
currency of the operating units making the revenue,
and substantially all the cost of sales and services
are denominated in the operating unit's functional
currency. Accordingly, the directors consider the Group
is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

In virtue of exposures on foreign currency risk being
minimal, the respective quantitative disclosures have
not been prepared.

5 /3 B

SERBER

RHUERRRTDELBNEEENMY
REEE NGB ENEEEM NS
I E KRG - NEB B K Z Bl
a3 M E MRIE AR IAE £ WA EE
BUMMEEEIIE BBAZHHEE
RIRERAAE EEMNINEERT
BE-RAt EERRAKETEEEE
RSN [ o 7% 62 [ 35 By I 48 HMNES )
B A AEEEEESERIE
R YRAFER  EEHERIE
R fez 1 H e o

EE 10 SN R B il 1 9T 2 48 - R R AR
AR EERKE-
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

206

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk. A reasonably possible change in interest rate
in the twelve months is assessed by the Group; which
could have immaterial change in the Group's profit
after tax and accumulated losses. Changes in interest
rates have no material impact on the Group’s other
components of equity. The Group adopts centralised
treasury policies in cash and financial management
and focuses on reducing the Group's overall interest
expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group's
sensitivity to the change in interest rate is relatively low.

Other price risk management

Price risk is the risk to the Group’s earnings and capital
due to changes in the prices of securities, including
debt securities and equities.

The Group did not actively trade in financial instruments
and in the opinion of the directors, the price risk related
to trading activities to which the Group was exposed
was not material. Accordingly, no quantitative market
risk disclosures for price risk have been made.

32 &I A (&)

(b) MBEABEEREREEK (£)

mEmE e ()

NEEBER

AEETEAEEANERR AEH
EffE+t—EARMNENEER R
B HHARKEORVE SN R RETE
BRI ERN BB TR R R H A
SEEMBERBOTSENENTLE -
AEBNE S LI HEE R R
R WERFRBEAEENEERNES
P

EERR AEEHNZEEHOHRE
JBIK

HiE®%E R EE

ERREREHNES (BREBESF R
i) BREHEHNAKERILE
AERK

AEBYAREGESSRTARESER
B ASREHENEER TS ERNE
RERR I NE AR F it - WRBLERER
BRIELEE ™SRRI E -
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 @I A (£&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BBEEBREBEEERBEK (&)

and policies (continued)

Credit risk management

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt and debt investment at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
cash deposits at banks. The Group expects that there is
no significant credit risk associated with cash deposits
at banks since they are substantially deposited at
state-owned banks and other medium or large-sized
listed banks. The management of the Group does not
expect that there will be any significant losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.

FERREE

2019124318 - BE F A ReLBIT
EAMEAEERIMBEEN&RSE
ERR  EEBREGRE BRI
MNERNEEREBREENREE-

SREEERR ~AEEEEEDZRIR
NEBEEHNERERE ETERE
o WRITEMEIEIERF  ARARAR
BREE Y DBRER 1IN AR
B 5 R 5 B R A A M B B 5 R WU IR I
EFSIE By A] e [0 258 - DATEAR B R BE
Yo 1= ) BURRRE RR R ST RO B 18 - Bt
ME ARBEERRAEENEER
BB KR D

AEBEGREERTREFRBBNE
ERR - AEERERITREFRE
BOEERRYITERN FERKE
BOERREARITREMPARE EH
RIT-AEEERERAZEHTF TN
TRERATEELETMNERNEE-
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The financial asset at FVOCI is considered to have low
credit risk, and the loss allowance recognised during
the year was therefore limited to 12 months expected
losses. The instruments are considered to be low credit
risk when they have a low risk of default and the issuer
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

The Group has assessed that the expected loss
rates for trade receivables and restricted cash were
immaterial. Thus no loss allowance for trade receivables
and restricted cash were recognised.

The Group has assessed the ECL rate of other
receivables and the loss allowance was recognised.

The Group has policies in place to monitor the credit
exposure of amount due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary and amount due from a
fellow subsidiary. The Group will assess the financial
capabilities of the above parties including its repayment
histories, and its abilities to obtain financial support
when necessary. Management also regularly reviews
the recoverability of these receivables and follow up the
disputes or amounts overdue, if any. Management is of
the opinion that the risk of default by the above parties
is low.

32 &I A (&)

(b) MBEABEEREREEK (£)

FERREE (/&)

BARBEFAEMEZERANEBHE
ERRSEEERR Hit RFEARHE
ARNBEBRBEEREM2EANESERE-
EEMTARKRENEORRERET
ABBRRNENNIHREHENERS
MEEER  RAEEERR-

AEBECDHEE S RUGRIERZR I
THEHBERRAY BN Fit - I
AL E B RUGRIE M X R B3R & MR B
BEE-

AEEDHAEMCERRENEREE
BREERYCERABREE-

AEBE D HERREZER—FEHEQ
Az — B IFERBR 2RI K e — ]
Rl &P B AR Z AN EERR - A&
BKE EAETNMBEEN BEE
BREERERTEREGIT BTN
BEN - B E TN T B B % F UK
TE # AT (3] 451 3 R 3 R TR AL SR B A R
H(mE) ERERRLARTHEY
Rk RIE -
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 @I A (£&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BBEEBREBEEERBEK (&)

and policies (continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)

The Group uses complex models and significant
assumptions about future economic conditions
and credit behavior to measure ECLS of contract
assets and financial guarantees to customers. The
maximum amount that the Group has guaranteed
under the respective contracts was approximately
HK$155,702,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$290,484,000).

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.

ECL measurement

HKFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment
based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as summarised below:

o A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired
on initial recognition is classified in “Stage 1" and
has its credit risk continuously monitored by the
Group.

. If a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR")
since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved to “Stage 2" but is not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired.

° If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the
financial instrument is then moved to “Stage 3".

FERREE (&)

AEEFEAEMERNREBRRRLE
RAREETBHNERABRRTEAS
HNEENTEHEEBERMNTE,ED
BB TS 2R - A20199 12 A31H » A&
ERESSOELENESERENAR
155,702,000 7T (20184F : 290,484,000
BT o

BHEBERXTIREBEREBRERSEH -
HEZFLEURREBEELBIEN
HAR A A RO ~ B AT RS 5= B 4
e R IR 2 FA T HAMR B0 8B AR RO B B
ZER-

FHEEEBRE

FRMBREERIFIFRBMIA B ¥ItA
BRAREELEEH/ER 2 [ =R
BB - gt

e VEHERBABLEEEREZS
BMIEDBEAIE1ER]  BAXAE
EREEEEEERR-

e MMBMNLBEBNEERREEMR
BEEN([EERKREZEE
my) - ZeEMIARNEBE %2
BB EXRSERBERER
BERE-

e MHMEMTABLEERE TR
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Credit risk management (Continued)
ECL measurement (Continued)

o Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL
measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime ECL that result from default events
possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in
Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on
ECL on a lifetime basis.

o A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with HKFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward-looking information.

o Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets are those financial assets that are credit-
impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always
measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

Please refer to note 4(c) “Measurement of the ECL
allowance” for details of factors implemented for the
ECL calculation.

32 &I A (&)

(b)

BHEABEEEEREE (£)

FERREE (/&)
BAHEEERAE (&)

e FRREBMIAZEHEEEE
THRREARK12ME A AR ge 3£ 2
BRNEHMER 2 FEYRZE
HEEERBNESZERTE-
FAEBRKEIE R 2 TR ZAH
EEBERRFERBHMEREER
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o REFEMBREEAFIRIE
BHEEEBRER LEEEA
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 ¢RI R (Z&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BBEEBREBEEERBEK (&)

and policies (Continuedq)

Credit risk management (Continued)

ECL measurement (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from quality assurance
fund receivables, quality assurance fund payables and
contract assets are disclosed below:

FERREE (&)

BAHMEEBEE (&)

BERAKEFEERNEERES &
NEERESLENEEEENEER
R - T E(LBUERRENT

As at 31 December 2019
A2019%12H31H

Gross
carrying Loss Carrying
amount allowance amount
BEREE EBERE BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T THET FHET
Financial guarantee PBEERED
contracts
- Quality assurance —-EREERES
fund receivables
Stage 1 F1PE ER 4,802 (569) 4,233
Stage 2 F2PEER 385 (66) 319
Stage 3 FIPEER 5,646 (5,488) 158
10,833 (6,123) 4,710
Contract assets EREE
Stage 1 %ﬂ?a B 9,774 (291) 9,483
Stage 2 F2PEER 2,478 (523) 1,955
Stage 3 FIM R 10,669 (10,356) 313
22,921 (11,170) 11,751
Financial guarantee HBEREH
contracts
- Quality assurance fund —-ENEERES
payables
Stage 1 F1PEER - (1,910) (1,910)
Stage 2 F2PEER - (4,911) (4,911)
Stage 3 FIPEER - (14,004) (14,004)
- (20,825) (20,825)
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continuedq)

credit risk management (Continued)

ECL measurement (Continued)

32 &I A (&)

(b) MBEABEEREREEK (£)

FERREE (/&)
BAHEEBENE (&)

As at 31 December 2018
72018F12A31H

Gross
carrying Loss Carrying
amount allowance amount
MERMEE E R IREE
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T T FHETT
Financial guarantee HBEEERED
contracts
- Quiality assurance fund —-REREERFES
receivables
Stage 1 F1PE EX 10,899 (276) 10,623
Stage 2 F2PEEX 571 (571) -
Stage 3 FIPEER 443 (443) -
11,913 (1,290) 10,623
Contract assets EREE
Stage 1 %10 ER 21,323 (190) 21,133
Stage 2 F2MEER 2,657 (325) 2,332
Stage 3 FIMEER 2,487 (2,215) 272
26,467 (2,730) 23,737
Financial guarantee HBEREH
contracts
— Quality assurance fund —ENEE2RES
payables
Stage 1 F1PEER = (8,934) (8,934)
Stage 2 FE2MK ER - (967) (967)
Stage 3 3P ER - (3,787) (3,787)
= (13,688) (13,688)
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continuedq)

Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework to
meet the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

32 @I A (£&)

(b) IBEAREEEREREE (£)

REELRBREE

EEeUnDEcRAREEARRKRE
T IERIABEBNRBDESRREIE
R UmEASENES FHRE
HESRRPHESEERE R

AEBEBB/FRENFE FEEE
BEARERRERE YBHISERE
ERBENIHERER BFHEER
BETRAR-

RBERER AEEERGHORUI
NHRAENERBEINHREROT

Total
on demand contractual Total
or less than 1t0 5 undiscounted carrying
1 year years  cash flows amounts
REXT EHRER
—f£R —Z21F HELRELE EHAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TR
At 31 December 2019 RW2019F12A31H
Non-derivative financial FTESREE
liabilities
Trade and other payables EHREMENFIE 9,400 - 9,400 9,400
Lease liabilities HEEE 8,729 18,428 27,157 24,617
Amount due to an intermediate JER — A R A R
holding company LA 1,514 - 1,514 1,514
Amount due to a non-controlling BN —EHBLRZ—%
shareholder of a subsidiary EERRE 2 FA 241 - 241 241
Convertible bonds #RESR 18,016 - 18,016 15,286
37,900 18,428 56,328 51,058
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continuedq)

32 &I A (&)

(b) MBEABEEREREEK (£)

Liquidity risk management (Continued) REELEBEE (&)
Total
On demand contractual Total
or less than 1t05  undiscounted carrying
1year years cash flows amounts
RERK BHRER
—FR —EhE ReRELH EHARE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT FEL AL
At 31 December 2018 2018128311
Non-derivative financial FTESREE
liabilities
Trade and other payables BN EMEMNRE 10,070 = 10,070 10,070
Amount dug to an intermediate JEfT — A R 2R A A
holding company LA 598 - 598 598
Amount due to a non-controlling ~ ER—EMBARZ —%
shareholder of a subsidiary JEE AR R 2 3R 247 - 247 247
Convertible bonds AARES - 18,016 18,016 13,768
10,915 18,016 28,931 24,683
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurements

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The following table presents the Group’'s assets/
liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31
December 2018 and 2019:

32 €T A (&)

N\,

AREEFE

(c)

BEEMBEZAAEE B THE
ENRAAEE

TR RK2018F £2019F12H31H
REBZRANEBHEFENEE, BE:

2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Financial asset at FVOCI BRARBEFAHEMEZEBARN
- Club debenture TREE-—GMES 360 350
Financial assets at FVPL RARBEFTABREY
— Wealth management products CREE-EUER - 22,058

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are
required)

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair values:

WHBREEMRELUR BB E
BEEHTHBEFYAAEE (HLXE
EH AR EERE)

BTRAFLAEN EERRREAH
BHRREIANEREEREBABENEK
EEEEQNAEERSE

2019 2018
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
EHE AAREE REE AREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET FAEL
Financial liabilities tRERE
Convertible bonds (Note) AARES (M) 15,286 16,574 13,768 14,824
Note: Bt 5 -
The fair value of the liability component of convertible bonds has been ARBREFEESOHALEBEIFERFE13.58
calculated by using effective interest rate of 13.58% (2018: 12.50%) per 2 (20185 : 12.50E )M ERF LKW 2 EEB X #
annum with reference to the Hong Kong Sovereign Curve and credit risk EHEREERRAEMmMTE -
margin.
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

216

(c) Fair value measurements (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are
required) (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019

Assets and liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

32 &I A (&)

(c)

AREEFE (£Z)
WHBEREMBEUNARBETEN S
BEEHTHECHAALEBE (BXE
EH AR EEKE) (&)
A2019F12A31MBN A REBEER
EFEAABENEERGRE:

At 31 December 2019

®2019%12A31H
Valuation techniques and
key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HEEMREEGAE £-& -t B8 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET THET TER
Financial assets
Club debenture Market comparison
approach
fES M EE - 360 - 360
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 2RI A (£&)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) (c) ARAEEFE(£)
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2019 MN2019F12A3MEN A REBEEEBR
(Continued) (%)
Assets and liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: BERBEAABENEERERE: (&)
(Continued)

At 31 December 2019

#2019512A831H8
Valuation techniques and
key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
REEMREERARE £-R £ F=R Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TER TER TER
Financial liabilities
tREE
Convertible bonds Generally accepted pricing
models based on
discounted cash flow
analysis
RRES ERUBRHERENTHAR
EEEA - - 16,574 16,574
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 M2018FE12A3MEHN A RAEBEER
Assets and liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: ERBAABENEEREE:

At 31 December 2018

2018F 128318
Valuation techniques and
key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EERNTREEHAHE E—R E-H I M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET AT
Financial assets
Club debenture Market comparison
approach
RS M5 LB A - 350 - 350
Wealth management Bank quoted expected return
products (Note)
BEER (M) RERTRENEHRE - - 22,058 22,058
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 32 & TH(#&)
(c) Fair value measurements (Continued) (c) 2ABEBEE (&)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 M2018F12A31MHANAAREBEER
(Continued) (%)

Note: B 5

The wealth management products are fair valued using discounted BHEMDEAURRREREEFEAAEBE K
cash flow approach. The main unobservable input used by the Group is SEFAMNEZETHEREAZBRANETHK
weighted average yield rate ranging from 1.82% to 4.16%. wmE - NTF1.82%%E4.16% ©

At 31 December 2018

2018512 A31H
Valuation techniques and
key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ERNREEHABE E—R E Sl E=& B
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET TET TET AT
Liabilities
=L
Convertible bonds Generally accepted pricing
models based on
discounted cash flow
analysis
kR ES ERERRERENTHLR
EER - - 14,824 14,824
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33 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities

METDHELENEGEHER

TREFIWAEEREZHELENEEL S
BRERAESEFERESEY -REETHELENE
BABRSREELTRKRREREBSNA

are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will SENGEERERERTHEARE TN
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash ReERENAEGE-
flows as cash flows from financing activities.
Convertible Lease
bonds liabilities Total
AR ES HESE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 R2018%F181H 49,516 - 49,516
Effective interest on convertible A E S E R FIE
bonds 1,846 - 1,846
Conversion during the year FAEIR (37,594) - (37,594)
At 31 December 2018 R2018%F12A31H 13,768 - 13,768
At 1 January 2019, 201941818
(Original stated) (R£3%) 13,768 - 13,768
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 BT 78 B 75 3R & A2 A
F16RH B - 29,370 29,370
At 1 January 2019 (Restated) 2019F1 1R (K &EF) 13,768 29,370 43,138
Effective interest on convertible A ES 2 BREFIE
bonds 1,518 - 1,518
New leases FHE - 3,780 3,780
Termination of leases RIEMEE = (1,960) (1,960)
Interest on lease liabilities HERBBZHNE - 1,373 1,373
Cash flows ReME
— Capital element of lease —-BENHEEREZ
rentals paid BERE D - (6,055) (6,055)
- Interest element of lease —-BEfNEERE 2
rentals paid FEE 5 - (1,373) (1,373)
Effect of foreign currency ERERgE
exchange differences - (518) (518)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A831H 15,286 24,617 39,903
FRBBERERAT o 20195 FR 219
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 3 FEHBERH

In 2018, the Company has established a subsidiary, Wuhan 20185 ARRIE—BIE=7 F#&Tx
Wuhao Property Management Company Limited* (“Wuhan £ (T8%E]) K7 —HERBARRZER
Wuhao"), with an independent third party, Mr. Liu Jiping (“Mr. EMEEBEERETLAR ([EEERE]) - B
Liu"). Part of unpaid capital of approximately HK$5,358,000 20194 &20184FE12 A31H » B £ M 2 15 &k
(2018: HK$5,478,000) from Mr. Liu was included in amount 20 B% 72X 495,358,0007% 7T (20184F : 5,478,000
due from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary as at BIL)BTARK —FBWNEB AR 2 —RIEE
31 December 2019 and 2018. A& A% 3R 2 5RIE -

# English name is for identification purpose only

OPERATING LEASES 35 K&EHE

(a) Operating lease arrangements (a) KEHELH

At the end of the reporting periods, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the future minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as

REBEHER AKECRBEFERT A
# BRI RGH G EHE TR RRIE
EWHE AW T

follows:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T FET
Within one year R—FR 2,800 6,221
In the second to fifth years inclusive —ZRF (BIEEERE) 80 192
2,880 6,413

The Group rents out its leased properties in the PRC
under operating leases. Operating lease income
represents rentals receivable for apartments managed
by the Group. Leases are negotiated for term ranging
primarily from 1 to 3 years with monthly fixed rental.

AEBERELEHSEHEEATENE
EMFE-REBERABAREEMERE
MABzRKEE BETRATEA
EHE ETPHREIBENF—E=F-
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35 OPERATING LEASES (Continued) 5 KEHE (£)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHERIE

At the end of the reporting periods, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due

RBEHER AEEBRATHHEE
HM A HEEERENRRREEE
AT DT

as follows:
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
within one year R—FR 65 9,394
In the second to fifth years inclusive ~—ZRHFE (BIEERME) - 21,430
Over five years AFMNE - 1,064
65 31,888

Operating leases as defined under HKAS 17, related to
rented premises and equipment with lease term of 1
year (2018: 1 to 11 years), with no option to renew the
lease terms at the expiry date.

From 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right-
of-use assets for these leases, except for short-term
and low-value leases.

LEHE (T RE B ERE17
BR)IEFAH A1F (2018F 12115 ) W)
THEMENRE FNHRBTAEL-

BH2019F1A1B R AREBEBRZSE
HENEREEE P REEERR
BN
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 BEFRS
(@) Compensation of key management personnel (@ FEBEBEAEFHN
The remuneration of directors and other members of FRAESRTIEEEEEMKNENIE
key management during the year was as follows: (U
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Short-term benefits 2 HtE A 1,308 1,170
Post-employment benefits LIt AEER 36 36
1,344 1,206
(b) The balances with related parties are disclosed in note (b) ERBAEMAEBRRMT 24P HEE -
24.
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37 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 37 BREHWEREBE

Establishment of new subsidiary

On 22 November 2019, Zhong Tuo Limited (“Zhong Tuo”)
(@ wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into
an Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Mr. Ye Cunshi (“Mr.
Ye"), Ningbo Yunni Enterprise Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (“Ningbo Yunni”) (a limited partnership
controlled by Mr. Ye) and Ningbo Yun Ma Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Yun Ma
Partnership”) (a limited partnership controlled by core
employees), pursuant to which each of the parties agreed
to jointly establish a new subsidiary to explore the business
development, cooperation and investment opportunities in
the area of smart retail business. Upon completion, the new
subsidiary will be owned by Zhong Tuo, Ningbo Yunni and Yun
Ma Partnership as to 51.0%, 14.7% and 34.3%, respectively.

Pursuant to the “"Agreement”, Zhong Tuo has also
conditionally agreed to procure the Company to issue
700,655,257 warrants to Yun Ma Limited (@ company wholly
owned by core employees) at the issue price of HK$0.001
per warrant as performance incentive. Each warrant carries
the right to subscribe at any time during the subscription
period for one warrant share at the subscription price of
HK$0.054 (subject to adjustment) per warrant share. The
warrant shares to be allotted and issued upon exercise of
the subscription rights attaching to the warrants will be
allotted and issued under the specific mandate. Details of
the arrangement are disclosed in an announcement of the
Company dated 22 November 2019.

On 23 January 2020, Zhong Tuo and Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK)
Limited (“Zhong Tuo Holdings") (a wholly owned subsidiary of
Zhong Tuo) further entered into an supplemental agreement
(the “Supplemental Agreement”) with Ningbo Yunni and Yun
Ma Partnership, pursuant to which all rights and obligations
of Zzhong Tuo under the Supplemental Agreement would
be transferred to Zhong Tuo Holdings. The subsidiary was
incorporated on 27 February 2020. After the exercise of the
subscription rights attaching to the warrants, the warrant
shares will be allotted and issued under the specific
mandate. For details, please refer to the announcements
and circular of the Company dated 22, 27 November and 13
December 2019, respectively.

FX M2t A B

R2019F11A228 - A QAR 2EHMB RAIR
RERAR (R HEEFH £ ([EX
£]) BEREECEERABLE(BERE
%) (BEEE]) (—HAaErEEtzE
RABLE) EFZBLETEARLE
(ERER) ([EHE%LE]) (—HHEH
BETEHICEREGBEE)FI L —HiRE
(IZwmeEl) B ST REBERXRKL
—EFMNBRARIAREZE BT EEB R
XBBRE GERIRERSE - TXRE  ZHH
BRABHEZRE BEREEREHEARLE
D RIHEBS1.0% 14.7%%34.3% °

BIE [ZBE] BRTEERERERERR
ARBETESHRREZF0NBTAEERE
RAR (—RABRETIZ2EREZ AR %
17700,655 2571 RIREFER KR ZE) - T
NRREFMERREBRAANERLZRBES
f% 3R A% 4 & AR 190.0547%8 7T (] T H&) BB
— IR RBARAE B AR 1D 2 HE T o R IR FF P M A5
CRBREEBITERSE TR REITZRRE
BERAD - SRR ERE RET - ARAL
POFHBERAAR B A2019F11A228 &

N

MR2020F1A238 B RBHE2ENE R
F)Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK) Limited ([Zzhong
Tuo Holdings )it — P HBERFETFREHFA
BoEITUMAHE ((ZERBE]) &
I BERZERBEE TS HEN KRR
%R F Zhong Tuo Holdings < ¥Hi B A A E
7202092 A27 A s A 37 - 58 B 4 75 AT BT 7
ZRBREETER RREZRMDGBIER
PIRERERET -FEEL2HAQFAH
2 R A2019F 11 A22H 2780 128138/
PNERBE-
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

38 XREMNEEMBERAAFE

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31 R2019F 12831 AR EMEEM B A A

December 2019 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

BT

Particulars of issued and fully ~ Proportion of ownership

registration/operations paid share capital/registered interest held by
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity capital the Company Principal activities
FMRY/ M/ BEARBRRE/ RRAKE
WEARAR ReEnBREEBL TREAFE FEREREDN TEER
Directly Indirectly
H# Gk
E-silkroad.net Corporation BV limited liability 1 ordinary share of 1 United 100% - Investment holding
company States dollar (“USS")
RERTES EREAL BREREE1ER([E1T]) RERMR
a HEBR
Easywin International Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
IEREIRERBRAR RERNES EREMR S0000REREMEIET RERMR
a HEBR
Done Best Global Investments Limited BVI, limited liability 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
FERRREARAR RERNES EREMAR S0000REREMEIET RERMR
a HEBR
Ocean Keen Investment Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company
ERREERBRAR RERNES EREMAR S0000REREMEIET RERMR
a HEBR
Pearl Sharp Limited BVI, limited liability 50,000 ordinary share of US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
company
EXBRAT RERNES EREMAR S0000REREMEIET RERMR
a HEBR
Glory Top Management Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
company
ARERBRAT i EREELA ETHERR RERMR
Surplus Trade Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
company
REERAT i ERELELA TETHERR RERMR
Hui So Hung Table Tennis Hong Kong, limited liability  Ordinary shares HK$5,000,000 - 60%  Provision of sports training services
Sports Centre Limited company
HRIEERRERLERAA B EREELA 5,000,0007% 7z 0 & @ R RERBIRES
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 XAFRMNEEMBARFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (#%&)
(Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued and fully ~ Proportion of ownership
registration/operations  paid share capital/registered interest held by
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity capital the Company Principal activities
HRAYL/ ER/ BRIRBRRE/ NG =L
WEARER BEHEREE DL TREAFE FEREREAL TEER
Directly Indirectly
H# B#E
Glory Ray Inc. Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
company
KBEEFRAR B ERELLA TRk REER
Shine Win Inc. Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
company
HERZBERAT B ERELLA BTHERR REER
Greatest Profit Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Ordinary shares HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
company
ERREBRAR i ERELLA BTHERR REER
ARG EREERAR PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  HK$5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of technical services on
(Shenzhen Gaorong Caizhi Technology enterprise (2018: HK$5,000,000) the establishment of lottery sales
Company Limited) points
HEMEBELE 5,000,0007% 7 RESUVZHERNHIMRE
(20184 :5,000,000% T )
mMEAEEREERAR PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  RMB16,064,382 - 100%  Investment holding
(Hangzhou Safen Information Technology enterprise (2018: RMB16,064,882)
Company Limited?)
HEMEBELE AE16,064,8827C REER
(20185 : AR 16,064,8827T)
FRR L EREARAF PRC, sino-foreign equity ~ RMB41,867,590 - 51%  Development of computer software,

(Shenzhen Huancai Puda Technology
Company Limited?)

enterprise

HE PRELE

(2018: RMB41,867,590)

AR 418675907
(2018% : ARH41,867,5907C)

TERBERERAF o 2019FFH

hardware and application

system and provision of relevant

technical consultancy service
RETEREN B RERZGN

RIBRIEBHRITEARS
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

38 XRAMNEEMBERAAFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continuedq)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued and fully ~ Proportion of ownership
registration/operations  paid share capital/registered interest held by
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity capital the Company Principal activities
FMRL/ R/ BRIRBRRE/ NG =L
WEARER RenBRERBL TREAFE FERRREAL TEER
Directly Indirectly
H# B
mMARE SR EERAE PRC, wholly-foreign-owned  HK$15,000,000 - 100%  Provision of credit referral and
(Hangzhou Hongmai Information Technology  enterprise (2018: HK$15,000,000) services including credit
Limited?) facilitation services, post-
origination services and financial
guarantee services
L MEBELE 15,000,000 7T REGENARES 2REERA
(2018 : 15,000,000 L) R BB RH%RABERRS
MMBEEEEEERAA ([MMMEL) * PR, limited liability RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of asset management,
(Hangzhou Weizi Assets Management company (2018: RMB10,000,000) development and provision of
Limited?) ("Hangzhou Weizi") consultation on result transfer on
network technology, computer
software and hardware and
computer network engineering
B BRER AK#10,000,0007 REBEEBNRE REBER
(20184 : A& 7#%10,000,0007T) i ERTAREARERBRT
BRRBRREZN
REMENEERERAAAA PRC, limited liability RMB7,200,000 - 55%  Apartment leasing
(Wuhan Wuhao Property Management company (2018: RMB7,200,000)
Company Limited?)
HE EREAAR AR 7,200,000 AERE
(2018% - AR 7,200,0007C)
RENGREBERMERAR PRC, limited liability RMB1,000,000 - 55%  Apartment leasing

(ThisARE]) *
(Wuhan Yuechang Feichi Network
Technology Company Limited)

company

(2018: RMB1,000,000)

("Yuechang Feichi")
HE EREAAR AR 1,000,007
(2018% - AR #1,000,0007C)
u English name for identification purpose only.
* The equity interests of Hangzhou Weizi and Yuechang Feichi are held by

individual nominees on behalf of the Group.
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

YR B R &R i RHE B R A & (Shenzhen Maikang Wearable
Devices Technology Limited) is dissolved by deregistration on
29 November 2019.

(a) Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned

38 XREMNEEMBAAFE

(%)

ERFBINARAMBAT  HEBRBUA
REREREERREALEONBEAT -
EFERA HIRLNBANESHARE

Rtk -

IR R ZF R R ER AR A RR2019F 1

H29R BBrEHREA -

(@) BEEARFERERZNFZER

BXANFE

TR AEEEERIERESHIF

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- FEMB RTINS :
controlling interests:
Proportion of
Place of incorporation/ ownership interests
establishment held by the Loss allocated to Accumulated
and principal non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business interests interests interests
A&, FERERF PEREFER
MEARERE BRUBHRETELEHY HEEESEIL BENER RRFERES
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TER AT TER AT
Huancai Puda PRC 49% 49% (11) (220) (2,379) (2,407)
RRELE i
Wuhan Wuhao PRC 45% 45% (2,267) (2,940) 877 3,376
HEME i
Individually immaterial
subsidiary with
non-controlling interest 621 1,892
BB IFFERERRE A
FERMEAA
(881) 2,861
FRBBERERAT o 20195 FR 227
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 XATMEEMMEB ATFERE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (4&)
(Continueq)
(a) Details of non-wholly owned (a) BEERFERESZNFEZEMR
subsidiaries that have material non- BATWEE (£Z)

controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the BRAEEBEREEREZNHBEA
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling AN BEERBIZEH TN T o« AT B 75
interests is set out below. The summarised financial BRI 2 5 5 B R 4 85 AT A9 BUER

information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations:

Huancai Puda REZE
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current assets MENEE 411 369
Non-current assets ERBEE 103 136
Current liabilities mEEaE (4,405) (4,453)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE = =
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial

BRRIMNEE (&

38 ?E;&)ﬁ MEBMBARFE

(@) BEREERFERESZNEZER

BERASEAERIFERE SN B
REMHBEEMNRERIN AT - AT
5 & R 2 5 5% B ) S 35 A A BORR -

information below represents amounts before (%)
intragroup eliminations: (Continued)
Huancai Puda (Continued) REZE (&)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
HZE2019F HE20184F
12831H 12H31H
IEFEE TFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Revenue g 107 193
Other income and (losses), net HEa AR (Ei8) - F58 - (38)
Expenses 53 (130) (604)
Loss for the year KFEEFHE (23) (449)
FERBEERERQE o 2019FFR 229
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 XATMEEMMEB ATFERE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (4&)

(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned (a) BEERFERESZNFEZEMR
subsidiaries that have material non- BATWEE (£Z)

controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the FRAANEEBEERFIERERHOMN B
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling REMBMBEERBEEEHTINT o LATE
interests is set out below. The summarised financial HE RS 55 £ B Y AT A BUE
information below represents amounts before (%)

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

Huancai Puda (Continued) REZE (&)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
HZE2019F HE20184F
12H31H 12A31H
IEEE LEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Loss attributable to owners of KNRIEE AELEE
the Company (12) (229)
Loss attributable to the JEE R E S FEL B
non-controlling interests (11) (220)
Loss for the year KEEFEEE (23) (449)
Other comprehensive income for AEEHMEEKE
the year 80 171

Total comprehensive income/(expense) AR wl# A AER2E

attributable to owners of the Uezs,/ (B ) 8

Company 29 (142)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FE1ZAR 25 (R 2 E

attributable to the non-controlling ek, (FX)#E

interests 28 (136)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) AEE 2w, (FI) 4%

for the year 57 (278)
Dividends paid to non-controlling TR T IEERERARE
interests = =
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 XATMNEEMBATER
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continued)
(a) Details of non-wholly owned (a) BEERFEREZNIEZEM
subsidiaries that have material non- BATWEE (£&)

controlling interests (Continued)

summarised financial information in respect of the FEHEAEBBEERNEEREZNWES
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling REIMBMBERBEHI AT o LA T
interests is set out below. The summarised financial BERBEEEERYHATNEE:
information below represents amounts before (%)

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

Huancai Puda (Continued) REZE (&)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
HZE2019F HE20184F
12H31H 12A31H
IEFEE TFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from gEERHRERA ORt) FHE
operating activities 54 (33)
Net cash inflow from HEETHRSRAFE
investing activities - 6
Net cash inflow from RMEEHHRESRAFHE

financing activities - -

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and Re MRS FEEM OCRd)
cash equivalents F R 54 (27)
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 XATMEEMMEB ATFERE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (4&)
(Continueq)
(a) Details of non-wholly owned (a) BEERFERESZNFEZEMR
subsidiaries that have material non- BATWEE (£Z)

controlling interests (Continued)

summarised financial information in respect of the FRAANEEBEERFIERERHOMN B
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling REMBMBEERBEEEHTINT o LATE
interests is set out below. The summarised financial HE RS 55 £ B Y AT A BUE
information below represents amounts before (%)

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

Wuhan Wuhao EEA
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE& T FATT
Current assets MEEE 6,874 8,094
Non-current assets FERBEE 25,685 9,961
Current liabilities mEBAG (15,607) (10,547)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (14,997) S
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 XATMNEEMBATER
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continueq)
(a) Details of non-wholly owned (a) BEERFEREZNIEZEM
subsidiaries that have material non- BATWEE (£&)

controlling interests (Continued)

Ssummarised financial information in respect of the FEHEAEBBEERNEEREZNWES
Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling REIMBMBERBEHI AT o LA T
interests is set out below. The summarised financial BERBEEEERYHATNEE:
information below represents amounts before (%)

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

Wuhan Wuhao (Continued) EEEE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
HZE2019F HE20184F
12831H 12H31H
IEFE TFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue & 9,596 4,446
Other income and (losses), net B AR (Ei8) - F58 (437) (255)
Expenses 53 (14,197) (10,725)
Loss for the year KFEEFHE (5,038) (6,534)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fon O Il 75 k2% Bid 5t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z=2019F 128318 ILEE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(a) Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial

38 ﬁ%ﬂﬂ@i%ﬁ?%@ﬂﬁ%

(@) BEERFERERNIFEZER
BRARAWEE (&)

ERASEAEANFERER KB
RAWHBERBEEHINAT « AT B
5B KB 2 15 5 18 ) 3 55 B A0 2R

information below represents amounts before (%)
intragroup eliminations: (Continued)
Wuhan Wuhao (Continued) BB ()
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
HZE20198 HZE20187F
12A31H 12H31H
LtEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T FAT
Loss attributable to owners of KRBHEE AELEBE
the Company (2,771) (3,594)
Loss attributable to the non-controlling 3E$22 A% # 25 FE 45 B 48
interests (2,267) (2,940)
Loss for the year KEFFHIE (5,038) (6,534)
Other comprehensive expense RNEEEMEEMAEZ
for the year (17) (746)
Total comprehensive expense ARNREEARBMEERS A
attributable to owners of
the Company (2,781) (4,004)
Total comprehensive expense R ERELE AR A
attributable to the non-controlling
interests (2,274) (3,276)
Total comprehensive expense AFEEEMA B
for the year (5,055) (7,280)

Dividends paid to non-controlling TR T IEEREZARE

interests
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 38 XATMNEEMBATER
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (%)
(Continueq)
(a) Details of non-wholly owned (a) BEERFEREZNIEZEM
subsidiaries that have material non- BATWEE (£&)

controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the FEHEAEBBEERNEEREZNWES
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling REIMBMBERBEHI AT o LA T
interests is set out below. The summarised financial BERBEEEERYHATNEE:
information below represents amounts before (%)

intragroup eliminations: (Continued)

Wuhan Wuhao (Continued) EEEE(E)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
HZE2019F HE20184F
12H31H 12H31H8
IEFE TFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from gEFERHRERA (b)) FHE
operating activities 6,336 (2,179)
Net cash outflow from HEEERS AL FE
investing activities (26) (11,481)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow MEEHES (RL) RAFE
from financing activities (6,559) 14,529

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BehREFEORD)
cash equivalents AN FERR (249) 869
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continueq)

(b) Financial information of subsidiary in
which the equity interest is held by
individual nominee on behalf of the

group

The summarised financial information below represents

38ﬁ%ﬂ%i§%%ﬁﬂﬁ%

(b) REAFARBEARKREIEERF
BHHE QRN EER

VAT B 76 & R 22 5 S (B ) 451 3 AT e 25

amounts before intragroup eliminations: B
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T FHE T
Revenue Wz 6,035 2,291
Loss for the year KEEZEE (283) (723)
Net assets BEFE 12,997 13,681
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F12A8318 It FE

39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 39 ARAFMNHERRKREREE
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2019 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFAETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- BB K& FE 25 60
Investments in subsidiaries RBRARIZIRE - =
25 60
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables E b pE W 5008 350 298
Bank balances IRITH R 7.583 14,107
7,933 14,405
current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H fth JE A FRIB 1,617 1,150
Receipt in advance FE W FRIA 701 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries JFE AT BT B A R ENIE 46,558 47,640
Amount due to an intermediate e — R R A R 2 508
holding company 1,514 598
Convertible bonds Al AR E 15,286 =
65,676 49,388
Net current liabilities REBBEEFHE (57,743) (34,983)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBEE (57,718) (34,923)
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Convertible bonds Al E 5 - 13,768
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEAE 2,489 2,748
2,489 16,516
Net liabilities EEFHE (60,207) (51,439)
Capital and reserves EXRFiE
Share capital &N 23,355 23,355
Reserves {1 (83,562) (74,794)
Total deficit s At 4B =R (60,207) (51,439)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl % ¥R 2% B o1

39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

238

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # E20194F128318 It FE

39 AAFMMBRRAKRKEE

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (#%&)
(Continuedq)
Movement in the Company’s reserves EARINREERE
Share Capital Convertible
premium  redemption bonds Accumulated
account reserve equity reserve losses Total
ARRES
ROGEEE REABEGEE BiEfE | @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TAR TERT THET TER
(Note (i) (Note (if))
(FIEE(G)) (FIEE()
Balance at 1 January 2018 R2018F 1818 2 &4 3,393,805 1 16,341 (3,426,705) (16,558)
Loss for the year AEEER - - - (95,622) (95,622)
Total comprehensive expense AEEXERYBE

for the year - - - (95,622) (95,622)
Exercise of convertible bonds TEAARES 49,792 - (12,406) - 37,386
Balance at 31 December 2018 and 2018 12A318 &

1 January 2019 20191 1R 2 &8 3,443,597 1 3,935 (3,522,327) (74,794)
Loss for the year AEEHE - - - (8,768) (8,768)
Total comprehensive expense AEEXERYAE

for the year - - - (8,768) (8,768)
Balance at 31 December 2019 M2019512A318 2 & &4 3,443,597 1 3,935 (3,531,095) (83,562)
Notes: B o
(i) The share premium account of the Company arises on shares issued (i) RA R R B EERN RS ERITIROREL - RIR

at a premium. In accordance with the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share premium
account may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

(i) The capital redemption reserve of the Company represents the nominal
value of the share capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

FHEHERARIAFE2E (1961F B3EEN - 4R E
RAERT) R B BRI DR A D A RE - R
ZHEZRERSBEE  AARERHNAEE
R AR ERERS - R0 E BRI Al AR ATAR 5

KB

NG NHCE LR RN EI Ve S )i

KREFZFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fon o Wl 5 ¥R 2% B ot

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z=2019F12A831H L FE

40 COMPARATIVE FIGURES 40 LbEBEHF
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to ETHRETEOETDHEUTEARFEE
conform with the current year’s presentation. In the opinion 25| - ARREZFRE BHEZVEHE LT
of the directors of the Company, the presentation would RERAE BT ERIR -

better reflect the financial performance of the Group.

REEBERERAT o 2019FFR 239



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
h = W Fs & it 2

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL FEL FEL TR
(Restated)
(mE75)
Results £
Revenue W= 964 2,011 19,361 49,966 71,096
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (BB)/&F (60,326) (43,144) (71,371) 12,937 (9,149)
Continuing operations FEICEER 15,906 (7,380)
Discontinued operation BREEEER (2,969) (1,769)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: THALES (BEB),/
S
Owners of the Company KATHEARA (54,679) (37,043) (48,293) 16,197 (5,680)
Non-controlling interests iR (5,647) (6,101) (23,078) (3,260) (3,469)
(60,326) (43,144) (71,371) 12,937 (9,149)
At 31 December
®12H31A8
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FTET FEL THET
Assets and liabilities EERER
Total assets BEE 173,145 92,088 70,500 107,654 131,844
Total liabilities BaE (95,588) (71,417) (63,124) (45,987) (81,509)
77,557 20,671 7,376 61,667 50,335
Equity attributable to owners of AR EEE A
the Company E(E i = 48,244 (252) 7,658 58,806 51,216
Non-controlling interests iR 29,313 20,923 (282) 2,861 (881)
77,557 20,671 7,376 61,667 50,335
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